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of 1934
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ACT of 1934
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Exchange Act. (Check one):
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(Do not check if a smaller reporting compa

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrantdbedl company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the BExge Act). YesO No
X
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Forward-looking statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains or incaogtes forward-looking statements within the mearihgection 27A of the
Securities Act of 1933 and section 21E of the SéearExchange Act of 1934. These forward-lookitefements are based on current
expectations, estimates, forecasts and projectibast the industry and markets in which we opesmattmanagement’s beliefs and
assumptions. In addition, other written or oratestaents that constitute forward-looking statememdy be made by us or on our behalf.
Words such as “expect,” “anticipate,” “intend,” gul,” “believe,” “could,” “estimate,” “may,” “target “project,” or variations of such words
and similar expressions are intended to identithdorward-looking statements. These statementa@rguarantees of future performance
and involve certain risks, uncertainties and assiomg that are difficult to predict. We have idéeti certain risk factors included in Item 1A
of this Annual Report on Form 10-K that we beli@eglld cause our actual results to differ materifithyn the forward-looking statements we
make. We do not intend to update publicly any fooMaoking statements, whether as a result of ndarination, future events or otherwise.

ITEM 1. Business

Pegasystems Inc. was incorporated in Massachuisdi®83. Our stock is traded on the NASDAQ GlobeleSt Market under the
symbol PEGA. Our Website address is www.pega.comavé not including the information contained on\ebsite as part of, or
incorporating it by reference into, this Annual Repon Form 10K. Unless the context otherwise requires, refergimtehis Annual Report ¢
Form 10-K to “the Company,” “we,” “us” or “our” ref to Pegasystems Inc. and its subsidiaries.

Our business

We develop, market, and license software. We alsuige implementation, consulting, training, andheical support services to h
our customers maximize the business value theyrofstan the use of our software.

Our PegaRULES Process Commar®ler (“PRPC”) softwarédes a unified platform that includes all theessary elements and
technologies to build enterprise applications freation of the time it would take using the disitgd architectures offered by our competit
This allows organizations to build, deploy, andra@enterprise applications easily and quicklgpldb eliminates the time and expense
required to create lengthy policy manuals and syspecifications by unifying business rules witlsiness processes in the software and
automating the creation of system documentatiom.90ftware delivers multi-channel, cross silo calitéds that bridge front and back-office,
and is often used to rejuvenate legacy technol@gy.customers use our software to improve theitorner service and the customer
experience, generate new business, and enhanaegctivityy and profitability.

Our unified technology also allows customers tetage existing technology investments and creat®adeploy their PRPC
applications on premise or through an internet-bateud computing model, using our Pega Cloud serufferings.

PRPC is complemented by software solutions thatefier to as frameworks. These frameworks providegse or industry-specific
functionality that allows our customers to quickiyplement and easily customize our software totheiir unique requirement.

The integrated capabilities of PRPC and our frantksvmake us the leader in the Business Processdé¢arent (“BPM”) software
market as well as a leader in Customer Relationglsipagement (“CRM”), Dynamic Case Management, aadiflon Management software
markets. We focus our sales efforts on target atspwhich are large companies or divisions wittmpanies, and typically leaders in their
industry. Our
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strategy is to sell initial licenses that are famlisn a specific purpose or area of operationserahan selling large enterprise licenses. A
primary objective of this strategy is to have oustomers quickly realize business value from oftisre. Once a customer has realized this
initial value, we work with that customer to idéntopportunities for follow-on sales. The salesqass for followen sales is often shorter a
result of our established relationship with thetooser. We invest resources in professional serymestomer support, and customer and
partner enablement to help our customers achieseess.

Our partners

We maintain alliances with global systems integiatmd technology consulting firms that also prewidnsulting services to our
customers. Strategic partnerships with technolamsalting firms and systems integrators are impoitia our sales efforts because they
influence buying decisions, help us to identifyesabpportunities, and complement our software thigir domain expertise and services
capabilities. These partners may deliver stratbgginess planning, consulting, project managenagwtjmplementation services to our
customers. Currently, our partners include welpeeted, major firms such as Accenture Ltd., Capge8A, Cognizant Technology Solutic
Inc., Infosys Technologies Limited, Mahindra Satydrata Consultancy Services Limited, Internatid®asiness Machines Corporation
(“IBM"), PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Virtusa Coration, and Wipro Ltd.

Our products

Our primary software solutions are as follows:

PegaRULES Process Command

PRPC provides a unified platform that includegtadl necessary elements and technologies to buidpise applications in a
fraction of the time it would take using our conifmes’ products. These elements, which includedinect capture of business objectives,
automating programming, reporting, predictive atiabyand decisioning, dynamic case management,lendévice access, dynamically
generated user interface, process automation, dassimiles, social media technologies and automaiimk, are all part of our integrated
architecture. This allows organizations to buildplby, and change enterprise applications easdygaickly. It also eliminates the time and
expense required to create lengthy policy manuadssgstem specifications by unifying business rulgb business processes in the software
and automating the creation of system documentafom software is standards-based and can levepdaging technology investments to
create new business applications that cross teogynailos. Our customers use our software and @s\b improve their customer service
and experience, generate new business, and enbayargzational effectiveness and productivity, vilhiain optionally be created and/or
deployed on the cloud using our Pega Cloud senfiegings.

Solution Frameworks

We also offer purpose or industry-specific solutitmmeworks built on the capabilities of our PRR@wsare. These frameworks
allow organizations to quickly implement new cusesdacing practices and processes, bring new offeriogsarket, and provide customiz
or specialized processing to meet the needs dardift customers, departments, geographies or tegul@quirements

Pega CRM

Pega CRM software offers a process-driven, custametric business solution in order to optimize ¢hstomer experience while
reducing costs. The capabilities within Pega CRb@uate customer service

4



Table of Contents

inquiries and marketing and apply analytics to jmteand adapt customer service processes, whiciit inghe delivery of a personalized
customer interaction.

Pega Decision Managemel

Our decision management products and capabiliteesl@signed to manage processes so that all aciatinsize the outcome based
on business objectives. Pega Decision Strategy §ftarend Next-Best-Action Advisor support cross-ctemecision-making for offer
management, risk, and other marketing and custameagement solutions that optimize customer lifetimlue. Our Pega frameworks for
cross-sell/up-sell, retention, and collections hehrketing professionals build and deploy decisiaking solutions quickly, while predictive
and adaptive analytics support creation and impreré of decision models for outstanding operatiqasformance.

Pega Clouc®

Pega Cloud is Pegasystems’ service offering thaivalcustomers to create and/or run Pega applitatising an Internet-based
infrastructure. This offering enables our custontensapidly build, test, and deploy their applioat in a secure cloud environment, while
minimizing their infrastructure and hardware costs.

Our services and support

We offer services and support through our profesdieervices group, customer support group, andraining services group. We
also utilize third party contractors to assistruptioviding services.

Professional service

Our professional services group helps companiegartders implement our software. This enable® ggiide our customers throu
deployment of our software. Many of our customérsase to engage our professional services grouguimentation and expert services to
expand their use of our software to additional beis$ or product lines or automate additional psEw®/ithin existing solutions. In addition,
systems integrators and consulting firms, with vahice have alliances, also help our customers deployproducts.

Customer support

Our customer support group is responsible for stpfmur software deployed at customer sites whestomer support has been
purchased. Support services include automatedegmobhcking, prioritization and escalation proceduperiodic preventive maintenance,
documentation updates, and new software releases.

Training services

The success of our sales strategy for multipleelbn sales to target customers depends on otutyabilrain a larger number of
partners and customers to implement our technoMgyoffer training for our staff, customers, andtpers. Training is offered at our regio
training facilities in Cambridge, Massachusettsifded, New Hampshire, Reading, England, Hyderabatla, Sydney, Australia, at third
party facilities in numerous other locations, ahduwstomer sites. Beginning in 2012, we will algodffering training online through Pega
Academy, which will present new ways to learn aftvgare quickly and easily. We expect that the mmliraining will help expand the
number of trained experts at a faster pace. Oursesiare designed to meet the specific requirenaépiocess architects, system architects,
and system administrators.
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Our markets and representative customers

Our target customers are large, industry-leadigguaizations faced with managing transaction intensiomplex and changing
processes that seek the agility needed for grgwitductivity, customer retention, and compliancar €ustomers have typically been large
companies in the financial services, healthcasyrince, government, and communications and mealikets. We are expanding our
customer base to a broader range of companieswmitbse markets as well as to a broader rangedastries, such as manufacturing, energy,
travel and entertainment.

Financial services

Financial services organizations require softwarienprove the quality, accuracy, and efficiencyco$tomer interactions and
transactions processing. Pegasystems’ customeegz@nd exceptions management products allow castdmbe responsive to changing
business requirements. Representative financialcgsr customers of ours include: American Express@any, BBVA Bancomer S.A., BNP
Paribas, Citigroup Inc., Charles Schwab Corporatit®BC Holdings Plc, ING Bank, JP Morgan Chase, tst&&ard Worldwide, National
Australia Bank Limited, RBC Financial Group, andrdisto-Dominion Bank.

Healthcare

Healthcare organizations seek products that integhair front and back office initiatives and hdkive customer service, efficiency,
and productivity. Representative healthcare custsmiours include: Aetna Inc., Amerigroup Corpaat more than 60 percent of the
members of the Blue Cross Blue Shield network, Higtk, Medco Health Solutions, Inc., Tenet Healtedaorporation, United Healthcare
Services, Inc., and ViPS/WebMD.

Insurance

Insurance companies, whether competing globallyationally for customers and channels, need softw@automate the key
activities of policy rating, quoting, customizatjamderwriting, and servicing as well as produbtt tmprove customer service and the ov
customer experience. Representative insurancetiydusstomers of ours include: American Nationaurance Group, CARDIF, Chartis,
Farmers Insurance Group of Companies, John Hardéeknsurance Co., Wesfarmers, and Zurich Northe#ica.

Communications and Media

Communications and media organizations need toeaddrigh levels of customer churn, growing pressunecrease revenue and an
ability to respond quickly to changing market cdiwtlis. Pega’s unique ability to put the power afamation into the hands of the business
enables organizations to reshape the way theyaittterith customers, streamline operations and bréwg services and products to market.
Representative communications and media custonfiensrs include: Vodafone, Orange, O2, DeutscheKicefeand Cox Communications.

Government

Government agencies need to modernize legacy sysgiathprocesses to meet the growing demands fooimg constituent servic
lower costs and greater levels of transparencya®egems offers a proven, economical and highicéffe solution that delivers advanced
capabilities to streamline application developrreerd delivery. Representative public sector cligmtkide the State of Texas, ViPS, the
FDIC, the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Sews/iggMS), and CSC.

6
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Other industries

PRPC offers solutions to a broad range of compamdsndustries. For example, we sell our BPM tetdgy to customers in energ
life sciences, manufacturing, and travel servi€asstomers include: Baxter International Inc., Bilidflyers Squibb, ConEdison, Carnival
Cruise Lines, GE Energy, Jabil, Novartis InternadlbAG, and The British Airport Authority.

Competition

We compete in the BPM, Case Management, CRM, anisDa Management software markets. These marketsmgensely
competitive, rapidly changing, and highly fragmehtas current competitors expand their productrioffis and new companies enter the
market. Competitors vary in size and in the scapkteadth of the products and services offerededéeunter competition from:

. BPM vendors including Service-Oriented Architect(i®OA”") middleware vendors IBM, Oracle Corporatji@oftware AG, and
Tibco Software Inc., and other BPM vendors sucAgsian Corporation and the Savvion division of Resg Software

. Case Management vendors such as the Documentusiodivif EMC Corporation, the FileNet division ofNBs Information
Management Group, and the BPM/Case Managementadivié OpenText (following its acquisition of Metasm and Global
360);

. CRM application vendors such as the Siebel divisib@®racle, the Microsoft Dynamics CRM divisionMfcrosoft, and
Salesforce.con

. Decision Management vendors including Business $Rihgine vendors such as the ILOG division of IEd the Blaze division
of FICO, and vendors of solutions that leveragdaisteve analytics in managing customer relationshigluding the Unica
Division of IBM;

. Companies that provide application specific sofevar the financial services, healthcare, insuraarabother specific markets
such as Guidewire Software, Inc., the Detica NetRéDivision of BAE, SmartStream Technologies L&unGard, SAP, and The
Trizetto Group, Inc.; an

. Current customers’ information technology departteewhich may seek to modify their existing systemsdevelop their own
proprietary system:

We have been most successful competing for customieose businesses are characterized by a highelefichange, complexity,
and size. We believe that the principal competifaaors within our market include:

. Product adaptability, scalability, functionalityydaperformance

. Proven success in delivering ¢-savings and efficiency improvemen

. Easwof-use for developers, business units, anc-users;

. Timely development and introduction of new produwatsl product enhancemer
. Establishment of a significant base of referencgamers

. Ability to integrate with other products and teclogies;
. Customer service and suppc¢

. Product price
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. Vendor reputation; an
. Relationships with systems integratc

We believe we compete favorably with our compesiton the basis of these competitive factors asinified Build for Chang@
technology allows both client business and IT stadfng a single, browsdrased user interface, to build enterprise apptiaatin a fraction ¢
the time it would take with the types of disjointathitectures and tools offered by our competitdfe believe we also compete favorably
due to our expertise in our target industries amdang-standing customer relationships. We believe we @efess favorably on the basis
some of these factors with respect to our largerpstitors, many of which have greater sales, mengeind financial resources, more
extensive geographical presence and greater narognigion than we do. In addition, we may be aisadvantage with respect to our ability
to provide expertise outside our target industries.

Sales and marketing

We market our software and services primarily tigioa direct sales force. Strategic partnershipls eonsultants and systems
integrators are important to our sales efforts bsedhey influence buying decisions, help us tatifiesales opportunities, and complement
our software with their domain expertise and prsifazal services capabilities.

To support our sales efforts, we conduct a broageaf marketing programs, including targeted sotutampaigns, industry trade
shows, including our PegaWORLD user conferenceitionl seminars, industry analyst and press relatidveb marketing, community
development, social media, and other direct anuléntimarketing efforts. Our consulting staff, mess partners, and other third parties also
conduct joint and separate campaigns that gensadds leads.

Sales by geography

In 2011, 2010, and 2009, sales to customers bagsitle of the United States of America (*U.S.”) regented approximately 48%,
41%, and 34%, respectively, of our total revenue.ddrrently operate in one operating segment —r&ssi Process Solutions. We derive
substantially all of our operating revenue from shée and support of one group of similar prodacis services. Substantially all of our as:
are located within the U.S. See Note 18 “Geograpifarmation and Major Customers” included in thaas to the accompanying audited
consolidated financial statements for further detai

Research and development

Our development organization is responsible fodpob architecture, core technology developmentlpeobtesting, and quality
assurance. Our product development priority isottioue expanding the capabilities of our integrééchnology. We intend to maintain and
extend the support of our existing solution framgwspand we may choose to invest in additional &arks which incorporate the latest
business innovations. We also intend to maintathexttend the support of popular hardware platfolpsrating systems, databases, and
connectivity options to facilitate easy and rapépldyment in diverse information technology infrastures. Our goal with all of our produ
is to enhance product capabilities, ease of imphation, long-term flexibility, and the ability forovide improved customer service.

During 2011, 2010, and 2009, research and developexpenses were approximately $65.3 million, $5billon, and $38.9
million, respectively. We expect that we will conie to commit significant resources to our proaasearch and development in the future to
maintain our leadership position.
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Employees

As of January 31, 2012, we had 1,858 employeesitwatk, of which 1,104 were based in the U.S., 3é6avbased in Europe, 316
were based in India, 33 were based in Australiay8@ based in Canada and 29 were based in Asiao@Uheadcount includes 633
consulting and customer support employees, 474 saleé marketing employees, 537 research and deweldemployees, and 214
administrative employees. In addition, we augmewoigdresearch and development and professionatssremployees with approximately
230 contractors.

Backlog of license, maintenance, and professionarsices

As of December 31, 2011, we had software licenseént@nance, and professional services agreemetitcusgtomers expected to
result in approximately $359.8 million of futurevemue, of which we expect approximately $184.8iamlko be recognized in 2012. As of
December 31, 2010, we had backlog of software $ieemaintenance, and professional services agréemeh customers of approximately
$232.1 million. Under some of these agreementanwst fulfill certain conditions prior to recognigimevenue, and there can be no assurance
when, if ever, we will be able to satisfy all sumnditions in each instance. Business conditiongdcohange and, therefore, backlog may not
be a reliable indicator of future financial perfance.

Available Information

We make available free of charge through our Wehsitw.pegasystems.coour Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports
on Form 10-Q and Current Reports on Form 8-K, andralments to these reports, as soon as reasomabticpble after we electronically
file such material with, or furnish such materia| the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SETTe SEC maintains a Website that
contains reports, proxy, and information statemants other information regarding issuers thatdlectronically with the SEC at
www.sec.gov. We make available on our Website reports fileabyexecutive officers and Directors on Forms,3ntl 5 regarding their
ownership of our securities. Our Code of Conduad, any amendments to our Code of Conduct, is alaitedle on our Website.

9
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

The following important factors could cause oumnatbusiness and financial results to differ matgrifrom those contained in
forward-looking statements made in this Annual Repo Form 10-K or elsewhere by management frone tiontime.

Factors relating to our financial results

The number of our license arrangements has beenreasing, and we may not be able to sustain thisvgitounless we and our
partners can provide sufficient high quality profe®nal services, training, and maintenance resousde enable our customers to reali
significant business value from our softwarOur customers typically request professional ses/gnd training to assist them in
implementing our products. Our customers also @getmaintenance on our products in almost all cAsea result, an increase in the
number of license arrangements is likely to inceedamand for professional services, training, aathtenance relating to our products.
Given that the number of our license arrangemesgshleen increasing, we will need to provide outauers with more professional servic
training, and maintenance to enable our custonoensalize significant business value from our safev Accordingly, we have been hiring
additional personnel in these areas and improvimg'an-boarding” process to ramp up new personmel shorter period of time. We have
also been increasingly enabling our partners astbowers through training to create an expandedceusévof people that are skilled in the
implementation of our products. However, if we @l partners are unable to provide sufficient tgghlity professional services, training,
maintenance resources to our customers, our custamay not realize sufficient business value framproducts to justify follow-on sales,
which could impact our future financial performanireaddition, the growth required to meet the é@ased demand for our professional
services could strain our ability to deliver oungees engagements at desired levels of profitgbilhereby impacting our overall profitability
and financial results.

We frequently enter into limited scope initial lioses with new customers, which could adversely etffaur financial performance
if we are not successful in obtaining follow-on bingss from these customerd/e frequently enter into initial licenses with mew
customers that are focused on a specific purpoaesarof operations, rather than selling largerprige licenses, to allow these new
customers to realize business value from our soéwaickly and for a limited initial investment. @na customer has realized this initial
value, we work with the customer to identify oppmities for follow-on sales. However, we may not be successful in dstrating this initia
value to some customers, for reasons relatingeg@érformance of our products, the quality of thevises and support we provide for our
products, or external reasons. For these customersjay not obtain follow-on sales or the followsales may be delayed, and our license
revenue will be limited to the smaller initial saléhis could lower the total value of all transang and adversely affect our financial
performance.

Our professional services revenue is dependent sigaificant extent on closing new license transxcts with customersWe
derive a substantial portion of our professionalises revenue from implementation of new softwiaenses with our customers.
Accordingly, it is imperative that we close moreelnse transactions with our customers if we ameaimtain or grow our services revenue.

If we are unable to maintain vendor specific objeat evidence (“VSOE”) of fair value of our professial services arrangements,
we may be required to delay a portion of our revero future periods We have established VSOE of fair value of our pssiienal services
in North America and Europe, other than Spain, hasethe price charged when these services aresephlrately. The weakened economy
and significant competition within our industry leaereated pricing pressure on professional seryicmgded by technology companies. If
elect to discount our professional services pri@ngtherwise introduce variability in our professil services arrangements to attract or
retain customers, this could lead to an insufficmmber of consistently priced professional sewiarrangements for us to maintain VSOE.
If we do not have VSOE of fair value of our profiessl services, we may be required to recognizesattnue for these professional

10
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services arrangements, including any related leemsintenance, and other services revenue ifrfegsional services are bundled in an
arrangement, ratably over the longer of the softwaaintenance period or the service period.

The timing of our license revenue is difficult targdict accurately, which may cause our quarterlyaypting results to vary
considerably A change in the number or size of high value lieemasangements, or a change in the mix betweerepeigicenses, term
licenses, and Pega Cloud subscriptions can caugewenues to fluctuate materially from quarteqo@arter. Our decision to enter into term
licenses and Pega Cloud subscriptions that retjuéreevenue to be recognized over the license neagnadversely affect our profitability in
any period due to sales commissions being paidedirne of signing and the corresponding revenirgh@cognized over time. We budget
for our selling and marketing, product developmant] other expenses based on anticipated futuemuev If the timing or amount of rever
fails to meet our expectations in any given quadar financial performance is likely to be advéyssfected because only small portions of
expenses vary with revenue. As a result, periopet@ged comparisons of our operating results arenroessarily meaningful and should not
be relied upon to predict future performance.

Our financial results may be adversely affectednié are required to change certain estimates, judgiseand positions relative to
our income taxesln the ordinary course of conducting a global besfenterprise, there are many transactions acdl&i#bns undertaken
whose ultimate tax outcome cannot be certain. Safitleese uncertainties arise as a consequencesiions we have taken regarding
valuation of deferred tax assets, transfer priéomgransactions with our subsidiaries, and potdmallenges to nexus and tax credit
estimates. We estimate our exposure to unfavorlitomes related to these uncertainties and estithatprobability for such outcomes.
Future realization of our deferred tax assets altély depends on the existence of sufficient tax@idome within the available carryback or
carryforward periods. We record a valuation alloe&ato reduce our deferred tax assets to an amaaibelieve is more likely than not to be
realized. If our taxable income is not consisteithwur expectations or the timing of income is within the applicable carryforward period,
we may be required to establish a valuation allagaon all or a portion of these deferred tax as§#tanges in our valuation allowance
impact income tax expense in the period of adjustnmfdthough we believe our estimates are reasenalal assurance can be given that the
final tax outcome of these matters or our currstit@ates regarding these matters will not be diffiefrom what is reflected in our historical
income tax provisions, returns, and accruals. Slifférences, or changes in estimates relating tergial differences, could have a material
impact, unfavorable or favorable, on our incomegevisions, require us to change the recordedevalwdeferred tax assets, and adversely
affect our financial results.

We are investing heavily in sales and marketing gmbfessional services in anticipation of a contiad increase in license
arrangements, and we may experience decreased fafaifity or losses if we are unsuccessful in incisag the value of our license
arrangements in the futureWe have been increasing our investment in salesremmkleting to meet increasing demand for our sofviny
hiring additional sales and marketing personnel.anicipate that we will need to provide our custosnwith more professional services,
training, and maintenance as a result of this asedn demand, and have been hiring additionabpasd in these areas. These investments
have resulted in increased fixed costs that dwaot with the level of revenue. If the increasedhdead for our products does not continue,
could experience decreased profitability or lossea result of these increased fixed costs.

Factors relating to our products and markets

The continued weakness in the U.S and internatiecahomies may negatively impact our sales to tl@aollection of receivables
from, our financial services and insurance custenaed possibly our customers in other industries.sales to, and our collection of
receivables from, our customers may be impacteadverse changes in global economic conditions,oghein the U.S., Europe and Asia
Pacific. In the past few years, these regions leaperienced instability in financial markets, tighing credit, and weak overall economic
conditions, which has impacted the financial sewiand insurance industries in particular. Theseds could
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impact the ability and willingness of our financggrvices and insurance customers, and possiblgustiomers in other industries, to make
investments in technology, which may delay or rediine amount of purchases of our software and gsafeal services. These factors could
also impact the ability and willingness of thesstomers to pay their trade obligations and honeir tontractual commitments under their
non-cancellable term licenses. These customersafsaypecome subject to increasingly restrictivail&gry requirements, which could limit
or delay their ability to proceed with new techripiurchases. Our financial services and insuranstomers as a group represent a
significant amount of our revenues and receival#lesordingly, their potential financial instabiligould negatively impact our business,
operating results, and financial condition.

We will need to acquire or develop new productyleg existing ones, and adapt to technology chanbechnical developments,
customer requirements, programming languages,rahgiry standards change frequently in our markets result, success in current
markets and new markets will depend upon our ghiditenhance current products, to acquire or devetw introduce new products that meet
customer needs, keep pace with technology charegsnd to competitive products, and achieve matetptance. Product development
requires substantial investments for researcmegfent, and testing. There can be no assurance¢hatll have sufficient resources to make
necessary product development investments. We wyaarience difficulties that will delay or prevehetsuccessful development,
introduction, or implementation of new or enhanpeaducts. Inability to introduce or implement nemeahanced products in a timely mar
would adversely affect future financial performance

The market for our offerings is intensely and inaasingly competitive, rapidly changing, and highlyaigmented.The market for
BPM software and related implementation, consultargl training services is intensely competitiapidly changing and highly fragmented.
We currently encounter significant competition froxternal information systems departments of paaént existing customers that develop
custom software. We also compete with large teagytompanies such as IBM, Oracle and SAP, compdha target the customer
interaction and workflow markets, companies focusedyusiness rules engines or enterprise applicattegration, “pure play” BPM
companies, industry-specific application vendonsl professional service organizations that develgtom software in conjunction with
rendering consulting services. Competition for neaghare and pressure to reduce prices and masecgaicessions are likely to increase.
Many competitors have far greater resources andbaable to respond more quickly and efficientlyéa or emerging technologies,
programming languages or standards or to changasstomer requirements or preferences. Competitagsalso be able to devote greater
managerial and financial resources to develop, ptepand distribute products and provide relatatsatiing and training services. There has
been recent consolidation in the BPM market whetatger companies such as IBM, Oracle, OpenTextRrndress Software have acquired
companies that provide BPM software, which we ekpait further increase competition. There can leeassurance that we will be able to
compete successfully against current or future aditges or that the competitive pressures facedswill not materially adversely affect our
business, operating results, and financial cormlitio

We have historically sold to the financial servigéssurance and healthcare markets, and rapid chasgor consolidation in these
markets could affect the level of demand for ouroglucts.We have historically derived a significant portioinour revenue from customers
the financial services, insurance, and healthcanéets, and sales to these markets are importantufduture growth. Competitive pressur
industry consolidation, decreasing operating margiegulatory changes, and privacy concerns atfiectinancial condition of our customers
and their willingness to buy. In addition, custosiguurchasing patterns in these industries fordaeghnology projects are somewhat
discretionary. The financial services and insurameekets are undergoing intense domestic and iatiemal consolidation and financial
turmoil, and consolidation has been occurring shealthcare market. Consolidation may interruptnab buying behaviors and increase the
volatility of our operating results. In recent ygageveral of our customers have been merged splidated, and we expect this to continu
the near future. Future mergers or consolidatioag oause a decline in revenues and adversely affeduture financial performance. All of
these factors affect the level of demand for oodpcts from customers in these industries, anddcadVersely affect our business, operating
results and financial condition.
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We rely on certain third-party relationship&Ve have a number of relationships with third partleat are significant to sales,
marketing and support activities, and product dawalent efforts. We rely on software and hardwarelees, large system integrators, and
technology consulting firms to provide marketinglaales opportunities for the direct sales forattarstrengthen our products through the
use of industry-standard tools and utilities. Waodlave relationships with third parties that distie our products. There can be no assurance
that these companies, most of which have signifigayreater financial and marketing resources, mif develop or market products that
compete with ours in the future or will not otheseiend or limit their relationships with us.

We face risks from operations and customers basetside of the U.SSales to customers located outside of the U.Sesepted
approximately 48% of our total revenue in 2011, 43f%ur total revenue in 2010, and 34% of our toeakenue in 2009. We, in part through
our wholly owned subsidiaries, market products mmdier consulting and training services to custerbased outside of the U.S. including,
for example, customers based in Canada, the UKitegom, France, Germany, Spain, Italy, the Netadb, Belgium, Switzerland, Austria,
Ireland, Finland, Hungary, Poland, Sweden, Turk&yssia, Mexico, Australia, China, Hong Kong, andg@pore. We have established
offices in Canada, Europe, Asia and Australia. \Wkelve that growth will necessitate expanded iragomal operations, requiring a diversion
of managerial attention and increased costs. Weipate hiring additional personnel to accommodiatiernational growth, and we may also
enter into agreements with local distributors, espntatives, or resellers. If we are unable torsoar more of these things in a timely man
our growth, if any, in our foreign operations mayrestricted, and our business, operating resntsfinancial condition could be materially
and adversely affected.

In addition, there can be no assurance that webeilible to maintain or increase international mdemand for our products.
Several of our international sales are denominiatédS. dollars. Accordingly, any appreciation bétvalue of the U.S. dollar relative to the
currencies of those countries in which we sellnaducts may place us at a competitive disadvartiggefectively making our products
more expensive as compared to those of our coropetdditional risks inherent in our internatiohaisiness activities generally include
unexpected changes in regulatory requirementssased tariffs and other trade barriers, the cddtzcalizing products for local markets and
complying with local business customs, longer aot®uveceivable patterns and difficulties in colilegtforeign accounts receivable,
difficulties in enforcing contractual and intellaat property rights, heightened risks of politiaad economic instability, the possibility of
nationalization or expropriation of industries ooperties, difficulties in managing internationgleoations, potentially adverse tax
consequences (including restrictions on repatgatiarnings and the threat of “double taxation"3ré@sed accounting and internal control
expenses, and the burden of complying with a wattéety of foreign laws. There can be no assuramaedne or more of these factors will
have a material adverse effect on our foreign djmers, and, consequentially, our business, opaya#nsults, and financial condition.

We are exposed to fluctuations in currency exchamgées that could negatively impact our financiagésults and cash flows.
Because a significant portion of our business i®locted outside the U.S., we face exposure to advapovements in foreign currency
exchange rates. These exposures may change oeeadifusiness practices evolve, and they could davaterial adverse impact on our
financial results and cash flows. Our internaticsees have increasingly become denominated imgfoirrencies. The operating expenses
of our foreign operations are primarily denominateébreign currencies, which partially offset dareign currency exposure. Our U.S.
operating company invoices most of our foreign aonrs in foreign currencies, so it holds cash aedivables valued in these foreign
currencies, which are subject to foreign curremaggaction gains or losses. A decrease in the \dlfareign currencies, particularly the
British pound and the Euro relative to the U.Slafpkould adversely impact our financial resulisl @ash flows.
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Factors relating to our internal operations and poential liabilities

We depend on certain key personnel, and must be ablattract and retain qualified personnel in tifature. The business is
dependent on a number of key, highly skilled techlhimanagerial, consulting, sales, and marketearggnnel, including our Chief Executive
Officer. The loss of key personnel could adversdfgct financial performance. We do not have agyificant key-man life insurance on any
officers or employees and do not plan to obtain & success will depend in large part on thatghid hire and retain qualified personnel.
The number of potential employees who have thensikte knowledge of computer hardware and operatystems needed to develop, sell,
and maintain our products is limited, and compatifior their services is intense, and there candbassurance that we will be able to attract
and retain such personnel. If we are unable taogdowr business, operating results, and financiatlition could be materially adversely
affected.

We may experience significant errors or securitgyls in our product and services, and could facevagy, product liability and
warranty claims as a resulDespite testing prior to their release, softwadpcts frequently contain errors or security flaaspecially whe
first introduced or when new versions are releaBeahrs in our software products could affect thiitg of our products to work with other
hardware or software products, or could delay taneetbpment or release of new products or new vessid products. The detection and
correction of any security flaws can be time conisignand costly. Errors or security flaws in ourta@fre could result in the inadvertent
disclosure of confidential information or persodata relating to our customers, employees, or tarties. Software product errors and
security flaws in our products or services coulgase us to privacy, product liability and warraokgims as well as harm our reputation,
which could impact our future sales of products sevices. Our license agreements typically corgaivisions intended to limit the nature
and extent of our risk of product liability and wemty claims. There is a risk that a court migheipret these terms in a limited way or could
hold part or all of these terms to be unenforceahlso, there is a risk that these contract ternghtmot bind a party other than the direct
customer. Furthermore, some of our licenses withcagtomers are governed by non-U.S. law, and teaeisk that foreign law might give
us less or different protection. Although we hawt experienced any material product liability claito date, a product liability suit or action
claiming a breach of warranty, whether or not nogidgius, could result in substantial costs and amien of management’s attention and our
resources.

We face risks related to intellectual property atas or appropriation of our intellectual property ghts.We rely primarily on a
combination of copyright, trademark and trade gsdeavs, as well as confidentiality agreementsrtiget our proprietary rights. We have
obtained patents from the U.S. Patent and Trade@#ite relating to the architecture of our systeli¥& cannot assure that such patents will
not be invalidated or circumvented or that rightsnged thereunder or the claims contained therdimpwvide us with competitive
advantages. Moreover, despite our efforts to ptatecproprietary rights, unauthorized parties ratigmpt to copy aspects of our products or
to obtain the use of information that we regargm@prietary. In addition, the laws of some fore@untries do not protect our proprietary
rights to as great an extent as do the laws of)tBe There can be no assurance that our meanstefcfing our proprietary rights will be
adequate or that our competitors will not indepetigedevelop similar technology.

There can be no assurance that third parties wflttaim infringement by us with respect to currenfuture products. Although we
attempt to limit the amount and type of our cortinatliability for infringement of the proprietarjghts of third parties, these limitations oft
contain certain exclusions, and we cannot be adshed these limitations will be applicable andagnéable in all cases. Even if these
limitations are found to be applicable and enfobdeaour liability to our customers for these typéslaims could be material in amount gi
the size of certain of our transactions. We expeat software product developers will increasinggysubject to infringement claims as the
number of products and competitors in our induseégment grows and the functionality of productdifferent industry segments overlaps.
Any such claims, with or without merit, could bm&-consuming, result in costly litigation, causedurct shipment delays, or require us to
enter into royalty or licensing agreements. Sugfalty or licensing agreements, if required, may lmavailable on terms acceptable to us or
at all, which could have a material adverse efig@cn our business, operating results, and finaciadlition.
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If our security measures are breached and/or unaattzed access is obtained to a customer’s configgnnformation from our
cloud computing service offering, we may be expotedignificant legal and financial liabilitiesOur cloud computing service offering
allows customers to create and run PRPC-basedcafiphis using an internet-based infrastructures ©ffering involves the hosting of
customersapplications which may contain confidential infotioa, including personal and financial data regagdheir end customers on:
servers of a third-party technology provider. Waoalely on third party systems including encryptiaintualized infrastructure and support.
Because we do not control the transmissions betwaenustomers and our third-party infrastructur@viglers, the processing of data on the
servers of the third-party technology providersthar internal controls maintained by the third-paeichnology providers that could prevent
unauthorized access and provide appropriate datgmion, we cannot ensure the complete integnityexurity of such transmissions, data or
processing. Our security measures may be breachadesult of third-party action, including intemtal misconduct by computer hackers,
system error, human error or otherwise. Becaustetimiques used to obtain unauthorized accesssatiotage systems change frequently
and generally are not recognized until launchedhagia target, we may be unable to anticipate thed®iques or to implement adequate
preventative measures. While we have investedeptbtection of our customerdata to reduce these risks, there can be no assuttaat ou
efforts will prevent breaches in our systems. Secbreaches could expose us and our customersisé af loss or misuse of this
information. Any security breach could result ifoas of confidence in the security of our servit@nage our reputation, disrupt our busin
lead to legal liability and negatively impact outudre sales. We carry data breach insurance covéoggotentially mitigate the financial
impact of such potential legal liability.

The acquisition of other businesses and technolagieay present new riskg/e have undertaken a significant acquisition duthe
past two years and may continue to evaluate ansid@nother potential strategic transactions, idiclg acquisitions of businesses,
technologies, services, products and other agséte ifuture. These acquisitions, if undertakeny maolve significant new risks and
uncertainties, including distraction of managenagtention away from our current business operatimssifficient new revenue to offset
expenses, inadequate return on capital, integratiatienges, new regulatory requirements, and sssaediscovered in our due diligence
process. No assurance can be given that such #mmsswill be successful and will not adverselfeat our profitability or operations.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2. Properties

Our principal administrative, sales, marketing,mu, and research and development operation®eateld at 101 Main Street,
Cambridge, Massachusetts in an approximately 10560are foot leased facility. The lease for thislity expires in 2013. We expect all of
these functions will move to One Charles Park and Rogers Street, Cambridge, Massachusetts, settend half of 2012, where our leases
for approximately 163,000 square feet expire in&2ibject to our option to extend for two additibfive-year periods. We also lease space
for our other offices in the U.S., Australia, Caaabhdia, the United Kingdom and in other Europaad Asian countries under leases that
expire at various dates through 2020. We beliegedlditional or alternative space will be avaiaht needed in the future on commercially
reasonable terms.

ITEM 3. Legal Proceedings

None.

ITEM 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.
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PART II

ITEM 5.  Market for Registrant’'s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Edty Securities

Market Information

Our common stock is quoted on the NASDAQ Globak8eMarket (“NASDAQ”) under the symbol “PEGA.” Tliellowing table
sets forth the range of high and low sales priéeriocommon stock on NASDAQ for each quarter ia ylears ended December 31:

Common Stock Price

2011 2010
High Low High Low

First Quarter $41.1¢ $30.8 $39.6¢ $32.2¢
Second Quarte $47.1¢4 $34.3( $39.6¢ $26.3:
Third Quartel $47.5¢ $30.5¢ $33.9¢ $20.3¢
Fourth Quarte $40.67 $26.81 $37.81 $23.92
Holders

As of February 10, 2012, we had approximately 86lgtolders of record and approximately 29,200 herafowners of our commc
stock.
Dividends

In July 2006, we began paying a quarterly castddivil of $0.03 per share of common stock. Quarted dividends are expecte(
continue at $0.03 per share to stockholders ofrceas of the first trading day of each quarterjetttto change or elimination at any time by
our Board of Directors.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

The following table sets forth information regagliour repurchases of our common stock during thettioquarter of 2011.

Total Number of

Shares Approximate Dollar
Purchased as Pat Value of Shares That
May Yet Be Purchased
of Publicly Under Publicly
Total Number Average Price Announced Share Announced Share
Repurchased Programs (1
of Shares Paid per Repurchase
Period Purchased Share Program (1) (in thousands)
10/1/11-10/31/11 7,40¢ $ 32.5¢ 7,408 $ 9,454
11/1/11-11/30/11 24,90¢ 29.57 24,90¢ 14,30¢
12/1/11-12/31/11 11,624 29.7¢ 11,624 13,96:
Total 43,93 $ 30.1z2

(1) Since 2004, our Board of Directors has appratedk repurchase programs that have authorizegephechase, in the aggregate, up to
$86.3 million of our common stock. On November @12, we announced that our Board of Directors apa@ $5.6 million increase
in the remaining funds available under the progeagiring on December 31, 2011, and an extensigheoéxpiration date to
December 31, 2012. Under this program, purchasgsmanade from time to time on the open markeharivately
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negotiated transactions. Shares may be repurclmsedh amounts as market conditions warrant, stibjeregulatory and other
considerations. We have established a pre-arrastgel repurchase plan, intended to comply withrélgeiirements of Rule 10b5-1
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as apterahd of Rule 10b-18 of the Exchange Act (thebStQ Plan”). All share

repurchases under the Current Program during clivadohg window periods will be made pursuant t® 10b!-1 Plan.

Stock Performance Graph and Cumulative Total Stockblder Return

The following performance graph represents a corsparof the cumulative total stockholder returrs(aming the reinvestment of
dividends) for a $100 investment on December 30620 our common stock, the Total Return Indextfer NASDAQ Composite
(“NASDAQ Composite”), a broad market index, and 8tandard & Poors (“S&P”) North Software-Softwaneléx™ (“S&P NSSI”), a
published industry index. We paid dividends of $0pkr share during 2011, 2010, 2009, 2008, and.Zllt¥ graph lines merely connect
measurement dates and do not reflect fluctuatiehsden those dates.

FA00.00
—l— Pepasystems Ine,
= == NASDACQ) Composite
300,00 +
— @— 58 NSSI
H200.00
- —
- —
$100.00 -
S0.00
20406 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
12/31/200! 12/31/200 12/31/200: 12/31/200 12/31/201! 12/31/201
Pegasystems In $ 100.0( $ 122.6( $ 128.3¢ $ 354.6¢ $ 383.5( $ 308.8:
NASDAQ Composite $ 100.0( $ 110.6¢ $ 66.42 $96.5¢ $ 114.0¢ $ 113.1¢
S&P NSSI $ 100.0( $ 116.2¢ $ 71.8: $106.2: $ 132.9¢ $ 123.8¢
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ITEM 6. Selected Financial Date

The selected financial data presented below has deved from our audited consolidated financiatements. This data should be
read in conjunction with “Management’s Discussion &nalysis of Financial Condition and Results gfe@ations”, the consolidated
financial statements and accompanying notes.

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Consolidated Statements of Operations Date

Total revenue $ 416,67! $ 336,59 $ 264,01: $ 211,64 $ 161,94¢
Income (loss) from operatiol 10,49¢ (2,580 41,81¢ 14,47¢ 1,951
Income (loss) before provision (benefit) for income

taxes 10,81 (6,197) 47,41¢ 15,67 9,94:
Net income (loss 10,10¢ (5,89)) 32,21 10,977 6,59t
Net earnings (loss) per sha

Basic $ 0.27 $ (0.16) $ 0.8¢ $ 0.3C $ 0.1¢
Diluted $ 0.2¢ $ (0.16) $ 0.8t $ 0.2¢ $ 0.1¢
Cash dividends declared per common sl $ 0.12 $ 0.12 $ 0.12 $ 0.12 $ 0.12
Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
(in thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Dat¢
Total cash, cash equivalents, and marketable sies $ 111,43: $ 87,25 $ 202,65: $ 167,22¢ $ 149,98:
Working capital 89,71¢ 73,60¢ 188,55 159,08 159,54°
Long-term license installments, net of unearneerast

income — 1,22 2,97¢ 5,41% 8,267
Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortiz: 69,36¢ 80,68¢ 33€ 47¢ —
Goodwill 20,45 20,45 2,391 2,141 1,93
Total asset 381,71: 337,47! 279,58! 245,85( 243,30°
Stockholder’ equity 208,75t 195,67( 205,21¢ 173,11 172,94.

The following items impact the comparability of axomsolidated financial data:

. Our acquisition of Chordiant in April 2010. Duritige first quarter of 2011, the Company recordedstdjents to the purchase
price allocation of its acquisition of Chordiants fequired by applicable business combination attog rules, these adjustments
were applied retrospectively. Therefore, otherenirassets, long-term other assets, goodwill, adcexpenses, and deferred tax
assets were revised as of December 31, 2010 sxtéflese adjustments. These revisions did not &iayémpact on the
Company'’s previously reported results of operatimnsash flows. See Note 9 “Acquisition, Goodwalhd Other Intangible
Asset” for further discussion of these adjustme

. Foreign currency transaction (losses) gains o$(@illion, $(5.6) million, $2.1 million, $(4.5) rion, and $0.3 million, during
the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010, 2009, 2068007, respectively. See Item 7A. “Quantieaand Qualitative
Disclosure about Market Ri” for further discussion of our foreign currency eauge risk
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ITEM 7.  Managemen’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition ahResults of Operations

Business overview

We develop, market, license, and support softwahéch allows organizations to build, deploy, andwmge enterprise applications
easily and quickly. Our unified software platforntludes all the necessary elements and technoltghasid enterprise applications in a
fraction of the time it would take with competitigésjointed architectures, by directly capturingimess objectives, automating programm
and automating work. Our customers use our softigaimprove their customer service and the cust@wperience, generate new business,
and enhance productivity and profitability. We atgovide professional services, maintenance, aiditg related to our software.

We focus our sales efforts on target accounts, lwéie large companies or divisions within compaaiss typically leaders in their
industry. We also focus our sales efforts on exigtind targeted new industries. Our strategy selidnitial licenses that are focused on a
specific purpose or area of operations, rather fedling large enterprise licenses. Once a custtrmerealized the value of our software, we
work with the customer to identify opportunities follow-on sales.

Our license revenue is primarily derived from saeesur PRPC software and related solution fram&adPRPC is a comprehensive
platform for building and managing BPM applicatighat unifies business rules and business proce@sesolution frameworks, built on the
capabilities of PRPC, are purpose or industry-dimenbllections of best practice functionality, whiallow organizations to quickly
implement new customdacing practices and processes, bring new offeriogsarket, and provide customized or specializedgssing. Ou
products are simpler, easier to use and oftentresshorter implementation periods than compatitwnterprise software products. PRPC and
related solution frameworks can be used by a braage of customers within financial services, iasge, healthcare, communications and
government markets, as well as other markets ssielmergy and media.

We develop and license CRM software, which enalntéfied predictive decisioning and analytics antirofzes the overall customer
experience. Our decision management products grabdgies are designed to manage processes saltlztions optimize the outcome
based on business objectives. We continue to inweke development of new products and intenattoain a leader in BPM, CRM, and
decision management. We also offer Pega Cloudvicseoffering that allows customers to optionalhgate and/or run Pega applications
using an Internet-based infrastructure. This affgenables our customers to immediately build, texd deploy their applications in a secure
cloud environment while minimizing their infrasttuce and hardware costs. Revenue from our Pegal@ifering is included in consulting
services revenue.

We offer training for our staff, customers, andtpars at our regional training facilities, at thpdrty facilities in numerous other
locations, and at customer sites. Beginning in 20&2will also be offering training online througtega Academy, which will provide new
ways to learn our software quickly and easily. Wpegt that this online training will help expane thumber of trained experts at a faster
pace. Our online training may result in lower tragrevenues.

Our total revenue increased 24% in 2011 compar@@10 and reflects revenue growth in each of sofiiaense, maintenance, and
professional services revenue. Maintenance revierwueased 40% primarily due to the increase iratijgregate value of the installed base of
our software and a full year of maintenance revattrébuted to license arrangements executed bydidmt prior to the acquisition. In 2011,
we generated approximately $39.8 million in casimfioperations, primarily driven by our net incorard ended the year with $111.4 million
in cash, cash equivalents, and marketable seauritie

We believe our growth and success in 2011 wergalue
. Our disciplined and focused global sales strateggrigeted customer
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. The return on investment our clients achieve fromuse of Pega technology leading to repeat puest
. Expansion of our customer base through sales tomess within new industrie

. Demand for our indust-leading software solutions and servic

. Investment in making our products faster and edsiase;

. Expansion of our solutions frameworks offeringsi

. Collaboration and continued development of ourrgaralliances

We believe that the ongoing challenges for ourress include our ability to drive revenue growttpand our expertise in new and
existing industries, remain a leader in CRM anddbeision management markets, and maintain ouetship position in the BPM market.

To support our growth and successfully addresstbkallenges through 2012 we plan to:

. Expand our expertise across targeted indust

. Improve the end user experience with enhancedinszface;

. Maintain our focused global sales strategy to t@gjeustomers

. Invest in our research and development by sigmiflgancreasing headcour
. Hire additional sales and marketing professior

. Invest in sekstudy enablement to expand the Pega ecosy:

. Further develop our partner alliances; i

. Develop and increase our solutions framewc

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
2011 Compared to 2010

(Dollars in thousands) Year Ended December 31, Increase (Decrease)
2010
2011 N
Total revenue $ 416,67 $ 336,59 $ 80,07¢ 249%
Gross profit 251,87 207,86! 44,01 21%
Acquisitior-related cost 482 5,92¢ (5,442 (92)%
Restructuring cost (62) 8,06¢ (8,126 n/m
Other operating expens 240,96: 196,45 44,50¢ 23%
Total operating expens 241,38: 210,44! 30,93¢ 15%
Income (loss) before provision (benefit) for incotares 10,81 (6,197 17,01( n/m

n/m — not meaningful

The aggregate value of license arrangements exkou011 was significantly higher than in 2010roany prior year. We believe
the continued demand for our software productsraladed services is due to the strong value praipasishort implementation period, and
variety of licensing models we offer our customémsaddition, our significant investment in hirisgles personnel has generated license sale:
to customers in new and existing industries andjgahies.
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The increase in gross profit was primarily duehi® increase in maintenance revenue and to a lesa the increase in license
revenue.

The increase in operating expenses was primarigytduhe increase in selling and marketing expeasssciated with higher
headcount and higher sales commissions relatdgetmerease in the value of license arrangememisuted.

The increase in income (loss) before provision @fignfor income taxes was primarily due to thergase in maintenance and license
gross profit and the decrease in foreign exchaoggek in 2011 compared to 2010, partially offsetieyincrease in total operating expenses.

Revenue
Increase

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010
License revenut
Perpetual license $  94,12¢ 68% $ 79,04: 66% $ 15,08¢ 19%
Term license! 34,45: 25% 31,94( 27% 2,51: 8%
Subscriptior 10,228 7% 8,85¢ 7% 1,367 15%
Total license revenu $ 13880 10C% $ 11983 10C% $ 18,960 16%

The aggregate value of license arrangements exttu011 was significantly higher than in 2010aay prior year. The aggregate
value of license agreements executed in the faquénter of 2011 set a quarterly record for the Camygorimarily due to a significant
increase in the value of term license arrangene@suted. A change in the mix between perpetuatemd license arrangements executed in
a period varies based on customer needs, whichcangse our revenues to vary materially quarter totgu If we continue to execute a hig
proportion of term license arrangements, our lieenesvenue may be recognized over longer periods.

The increase in perpetual license revenue was phntlue to an increase in the aggregate valueegbgtual license arrangements
executed. Many of our perpetual license arrangesrianlude extended payment terms and/or additieghts of use that delay the recognit
of revenue to future periods. The aggregate valgapments due under these licenses was $48.4mak of December 31, 2011 compared
to $32.8 million as of December 31, 2010. Seedhéetof future cash receipts by year from thespetaal licenses and certain subscription
licenses on page 33.

We recognize revenue for our term license arrangésraver the term of the agreement as paymentsviedae or earlier if prepaid.
The increase in our term license revenue was pilyrdue to revenue from the increased aggregatgeval term license arrangements
executed during 2011, partially offset by highezgayments in 2010. Prepayments can cause ouritansé revenue to vary quarter to
quarter. Total future payments due under term esrincreased to $161.4 million as of Decembe2311 compared to $90.9 million as of
December 31, 2010 and includes approximately $8ifllibn of term license payments that we expeateitognize as revenue in 2012. Our
term license revenue in 2012 could be higher tf&h®million as we complete new term license agerdmin 2012 or if we receive
prepayments from existing term license agreem&as.the table of future cash receipts by year ftase term licenses on page 33.
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Subscription revenue primarily consists of the lsltaecognition of license, maintenance and bunsgéestices revenue on perpetual
license arrangements that include a right to uriBpdduture products. Subscription revenue dogsmdude revenue from our Pega Cloud
offerings. The timing of scheduled payments undstamer arrangements determines the amount of ueviat can be recognized in a
reporting period. Consequently, our subscriptiorereie may vary quarter to quarter.

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31, Increase
2011 2010

Maintenance revenut
Maintenance $ 117,11 $ 83,87¢ $ 33,23 40%

The increase in maintenance revenue was primauiytde continued increase in the aggregate valtleedhstalled base of our
software and a full year of maintenance revenu#ated to license arrangements executed by Chargigor to the acquisition.

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31, Increase

2011 2010
Professional services revent
Consulting service $ 153,91¢ 96% $ 126,28: 95% $ 27,63¢ 22%
Training 6,83¢ 4% 6,59¢ _ 5% 24C 4%
Total Professional servici $ 160,75 10C% $ 132,88 10C% $ 27,87t 21%

Professional services are primarily consulting mewrelated to new license implementations. Theese in consulting services
revenue was primarily due to higher demand forghsesvices as a result of the significant incréaslee number of license arrangements
executed in the fourth quarter of 2010 and in 2011.

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31, Increase (Decrease)
2011 2010

Gross Profit

Software licens $ 132,11 $ 115,53 $ 16,57 14%

Maintenance 104,03: 72,831 31,19¢ 43%

Professional service 15,73( 19,49: (3,769 (19%

Total gross profi $ 251,87 $ 207,86! $ 44,010 21%

Total gross profit percel 60% 62%

Software license gross profit perci 95% 96%

Maintenance gross profit perce 89% 87%

Professional services gross profit perc 10% 15%

The decrease in software license gross profit pereas primarily due to the full year of amortizatiexpense in 2011 for the
technology intangibles we acquired as part of ther@iant acquisition in April 2010.

The increase in maintenance gross profit perceatpsianarily due to the increase in maintenancemege
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During 2010, we continued to hire professional merw employees to support our growth and expan@xpertise across various
industries. The decrease in professional servioessgprofit percent was primarily due to lowerigétion as a result of an increased numb
newly hired personnel that required training bettiey could be assigned to customer projects. talso due to the participation of an
increased number of existing professional serviggsonnel in expert training programs. These addtraining programs are part of our
strategy to increase the pool of expertly trainefgssional services personnel to fulfill increadedhand for these services. The lower
utilization was partially offset by an increaseoiur overall realization rates in 2011 compareddb®

Year Ended December 31,

(Dollars in thousands Increase (Decrease)
2011 2010
Amortization of intangibles:
Cost of software licens $ 6,28¢ $ 4231 % 2,05: 49%
Selling and marketin 4,92¢ 3,28¢ 1,64: 50%
General and administrati 10z 18t (82 (49)%
$ 11,31! $ 7,70: $ 3,61« 47%

The increase in amortization expense was due titl gefar of amortization in 2011 associated witl8 $8illion of intangible assets v
acquired as part of the Chordiant acquisition imilA2010. The decrease in amortization expenseided in general and administrative
expense was due to the Chordiant trade name ittienggset being fully amortized in 2011.

Operating expenses

Year Ended December 31,

(Dollars in thousands Increase
2011 2010
Selling and marketing
Selling and marketin $ 147,45 $ 116,23 $ 31,22 27%
As a percent of total reveni 35% 35%
Selling and marketing headcot 464 377 87 23%

Selling and marketing expenses include compensdiemefits, and other headcount-related expensesiased with our selling and
marketing personnel as well as advertising, proomstitrade shows, seminars, and other progranimdsaehd marketing expenses also
include the amortization of customer related intbleg.

We continue to increase sales headcount to tagyetccounts in new and existing industries andsaceapanded geographies an
create additional sales capacity for future peridtie increase in selling and marketing expenseaspaienarily due to a $15.1 million incree
in compensation and benefit expenses associatachwibher headcount, a $7.6 million increase in cdssians expense associated with the
record value of license arrangements executedid, 29 $1.6 million increase in amortization experdated to the acquired Chordiant
customer related intangibles, a $2.1 million insee partner commissions expenses, a $1.7 miliiorease in travel expenses, and a $1.2
million increase in sales and marketing programeasps, including our PegaWORLD user conference.

Year Ended December 31,

(Dollars in thousands Increase
2011 2010
Research and developme
Research and developme $ 65,30 $ 55,19 $ 10,11! 18%
As a percent of total reveni 16% 16%
Research and development headct 523 397 12€ 32%
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Research and development expenses include comimendanefits, contracted services, and other tmaderelated expenses
associated with research and development. Theasena headcount reflects growth in our Indianaedefacility. The increase in offshore
headcount lowered our average compensation expensamployee.

The increase in research and development experaseprimarily due to an $8.9 million increase in gemsation and benefit
expenses associated with higher headcount, a $itidmincrease in rent expense, partially offsgteb$2.5 million decrease in engineering
contractor expenses. We plan to continue investirigir research and development in 2012 in ordendke it easier and faster for our
customers to create applications using our software

Year Ended December 31,

(Dollars in thousands Increase
2011 2010
General and administrativ
General and administrati $ 28,19 $ 25,03 $ 3,16 13%
As a percent of total reveni 7% 7%
General and administrative headco 21¢ 18C 36 20%

General and administrative expenses include conapiens benefits, and other headcount-related exgseassociated with the
finance, legal, corporate governance, and otheiiradirative headcount. It also includes accountiagal, and other professional consulting,
and administrative fees.

The general and administrative headcount includgd@yees in human resources, information technokgy corporate services
departments whose costs are allocated to the fresir dunctional departments.

The increase in general and administrative expemasgrimarily due to a $1.1 million increase impeznsation and benefit expen
associated with higher headcount and a $1.8 milliorease in accounting fees and tax consultingegal fees primarily related to the
expansion of our international operations.

As a result of our lease arrangement for our ndigeoheadquarters, we expect to cease use of orentioffices in the second half
2012. Accordingly, in June 2011, we revised theaiemg useful lives of certain leasehold improvetsemnd furniture and fixtures and
recorded incremental depreciation expense of afpairly $0.9 million during 2011. We recorded apgmately $1.9 million of rent
expense under the new lease arrangement during W4 tecorded approximately $0.8 million of thistrand depreciation in cost of servi
and approximately $2 million in operating expenses.

Acquisition-related costs

Acquisitiontelated costs are expensed as incurred and indivele and incremental costs associated with areidimg or complete
acquisition. During 2011, the $0.5 million of acsjtion-related costs were primarily legal fees a&gted with litigation assumed from our
acquisition of Chordiant. During 2010, the $5.9limil of acquisition-related costs consisted of agpnately $3.1 million of due diligence
costs and advisory and legal transaction fees pappately $0.8 million of valuation and tax consudf fees, approximately $1.6 million of
legal costs associated with acquired litigatiord approximately $0.4 million of integration and etlexpenses related to our acquisition of
Chordiant.

Restructuring cost:

Restructuring costs included approximately $6.3iomlof severance and related benefit costs rezegniluring the second and third
quarters of 2010 for the reduction of personnehimitedundant roles as a result of our integratib@hordiant.
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In connection with our evaluation of our combinedifities, we ceased use of space within a redurfdaility during the fourth
quarter of 2010 and recorded approximately $1.Ganibf restructuring expenses, consisting of fati#ase payments and demising costs, net
of estimated sublease income for this space. Duhiadirst quarter of 2011, we incurred an add#io®0.1 million of exit costs related to this
space and as a result of signing a sublease fosfiaice during the third quarter of 2011, we relvae estimate of exit costs and recorded a
$0.2 million reduction of restructuring costs.

Stocl-based compensation

We recognize stock-based compensation expenseassbwith equity awards in our consolidated statets of operations based on
the fair value of these awards at the date of grant

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31, Increase

2011 2010
Stocl-based compensatio
Cost of service $ 2,73 $ 1,82 $ 91. 50%
Operating expenss 6,291 4,92( 1,371 28%
Total stocl-based compensation before 9,02¢ 6,74t $ 2,288 34%
Income tax benef (2,859 (2,185

The increase in stock-based compensation expersenmaarily due to the higher headcount and thateel expense associated with
the December 2010 periodic grant and 2011 newshirek-based grants. See Note 15 “Stock-Based Casagien” in the notes to the
accompanying audited consolidated financial statesiir further information on our stock-based aigar

Non-operating income and (expenses), net

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31, Change
2011 2010
Foreign currency transaction loss $ (93%) $ (5,569 $ 4,63« n/m
Interest income, ne 39 1,13 (740 (65)%
Other income, ne 85€ 814 4. 5%
$ 31¢ $ (3,619 $ 3,93¢ n/m

n/m — not meaningful

We hold foreign currency denominated accounts vabde and cash in our U.S. operating company wtheréunctional currency is
the U.S. dollar. As a result, these receivablescastt are subject to foreign currency transactéinsgand losses when there are changes in
exchange rates between the U.S. dollar and foigencies. The fluctuations in foreign curren@nsaction gains and losses were primarily
due to the changes in the value of the British ploarmd Euro relative to the U.S. dollar during 2@t 2010.

Beginning in the second quarter of 2011, we hatered into forward foreign currency contracts taage our exposure to changes
in foreign currency exchange rates affecting theifm currency denominated accounts receivablecash held by our U.S. operating
company. We have not designated these forwardgiomr@irrency contracts as hedging instruments ardresult, we record the fair value of
the outstanding contracts at the end of the rappgeriod in our consolidated balance sheet, withfluctuations in the value of these
contracts recognized in other income, net. Thetdlutbons in the value of these forward foreign enay contracts recorded in other income,
net, partially offset in net income the gains amgkes from the remeasurement or settlement obte&gh currency denominated accounts
receivable and cash held by the U.S.
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operating company recorded in foreign currencysaation (loss) gain. During 2011, the total chaimgée fair value of our forward foreign
currency contracts recorded in other income, nag avnet gain of $0.8 million. The impact on nebime of the gains recorded on the forw
foreign currency contracts and the foreign curreinagsaction losses recorded on the remeasuremeérstedtlement of the foreign currency
denominated assets, was a net loss of approximbtedymillion for the year ended December 31, 20tis net loss was primarily due to the
timing of settlement of intercompany balances andi§n currency denominated cash held as of theoétite period, for which we did not
have forward currency contracts.

The decrease in interest income was primarily duewer yields earned and a lower weighted-avevadge of marketable securities
held throughout the year ended December 31, 20dpared to the same period in 2010.

Provision (benefit) for income taxe

We account for income taxes at each interim peaugidg our estimated annual effective tax rate. fifogision for income taxes
represents current and future amounts owed foré&dstate, and foreign taxes.

The provision (benefit) for income taxes representsent and future amounts owed for federal, statd foreign taxes. During 2011
and 2010, we recorded a $0.7 million provision arD.3 million benefit, respectively, which resdlia an effective tax rate of 6.5% and
(4.9%), respectively

Our effective income tax rate for 2011 was belows statutory federal income tax rate due to a $alltlomreduction in unrecognized
tax benefits and a corresponding reduction in inedax expense related to uncertain tax positioqwiof years for which the statute of
limitations expired, a $1.5 million benefit relatedthe current period domestic production acegtand a $0.6 million benefit related to tax
credits from our continued investment in researah @evelopment activities. These benefits weraglyroffset by a $0.3 million increase in
our valuation allowances and $0.6 million of perewtdifferences related to nondeductible meals.

During 2010, we recorded a valuation allowanceragjatate credits and a discrete item relatedegmémdeductible portion of
acquisition-related costs we incurred during 2@t0ich reduced our tax benefit by approximately $giion and $0.7 million, respectively.
The consolidation of Chordiant’s operations hadjaiicant impact on our consolidated state apparient factors. As a result of this
change, we recorded a valuation allowance agaémiiin state credits.

As of December 31, 2011, unrecognized tax benfitded approximately $25.3 million, of which $18@lion, if recognized, woul
decrease our effective tax rate. However, approtaly&11.1 million of these unrecognized tax beseatlate to acquired net operating losses
(“NOLs") and research tax credits, which if recaggd, would be subject to limitations on use. Weeexphat the changes in the unrecognized
benefits within the next twelve months will be apgmately $0.2 million and would reduce our effgettax rate.

2010 Compared to 2009

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31, Increase (Decrease)
2010 2009

Total revenue $ 336,59 $ 264,01 $ 72,58 27%
Gross profit 207,86! 173,07¢ 34,78¢ 20%
Acquisitior-related cost 5,92/ — 5,92/ n/m
Restructuring cosl 8,06¢ — 8,06¢ n/m
Other operating expens 196,45 131,25 65,20( 50%
Total operating expens 210,44! 131,25 79,18t¢ 60%
(Loss) income before (benefit) provision for incotages (6,197%) 47,41 (53,617 (119)%

n/m — not meaningful

26



Table of Contents

We continued to experience demand for our softwaletions and related services in 2010, which wiebe was due to the strong
value proposition, short implementation period, sadety of licensing models we offer our customers

The increase in gross profit was primarily duehi® increase in maintenance and license revenue.

The increase in operating expenses during 201Qwamsirily due to the continued expansion of ouesdbrce and our research and
development operations. It was also due to theisitipm-related expenses and restructuring costsaated with our acquisition of
Chordiant.

The decrease in (loss) income before (benefit) ipiaw for income taxes during 2010 compared to 20889 primarily due to the
higher growth rate in operating expenses and |aetat gross profit percent in 2010. The lower tafadss profit percent was due to lower
software license gross profit percent in 2010 essalt of the amortization of acquired Chordiacht®logy intangible assets. The decrease in
(loss) income before (benefit) provision for incotages was also due to the $5.6 million foreigrreney transaction loss in 2010 compared
to a gain of $2.1 million in 2009.

Revenue

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31, Increase (Decrease)
2010 2009

License revenut

Perpetual license $ 79,04: 66% $ 71,67¢ 62% $ 7,368 10%

Term license! 31,94( 27% 36,63¢ 32% (4,69¢) (13)%

Subscriptior 885¢ 7% 7,618 6% 1,24C 16%

Total license revenu $ 119,83  10(% $ 11593  10(% $ 3,90 3%

License revenue was primarily due to new licensangements executed in the period. Through thetfiree quarters of 2010, the
aggregate value of new license arrangements exkaas lower compared to the same periods in 200%ever, we executed a record
aggregate value of new license arrangements dthignépurth quarter of 2010, and as a result, tlyregate value of new license arrangem
executed for the year exceeded that of 2009. Cemsiwith our strategy to focus on follow-on sale®ur targeted customers, approximately
75% of the aggregate value of new license arrangtexecuted during 2010 was from existing custemer

The increase in perpetual license revenue durid§ 20mpared to 2009 was driven by an increasesimtimber and value of new
perpetual license arrangements. Many of our pegbétense arrangements include extended paymenstand/or additional rights of use
that delay the recognition of revenue to futuréquis. The aggregate value of payments due undse therpetual and certain subscription
licenses was $32.8 million as of December 31, 2fiifpared to $57.1 million as of December 31, 2009.

We recognize revenue for our term license arrangésraver the term of the agreement as paymentsvisdae or earlier if prepaid.
Our term license revenue decreased in 2010 compa2@D9 primarily due to more prepayments of técenses by a few customers in 2009
and the expiration of one term license in 2009. l/tarm license revenue decreased in 2010, theeggty value of new term license
arrangements executed in 2010 was significantliadrighan in 2009. As a result, the aggregate vallfigture payments due under term
licenses increased to $90.9 million as of Decer8tie2010 compared to $76.3 million as of Decemie2B09 and includes approximately
$30.9 million of term license payments that we expe recognize as revenue in 2011. Our term lieeasenue in 2011 could be higher than
$30.9 million as we complete new term license agesds in 2011 or if we receive prepayments fronstexg term license agreements. A
change in the mix between perpetual and term leansangements executed, which varies based oonecesheeds, can cause our revenu
vary materially quarter to quarter.
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Subscription revenue primarily relates to our ageaments that include a right to unspecified fupn@ducts and is recognized ratably
over the term of the arrangement. The increasabsaiption revenue during 2010 compared to 2009 dvee to a new customer arrangement
that began in the third quarter of 2009 and coweiihtinrough all of 2010. The timing of scheduledmamts under customer arrangements and
a change in a customer’s selection of a renewapan cause our subscription revenue to varytgusr quarter.

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31, Increase
2010

2009

Maintenance revenut
Maintenance $ 83,87¢ $ 50,09¢ $ 33,77 67%

The increase in maintenance revenue during 201@awed to 2009 was primarily due to the $12.1 millio maintenance revenue
attributable to the recognition of the fair valdedeferred maintenance revenue acquired from Chotdind the continued increase in the
aggregate value of the installed base of our soéwa

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31, Increase

2010 2009
Professional services revent
Consulting service $ 126,28 95% $ 93,91 9%6% $ 32,37. 34%
Training 6,59¢ % 4,07C 4% 2,52¢  62%
Total Professional servici $ 132,88: 10C% $ 97,98 10(% $ 34,90: 36%

Professional services are primarily consulting mewrelated to new license implementations. Theese in consulting services and
training revenue during 2010 compared to 2009 wisauily due to a higher demand for these serviodgorth America associated with new
license arrangements executed in the later p&®@9 and includes approximately $3.6 million ofe@rue associated with professional
services arrangements existing at the acquisitae df Chordiant.

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31, Increase

2010 2009
Gross Profit
Software licens $ 115,53 $ 115,81 $ (277 n/m
Maintenance 72,831 43,89¢ 28,94 66%
Professional service 19,49: 13,36 6,12 46%
Total gross profi $ 207,86! $ 173,07¢ $ 34,78 20%
Total gross profit percel 62% 66%
Software license gross profit perct 96% 10(%
Maintenance gross profit perce 87% 88%
Professional services gross profit perc 15% 14%

n/m — not meaningful

The decrease in software license gross profit pebaring 2010 compared to 2009 was due to the @ation of acquired
technology intangibles related to Chordiant.
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Gross profit percent for maintenance and profesdiservices during 2010 were relatively unchangedmared to 2009.

Year Ended December 31,

(Dollars in thousands Increase
2010 2009
Amortization of intangibles:
Cost of software licens $ 423 % 12  $ 4,11 n/m
Selling and marketin 3,28¢ — 3,28¢ n/m
General and administratiy 18E 20 16E n/m
$ 7,701 $ 141 $ 7,56( n/m

n/m — not meaningful

The increase in amortization expense during 20h@pawed to 2009 was due to the amortization assatiaith $88 million of
acquired intangible assets recognized as a refstile@urchase price allocation of Chordiant. Tdkentifiable intangible assets are expected to
be amortized over a weighted-average period oj8a4s on a straight-line basis.

Operating expenses

Year Ended December 31,

(Dollars in thousands Increase
2010 2009
Selling and marketing
Selling and marketin $ 116,23 $ 74,37 $ 41,85 56%
As a percent of total reveni 35% 28%
Selling and marketing headcot 377 258 124 49%

We significantly increased sales hiring in thetfiralf of 2010 in order to target new accounts ssrxpanded geographies and to
create additional sales capacity for future peridtie increase in selling and marketing expenseaspaienarily due to a $23.3 million incree
in compensation and benefit expenses associatachwibher headcount, a $3.3 million increase in diration expense related to the acquired
Chordiant customer related intangibles, a $3.9onilincrease in travel expenses, a $3.2 milliomease in expenses related to marketing
programs, including our 2010 PegaWORLD user confeeWe did not host a PegaWORLD conference in 2008 increase was also due
to a $1.0 million increase in contractor servi@$1.0 million increase in telecom expenses, a 80ll®n increase in training expenses and a
$0.3 million increase in agency and recruiting egss.

Year Ended December 31,

(Dollars in thousands Increase
2010 2009
Research and developme
Research and developme $ 55,19 $ 38,86 $ 16,33 42%
As a percent of total reveni 16% 15%
Research and development headct 397 222 17t 79%

The increase in headcount reflected growth in ndian research facility as well as new employeesifthe Chordiant acquisition.
The increase in offshore headcount lowered oura@eecompensation expense per employee.
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The increase in research and development expenseg @010 compared to 2009 was due to an $11leomihcrease in
compensation and benefit expenses associated ighlkrheadcount, a $1.4 million increase in engingecontractor expenses, a $0.6 mill
increase in travel expenses, and a $0.5 millioreeme in depreciation and equipment related expense

Year Ended December 31,

(Dollars in thousands Increase
2010 2009
General and administrativ
General and administrati\ $ 25,03 $ 18,01 $ 7,01 39%
As a percent of total reveni 7% 7%
General and administrative headco 18C 144 36 25%

The general and administrative expenses during 2@d@ded $1.1 million of compensation and benefipenses for Chordiant
employees who were in transitional roles that ertdethe end of the third quarter of 2010.

The increase in general and administrative expethsesg 2010 compared to 2009 was primarily dua $2.2 million increase in
compensation and benefit expenses associated ighiettheadcount, a $1.3 million increase in contraexpenses, a $1.2 million increase in
professional fees, and a $1.2 million increaseuinmmn-income tax reserves.

Acquisition-related costs

During 2010, we incurred $5.9 million of acquisiticelated costs associated with the Chordiant a@epn. These costs consisted of
approximately $3.1 million of due diligence costgladvisory and legal transaction fees, approxily&@.8 million of valuation and tax
consulting fees, approximately $1.6 million of legasts associated with acquired litigation, andragimately $0.4 million of integration ar
other expenses.

Restructuring cost:

Restructuring costs included approximately $6.3iomlof severance and related benefit costs rezegniluring the second and third
quarters of 2010 for the reduction of approximatypersonnel as a result of the integration ofr@iant. These personnel were in redundant
roles, primarily in general and administrative ftiogs.

In connection with our evaluation of our combinedilities, we approved a plan to eliminate one netdunt facility. We ceased use of
this space during the fourth quarter of 2010 ardnded approximately $1.6 million of restructurexpenses, consisting of future lease
payments and demising costs, net of estimated asbli@come for this space.

Stocl-based compensation

We recognize stock-based compensation expenseiassbwith equity awards in our consolidated statets of operations based on
the fair value of these awards at the date of grant

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31, Increase

2010 2009
Stocl-based compensatio
Cost of service $ 1,82 $ 1,09¢ $ 72¢ 67%
Operating expenst 4,92( 3,571 1,34 38%
Total stocl-based compensation before 6,74¢ 4,67 $2,072 44%
Income tax benef (2,185 (1,68¢)
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The increase in stock-based compensation exper&¥ hcompared to 2009 was primarily due to areiase in the number of
employees electing to receive 50% of their corpoiatentive compensation plan (“CICP”) in RSUs anthe number of new hire stock-
based grants. As of December 31, 2010, we had =ppately $9.5 million of unrecognized stock-basethpensation expense, net of
estimated forfeitures, related to the unvested@ouf our equity awards that is expected to begezed over a weighted-average period of
approximately 2.3 years. See Note 15 “Stock-Basmuggnsationin the notes to the accompanying audited conselitifibancial statemen
for further information on our stock-based awards.

Non-operating income and (expenses), net

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31, Change
2010 2009
Foreign currency transaction (loss) ge $ (5,569 $ 2,08t $(7,652) n/m
Interest income, ne 883 3,14« (2,267 (72%
Installment receivable interest incol 25E 347 (92 (271)%
Other income, ne 814 22 79z n/m
$ (3,61 $ 5,59I $(9,217) n/m

n/m — not meaningful

Foreign currency transaction losses in 2010 congp@rgains in 2009 were due to the significant dase in the value of the British
pound and the Euro relative to the U.S. dollar taedhigher total amount of foreign currency denated net assets held in the U.S. during
2010, consisting primarily of cash and receivablesa result of our acquisition of Chordiant, weanded our international operations. We
hold U.S. dollars in these foreign operations whosetional currency is the Euro, which partialfysets our exposure to foreign currency
transaction losses related to foreign currencié&$tiyeour U.S. operating company. See Item 7A. “Qitative and Qualitative Disclosure
about Market Risk” for further discussion of ourdign currency exchange risk.

The decrease in interest income during 2010 condpar2009 was due to the sale of our marketablergexs we used to pay for the
Chordiant acquisition.

Other income during 2010 includes a $0.6 millicalimed gain on the sale of shares of a closely-peicite company.

(Benefit) provision for income taxes

The (benefit) provision for income taxes representsent and future amounts owed for federal, statd foreign taxes. During 2010
and 2009, we recorded a $0.3 million benefit a®d% 2 million provision, respectively, which resdtin an effective tax rate of (4.9%) and
32.1%, respectively.

During 2010, we recorded a valuation allowanceragjatate credits and a discrete item relatedegmémdeductible portion of
acquisition-related costs we incurred during 2@#8ich reduced our tax benefit by approximately $Riion and $0.7 million, respectively.
The consolidation of Chordiant’s operations hadjaiicant impact on our consolidated state appartent factors. As a result of this
change, we recorded a valuation allowance agagmiiin state credits.

Our effective income tax rate for 2009 was below statutory federal income tax rate due to a $Gll&mbenefit related to the
current period domestic operating activities, @3%4illion benefit from tax-exempt income, and a8illion reduction in the Company’s
reserve for uncertain tax positions related tostttlement of the Company’s income tax audit whih t/nited Kingdom government and tax
positions of prior years for which the statuteiofitations had expired. These benefits were péytafset by $0.4 million of permanent
differences, primarily related to nondeductible leeand entertainment expenses.
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As of December 31, 2010, unrecognized tax ben@fitded approximately $20.3 million, all of whidhréecognized, would decrease
our effective tax rate. However, approximately $1rillion of these unrecognized tax benefits retatacquired NOLs and research tax
credits, which if recognized, would be subjectitaitations on use. We expected that the changdsinnrecognized benefits within the next
twelve months would be approximately $2 million amoluld reduce our effective tax rate.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

(in thousands Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009
Cash provided by (used ir
Operating activitie: $ 39,81 $ 18,41 $ 49,58
Investing activities (45,389 6,841 (18,167
Financing activitie: (6,312 (13,25) (5,049
Effect of exchange rate on ce 1,111 (4,739 1,401
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equis $ (10,779 $ 7,27( $  27,71(
As of December 31,
2011 2010 2009
Total cash, cash equivalents, and marketable sies $ 11143 $ 87,25 $ 202,65:

We have funded our operations primarily from casivigled by operations and we expect to continudifumour operations in this
manner in 2012.

The increase in cash, cash equivalents, and méatketacurities in 2011 compared to 2010 was prigndtie to $39.8 million of cash
provided by operations partially offset by $11.1lio of repurchases of our common stock. The desen cash, cash equivalents, and
marketable securities in 2010 compared to 2009psiazarily due to our acquisition of Chordiant, f@hich we paid $109.2 million in cash,
net of approximately $47.6 million of cash acquirétbrking capital was $89.7 million as of DecemBgr 2011 compared to $73.6 million
of December 31, 2010.

On June 29, 2011, we entered into a lease arramgdareour new office headquarters in Cambridgesiéahusetts commencing on
July 1, 2011 and terminating on December 31, 26aBject to our option to extend for two additiofiad-year periods. We will continue to
pay our monthly rent under the lease for our curodfices in Cambridge, Massachusetts, througtréhgaining term of that lease, which is
scheduled to expire on May 31, 2013. The new laassmgement provides us with a rent-free periodiferremaining term of the current
lease, for the same amount of space covered byutihent lease. The future rental payments due uhaemew lease arrangement total $75.8
million. We invested approximately $4.6 million29011 and we expect to invest approximately $10IBamiin the first half of 2012 for
furniture, fixtures, IT equipment, and leaseholgiovements for our new office headquarters.

We paid approximately $3.8 million in severance egldted benefit costs and lease payments in 20t@rinection with our
restructuring. The remaining $1 million in severand related benefit costs and lease paymentbevphid by the end of 2013.

We believe that our current cash, cash equivalemsketable securities, and cash from operatio29iri will be sufficient to fund
our operations and our share repurchase prograat feast the next 12 months. Approximately $26ilian of our cash and cash equivale
is held in our foreign subsidiaries. If it becansz@ssary to repatriate these funds, we may bereghia pay U.S. tax, net of any applicable
foreign tax credits, upon repatriation. We consttherearnings of our foreign subsidiaries to benaerently reinvested and, as a result, U.S.
taxes on such earnings are not provided. It is atiral to estimate the amount of U.S. tax we could
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have to pay upon repatriation due to the complefithe foreign tax credit calculations and becauseconsider our earnings permanently
reinvested. There can be no assurance that changesplans or other events affecting our operetiwill not result in materially accelerated
or unexpected expenditures.

Cash provided by operating activities

The $21.4 million increase in cash provided by afieg activities in 2011 compared to 2010 was prilypaue to the increase in our
net income and the $14.6 million increase in defitrevenue, partially offset by the $18.5 milliogriease in accounts receivable resulting
from the increase and timing of billings, and ravemecognition. The $31.2 million decrease in gasivided by operating activities in 2010
compared to 2009 was primarily due to the decréasar net income and the $23.4 million increasadoounts receivable.

Future Cash Receipts from License Arrangements

Total contractual future cash receipts due fromenxtisting license agreements was approximately $20@lion as of December 31, 2011
compared to $123.7 million as of December 31, 20h@. future cash receipts due as of December 311, @ summarized as follows:

Other contractual

Contractual license payments nc
payments for term
licenses not recorded on recorded on the
As of December 31,(in thousands the balance sheet (1) balance sheet (2) Total
2012 $ 37,74 $ 22,59( $ 60,33:
2013 36,70: 6,681 43,38:
2014 33,73% 8,31¢ 42,05¢
2015 29,51 4,601 34,11
2016 and thereaftt 23,73: 6,25¢ 29,99:
Total $ 161,42° $ 48,44 $209,87-

(1) These amounts will be recognized as revenue ifutinee over the term of the agreement as paymeusrbe due or earlier if prepa

(2) These amounts will be recognized as reventigtime periods and relate to perpetual and sultsmnificenses with extended payment
terms and/or additional rights of u:

Cash (used in) provided by investing activities

During 2011, cash used in investing activities yamharily for purchases of marketable debt se@sifor $57.2 million, partially
offset by the proceeds received from the salesynitias and called marketable debt securities df 2nillion. We also invested $9.8 million
in property and equipment, primarily leasehold ioygments, computer equipment and furniture andri@d for our U.S. and UK offices.

During the first quarter of 2010, we sold our maakde securities to pay for the Chordiant acquisitDuring the second quarter of
2010, we paid $109.2 million, net of cash acquited;omplete the Chordiant acquisition. During 2046 invested $3.6 million in computer
equipment, leasehold improvements and furniturefatares primarily for our Cambridge location a#idl.2 million in capitalized software
primarily related to our implementation of an acetug system.

During 2009, cash used in investing activities washarily for purchases of marketable debt se@sifor $79.4 million, partially
offset by the proceeds received from the salesyritias and called marketable debt securities gt Sénillion.
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Cash used in financing activities

Net cash used in financing activities during 22010, and 2009, was primarily for repurchases ofoommon stock and the
payment of our quarterly dividend. Since 2004, Board of Directors has approved annual stock rdyase programs that have authorizec
repurchase up to $86.3 million of our common stédwkof December 31, 2011, approximately $65.9 onllhas been repurchased,
approximately $13.9 million remains available fepurchase and approximately $6.4 million expiradcRases under these programs have
been made on the open market.

Common stock repurchases

The following table is a summary of our repurchastvity under all of our stock repurchase progralmsng 2011, 2010, and 2009:

(Dollars in thousands 2011 2010 2009

Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount
Prior year authorizations at January 1, $ 13,23 $ 15,77 $ 12,86
Authorizations 5,59( 5,75( 15,00¢(
Repurchases pa 137,42¢ (4,815 294,05¢ (8,272) 673,06¢ (11,94
Repurchases unsettl 1,68¢ (49 53¢ (20 3,89¢ (139
Authorized dollars remaining as of December $ 13,96 $ 13,23’ $ 15,77¢

In addition to the share repurchases made undeepurchase programs, we net settled the majoritpoemployee stock options
exercised and RSUs vested. During 2011 and 20Latydtplders net settled their equity awards repnéiag the right to purchase a total of
704,000 and 889,000 shares, respectively, of wiinij 426,000 and 493,000 shares respectively, ¥gsteed. The balance of the shares was
surrendered to us to pay for the exercise pricetlam@pplicable taxes. During 2011 and 2010, inktéaeceiving cash from these equity
holders, we withheld shares with a value of $6.@oniand $7.0 million, respectively, for paymerittaxes, and $4.3 million and $6.7 millic
respectively, for payment of the exercise prices Value of share repurchases and shares withhetg:f@ettlement of our employee stock
option exercises and vesting of RSUs offset theg®ds received under our various share-based caatp@nplans during 2011, 2010, and
2009.

Dividends

We declared a cash dividend of $0.12 per sharedoh of the years ended December 31, 2011, 20d®G09, and paid cash
dividends of $4.5 million, $4.4 million, and $4.3lkon, in 2011, 2010, and 2009, respectively slour current intention to pay a quarterly
cash dividend of $0.03 per share to shareholdemscofrd as of the first trading day of each quattewever, the Board of Directors may
terminate or modify this dividend program at amgeiwithout notice.

Contractual obligations

As of December 31, 2011, we had material purchbigations for customer support and consulting isesyand payments under
operating leases. Our lease arrangement for ournoffitae headquarters expires in 2023, subject toption to extend for two additional five-
year periods. We also lease space for our othixesfiinder nc-cancelable operating leases that expire at vadatss through 2020.
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As of December 31, 2011, our known contractualgattions, including future minimum rental paymemguired under operating
leases with non-cancelable terms in excess of eaewere as follows:

Payment due by period

Contractual obligations: 2013 & 2015 & 2017 &

(in thousands) Total 2012 2014 2016 Thereafter Other

Purchase obligations (1) $ 1,68: $ 1,68: $ —  $ — 3 — 3 —

Liability for uncertain tax positions (: 9,46¢ — — — — 9,46¢

Operating lease obligations ( 100,79: 10,80: 18,57( 16,75¢ 54,667 —
Total $ 11194 $ 1248 $ 1857 $ 16,75 $ 5466 $ 9,46

(1) Represents the fixed or minimum amounts due unarhase obligations for customer support and ctinguservices

(2) As of December 31, 2011, our recorded liability uncertain tax positions was approximately $8iion. We are unable to reasonably
estimate the timing of the cash outflow due to utageties in the timing of the effective settlemeftax positions

(3) Includes deferred rent of approximately $1.4iam included in accrued expenses and approximéigl3 million in other long-term
liabilities in the accompanying audited consolidab@lance sheet as of December 31, 2

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES, SIGNIFICANT JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES

Management’s discussion and analysis of the firgmcindition and results of operations is basedhupo consolidated financial
statements, which have been prepared in accordeititaccounting principles generally accepted mthS. and the rules and regulations of
the SEC for annual financial reporting. The prepansof these financial statements requires usakerestimates and judgments that affect
the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, reesrand expenses, and related disclosure of contiagsets and liabilities. We base our
estimates and judgments on historical experienoewledge of current conditions and beliefs of wdwild occur in the future given availal
information. We consider the following accountimgipies to be both those most important to thenagel of our financial condition and
those that require the most subjective judgmeractifial results differ significantly from managertieestimates and projections, there could
be a material effect on our financial statements.

Revenue recognitiol

Our revenue is derived primarily from software fises, maintenance fees related to our softwanesiése and professional services.
Our license arrangements, whether involving a gagbdicense or a term license, generally contaitilie elements, including professional
consulting services, training, and software maiate®e services.

Software revenue recognition requires judgmentuifing whether a software arrangement includesipielelements, and if so,
whether vendor-specific objective evidence (“VSO#&f'fair value exists for those elements. The anofiarrangement consideration
allocated to undelivered elements is based on 8@ of fair value for those elements and recogniethose elements are delivered. Any
remaining portion of the total arrangement fedlscated to the software license, the first delegeelement. Revenue is recognized for each
element when all of the revenue recognition critéxave been met.
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Changes in the mix of the elements in a softwar@n@ement, the ability to identify VSOE for thodengents, the fair value of the
respective elements, and changes to a producirsagst life cycle could materially impact the ambahearned and unearned revenue.

Before we can recognize revenue, the following tmasic criteria must be met:

* Persuasive evidence of an arrangemeghs evidence of the existence of an arrangementjsgea contract signed by the customer for
software licenses and a statement of work for gifmal services. In the event the customer isellex we ensure a binding agreement
exists between the reseller and end user of thea.

» Delivery of product—Software is delivered electronically or shipped disk media.

* Fee is fixed or determinable-We assess whether a fee is fixed or determinadlileeabutset of the arrangement. In addition, veess
whether contract modifications to an existing temmangement constitute a concession. Our softvi@ade agreements do not incluc
right of return.

* Collection of fee is probable-We assess the probability of collecting from eagstomer at the outset of the arrangement based on
number of factors, including the customer’s payniesiiory, its current creditworthiness, econominditions in the customes’industry
and geographic location, and general economic tiondi If in our judgment collection of a fee istpoobable, revenue is recognized as
cash is collected, provided all other conditionsréavenue recognition have been met.

Software license revenue

Perpetual software license fees are recognizeevanue when the software is delivered, any accepteguired by contract that is
not perfunctory is obtained, no significant obligas or contingencies exist related to the softvedier than maintenance support, and all
other revenue recognition criteria are met.

Term software license fees are generally payable monthly basis under license agreements thataitpihave a three to five-year
term and may be renewed for additional terms attistomer’s option.

As a result of our focus on frequent sales to artgdted customers, our strategy to sell initiahtécensing agreements to those
customers with the goal to generate follow-on salad as a result of extended payment terms, vagynéze term license revenue over the
term of the agreement as payments become duelir égprepaid, provided all other criteria forvenue recognition have been met.

Until 2005, the majority of our term license arrangents were larger agreements with extended payerans that did not typically
result in follow-on license agreements. We havéstoty of successfully collecting payments under ¢higinal payment terms for these
arrangements, therefore, we recognized the prestund of the future term license payments uponoenst acceptance, provided that no
significant obligations or contingencies exist tethto the software, other than maintenance supadt provided all other criteria for revenue
recognition had been met. A portion of the licefesss payable under these agreements (equal tafibvedce between the total license
payments and the discounted present value of {hegments) was initially deferred and recognizethatallment receivable interest income
(and is not part of total revenue) over the licetesm. We no longer utilize this business modelstaftware license transactions. As of
December 31, 2011, the remaining balance of thregaliment receivables totaled approximately $1ilBan.

Subscription revenue primarily consists of licemaajntenance and bundled services revenue recaoizeur license arrangements
that include a right to unspecified future produetkich is recognized ratably over the term ofghbscription period.
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Maintenance revenue

First-year maintenance typically is sold with tleéated software license and renewed on an annsa theereafter. Maintenance
revenue is deferred and recognized ratably ovetettme of the support period, which is generally gaar and subject to annual renewals.
Perpetual license maintenance obligations are basaseparately stated renewal rates in the arragigietinat are substantive and therefore
represent VSOE of fair value. Term license arrarg@minclude separately stated maintenance feewande separate sales to determine
VSOE of fair value.

Professional services revenu

Our professional services revenue is compriseeed for consulting services, including softwarelengentation, training,
reimbursable expenses and sales of our Pega Césagktform offering (“Pega Cloud”). Consultingwees may be provided on a “stand-
alone” basis or bundled with a license and softwaaetenance services.

Revenue from “stand-alone” training services ansadting services under time and materials corgrizatecognized as services are
performed. We have VSOE of fair value for our tmagnservices and consulting services under timenaatrials contracts in North America
and Europe, other than Spain.

Consulting services may be provided on a fixedephasis. We do not have VSOE of fair value fordiggice services or time and
materials services in certain geographical regidvisen these services are part of a multiple elemeahgement, and the services are not
essential to the functionality of the software, artbn services, including maintenance, are the ontielivered element, we recognize the
revenue from the total arrangement ratably ovetdhger of the software maintenance period or greise period. Revenue from fixed-price
services that are not bundled with a software Bees generally recognized ratably during the serpieriod, which is typically less than four
months.

Revenue from stand-alone sales of Pega Cloud dgnéed ratably over the term of the service. Wingpmlementation services are
sold together with our Pega Cloud offering and ¢h&srvices have stand-alone value to the custameeaccount for these services separately
from our Pega Cloud offering. Since these multigliement arrangements are not software license, sedeapply a selling price hierarchy.
Under the selling price hierarchy, third-party ende of selling price (“TPEWill be considered if VSOE does not exist, andmeated sellin
price (“ESP”) will be used if neither VSOE nor ThEavailable. Generally, we are not able to deteenTiPE as our sales strategy is
customized to the needs of our customers and oualupts or services are dissimilar to comparabléyrets or services in the marketplace. In
determining ESP, we apply significant judgment asweigh a variety of factors, based on the factsc@rtumstances of the arrangement. We
typically arrive at an ESP for a service that is swd separately by considering company-speditdrs such as geographies, competitive
landscape, and pricing practices used to establiskled pricing and discounting.

Warranties and Indemnification

We warrant to our customers that our software petsdwill conform to documented specifications fdimaited period. We have not
experienced significant claims related to softwaagranties beyond the scope of maintenance suppbith we are already obligated to
provide, and consequently we have not establiskeglves for warranty obligations.

Our agreements with customers generally requite isdemnify the customer against claims that aftware infringes third party
patent, copyright, trademark or other proprietégits. Such indemnification obligations are gergdahited in a variety of industry-standard
respects, including our right to replace an infimggproduct. As of December 31, 2011, we had npeaenced any material losses related to
these indemnification obligations and no materaines were outstanding. See Note 13 “Commitments an
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Contingenciesin the accompanying notes to the audited conseliifibancial statements for a discussion of théeseént of claims assum:
in the acquisition of Chordiant related to certsdftware that was sold by Chordiant.

Deferred revenue

Deferred software license revenue typically resiutimn customer billings for which all of the critetto recognize revenue have not
been met. Deferred maintenance revenue repressisee license updates and product support castthat are typically billed in advance
and are recognized ratably over the support periddierred professional services revenue represavisnced billings for consulting and
training services that are recognized as the ses\ace performed.

Allowance for doubtful accounts and allowance foalges credit memo

We record allowances for estimates of sales cmadihos for services rendered. We base these estimatastorical analyses of
sales credit memos and assumptions about futurésaad experience with customer disputes. If veal ubfferent assumptions in calculati
the allowance, adjustments would be reflected as@és to revenue.

We maintain an allowance for doubtful accountsefstiimated losses resulting from the inability of oustomers to make required
payments. Our estimates are based on the compositihe accounts receivable aging, historical dalots, changes in payment patterns,
customer creditworthiness and current economiaseli we used different assumptions, or if thaficial condition of customers were to
deteriorate that resulted in their inability to reakequired payments, additional provisions for dfullaccounts would be required and would
increase bad debt expense.

Gooduwill and Intangible Assets Impairment

Gooduwill represents the residual purchase price paa business combination after all identifiededs and liabilities have been
recorded. Goodwill is not amortized, but priorhe@ Company’s adoption of the Financial Accountitgn8ards Board “FASB” Accounting
Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2011-08rtangibles-Goodwill and Other (Topic 350)” (“ASW21-08"), was tested annually in the fourth
quarter for impairment or between annual testsdfdators of potential impairment exist. We adopd&U 2011-08 in the fourth quarter of
2011, performed our qualitative assessment andwded it was not more likely than not that the faifue of our single reporting unit was
less than its carrying value. In 2010 and 2009¢cw@mapared the carrying value of our reporting umiit$ fair value. Had the fair value of the
reporting unit been less than its carrying amowetwould have determined the implied fair valuehef goodwill and evaluated it for
impairment.

We evaluate our intangible assets for impairmergmelver events or changes in circumstances indicatéhe carrying amount of such
assets may not be recoverable. In evaluating pgateémpairment of these assets, we specificallysoder whether any indicators of
impairment are present, including, but not limited

. whether there has been a significant adverse charthe business climate that affects the valugnodsset
. whether there has been a significant change imsttent or manner in which an asset is used;
. whether there is an expectation that the assebwifiold or disposed of before the end of its pally estimated useful life

If indicators of impairment are present, we compheeestimated undiscounted cash flows that theifépasset is expected to
generate to its carrying value. These estimates\ewsignificant subjectivity. If such assets anagidered to be impaired, the impairment to
be recognized is measured by the amount by whigledhrying amount of the asset exceeds its faireval
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Valuation of Acquired Intangible Assets

In connection with our acquisition of Chordiant, reeorded $88 million of intangible assets, relgtmincipally to customer related
intangible assets and acquired technology. Theatialu process used to calculate the values assigrtbdse acquired intangible assets was
complex and involved significant estimation relatbe our financial projections. The principal compot of the valuation process was the
determination of discounted future cash flows, \Wwhias based on a humber of estimates and assumpfibare was inherent uncertainty
involved with this estimation process. The estimated assumptions that are most sensitive inchugdegre not limited to:

. the selection of an appropriate discount r

. the required return on all assets employed by #heed asset to generate future inco

. our projected overall revenue growth and mix oferaye from a market participis perspective
. our gross margin estimates (which are highly depetdn our mix of revenue

. our technology life cycles

. the attrition rate of our custome

. our planned level of operating expens

Accounting for Income Taxe:

We recognize deferred tax assets and liabilitiestduemporary differences between the book antbaaes of recorded assets and
liabilities. Future realization of our deferred tssets ultimately depends on the existence atrff taxable income within the available
carryback or carryforward periods. Sources of tbxarome include future reversals of existing tadgg¢emporary differences, future taxable
income, taxable income in prior carryback years, @x planning strategies. We record a valuatitowaince to reduce our deferred tax assets
to an amount we believe is more likely than ndteéaealized. Changes in our valuation allowanceathpncome tax expense in the period of
adjustment. Our deferred tax valuation allowaneggiire significant judgment and uncertainties,udaohg assumptions about future taxable
income that are based on historical and projectiatmation.

We determined that we may utilize approximately@85million of acquired Chordiant federal and fgrenet operating losses (“NOLs”
of which approximately $127.2 million remained dahie as of December 31, 2011. The acquired fedétdls are subject to annual
limitations through 2029. As a result of the pussharice allocation, we recorded deferred tax asdeapproximately $52.3 million related to
these acquired NOLs. If our taxable income is moisistent with our expectations or the timing aome is not within the applicable
carryforward period, we may be required to esthldivaluation allowance on all or a portion of thedeferred tax assets.

We assess our income tax positions and recordemefits based upon management’s evaluation ofattts,fcircumstances, and
information available at the reporting date. Farsintax positions where it is more-likely-than-tiatt a tax benefit will be sustained, we
record the largest amount of tax benefit with aggethan 50 percent likelihood of being realizpdruultimate settlement with a taxing
authority having full knowledge of all relevantammation. For those income tax positions whers itdt more-likely-than-not that a tax
benefit will be sustained, no tax benefit is redegd in the financial statements. We classify lieibs for uncertain tax positions as non-
current liabilities unless the uncertainty is expdado be resolved within one year. We classifgriest and penalties on uncertain tax positions
as income tax expense.
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As a global company, we use significant judgmertdaiculate and provide for income taxes in eactheftax jurisdictions in which we
operate. In the ordinary course of our businegsgethre transactions and calculations undertak@sevhltimate tax outcome cannot be
certain. Some of these uncertainties arise as sequience of transfer pricing for transactions with subsidiaries and nexus and tax credit
estimates. In addition, the calculation of acquieedattributes and the associated limitationscaraplex. We estimate our exposure to
unfavorable outcomes related to these uncertaiatidsestimate the probability for such outcomes.

Although we believe our estimates are reasonabl@ssurance can be given that the final tax outasitheot be different from what is
reflected in our historical income tax provisioreturns, and accruals. Such differences, or chaingestimates relating to potential
differences, could have a material impact on oocoine tax provision and operating results in théopgen which such a determination is
made.

See Note 16 “Income Taxes” in the notes to the mpamying audited consolidated financial statemfmtfurther information.

Stocl-based compensation

We recognize stock-based compensation expenseiassbwith equity awards in our consolidated statets of operations based on
the fair value of these awards at the date of g@tock-based compensation is recognized overetipgisite service period, which is generally
the vesting period of the equity award, and is stéjgh each period for anticipated forfeitures. Wemgaize stock-based compensation using
the ratable method, which treats each vesting l@mas if it were an individual grant.

We periodically grant stock options and RSUs ffixad number of shares to employees and non-emplByectors. RSUs deliver
to the recipient a right to receive a specified benof shares of our common stock upon vestingphtetx withholding. Unlike stock options,
there is no cost to the employee at share issuiieealue our RSUs at the fair value of our comrsitmtk on the grant date, which is the
closing price of our common stock on the grant dates the present value of expected dividendseasrmployee is not entitled to dividends
during the requisite service period. The exerciseefor stock options is greater than or equdhtofair market value of the shares at the date
of the grant.

We estimate the fair value of stock options ushgBlack-Scholes option valuation model, which reggius to make estimates of
key assumptions including the expected term obteon, the expected volatility of our stock primeer the option’s expected term, the risk-
free interest rate over the optisréxpected term, and our expected annual dividexid. yhe expected term of options granted is eefifrom
historical data on employee exercises and postrgesmployment termination behavior. The expectedtility is based on the historical
volatility of our stock price. The expected anndizidend yield is based on the expected annuatidivil of $0.12 per share divided by the
average stock price. The risk-free interest ratmsed on the yield of zero-coupon U.S. Treaswyriées for a period that is commensurate
with the expected option term at the time of gr#frfactors change and we employ different assuomgtiin future periods, the compensation
expense that we record may differ significantlyniravhat we have recorded in the current period.

The choice of a valuation model, and the underlgsgumptions used in applying that model, invokigrificant judgment. Our
judgment reflects our assessment of the most atecorethod of valuing the stock options we issuetham our historical experienc
knowledge of current conditions, and beliefs of tmwuld occur in the future given available infotioa. Our judgment could change over
time as additional information becomes availablagpor the facts underlying our assumptions chawge time, and any change in our
judgments could have a material effect on our fam@rstatements

See Note 15 “Stock-Based Compensation” in the rtotése accompanying audited consolidated finarstetements for further
information.
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ITEM 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure about Marke Risk

Market risk represents the risk of loss that mdgaifus due to adverse changes in financial mamegs and rates. Our market risk
exposure is primarily related to fluctuations imefign exchange rates and interest rates.

Foreign currency exposure

We derived approximately 48%, 41%, and 34%, oftotal revenue from sales to customers based outéitie U.S. in 2011, 2010,
and 2009, respectively. Our international license professional services sales have increasinglgrbe denominated in foreign currencies.
However, the operating expenses of our foreignaters are also primarily denominated in foreigrrencies, which partially offset our
foreign currency exposure. A decrease in the vafdereign currencies, particularly the British pmand the Euro relative to the U.S. dollar,
could adversely impact our revenues and operatisglts.

Beginning in the second quarter of 2011, we havered into forward foreign currency contracts taage our exposure to changes
in foreign currency exchange rates affecting fareigrrency denominated accounts receivable andtezldhoy our U.S. operating company.

Our U.S. operating company invoices most of oueifpm customers in foreign currencies, so it holshcand receivables
denominated in these foreign currencies. Our UpSrating company’s functional currency is the W@&lar. Therefore, when there are
changes in the foreign currency exchange ratesiseéne U.S. dollar, we recognize a foreign curremagsaction gain or (loss) in our
consolidated statements of operations. In additi@nhave intercompany accounts that are eliminatednsolidation, but that expose us to
foreign currency exchange rate fluctuation, whithr@corded as foreign currency transaction gairfsses) in our consolidated statements
of operations.

We are primarily exposed to changes in the valub@furo and British pound relative to the U.SlatoWe have not designated the
forward foreign currency contracts as hedging umagnts and as a result, we record their fair vatube end of each reporting period in our
consolidated balance sheet as other current dssefsrealized gains and accrued expenses for liwgddosses, with any fluctuations in the
value of these contracts recognized in other ingorag in our consolidated statements of operatiGeserally, we enter into contracts with
terms of 60 days or less.

The fluctuations in the value of these forward fgnecurrency contracts partially offset the gaind éosses from the remeasurement
or settlement of the foreign currency denominatambants receivable and cash held by the U.S. apgredbmpany, thus mitigating the
volatility.

During 2011, we entered into and settled forwaréifm currency contracts to sell 28.5 million Euansl 19.5 million British pounds
and to receive $71.4 million. As of December 311 20ve did not have any forward foreign currencgteacts outstanding. During 2011, the
total change in the fair value of our forward fgreicurrency contracts recorded in other income,was$ a net gain of $0.8 million.

The impact on net income of the gains recordederidrward foreign currency contracts, which iduded in other income, net, in
the accompanying consolidated statements of opasatand the foreign currency transaction lossesrded on the remeasurement and
settlement of the foreign currency denominatedtassich is included in foreign currency transaet{loss) gain in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations, was a setdbapproximately $1.2 million for the year endstember 31, 2011. This net loss was
primarily due to timing of settlement of interconmgebalances and foreign currency denominated celshas of the end of the period, for
which we did not have forward currency contracts.

Interest rate exposure

As of December 31, 2011, we had $51.1 million ofketable debt securities, which consisted of gawennt sponsored enterprise bonds,
corporate bonds, and municipal bonds. Due to tleeadvshort-term remaining maturities of our magkd¢ debt securities, our interest rate
exposure is not significant. As of December 31,12@1200 basis point increase in market interéssnaould have reduced the fair value of
our fixed rate marketable debt securities by apprately $1.2 million.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Pgstasns Inc.
Cambridge, Massachusetts

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Pegasystems Inc. and subsidiarie$Qtmpany”) as of
December 31, 2011 and 2010, and the related cdasetl statements of operations, stockholders’ gaquitl comprehensive income (loss),
and cash flows for each of the three years in gt®gd ended December 31, 2011. These financiarsttts are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to egpran opinion on these financial statements basedr audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighamioUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &amdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindrecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on tldasis, evidence supporting the amounts and disads in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting ptesiused and significant estimates made by marageas well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe thataodits provide a reasonable basis for our opinio

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statetegresent fairly, in all material respects, tin@ricial position of Pegasystems Inc.
and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2011 and 20itDthe results of their operations and their ¢asts for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2011, in conformity w&itbounting principles generally accepted in thetdthStates of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the
Company’s internal control over financial reportiag of December 31, 2011, based on the critersbkstted innternal Control—Integrated
Frameworkissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrise Treadway Commission and our report datduikaey 29, 2012
expressed an unqualified opinion on the Compamg&ymal control over financial reporting.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
February 29, 2012
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PEGASYSTEMS INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

ASSETS
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel
Marketable securitie
Total cash, cash equivalents, and marketable $ies
Trade accounts receivable, net of allowance of $926%1,15¢
Deferred income taxe
Income taxes receivab
Other current asse
Total current asse
Property and equipment, r
Long-term deferred income tax
Long-term other asse
Intangible assets, n
Goodwill
Total asset

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl
Accrued expense
Accrued compensation and related expe
Deferred revenu
Total current liabilities
Income taxes payab
Long-term deferred revent
Other lon¢-term liabilities
Total liabilities

Commitments and contingenci
Stockholder equity:
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 1,000 share®anéd; no shares issued and outstan
Common stock, $0.01 par value, 70,000 shares anéthr37,712 shares and 37,250 shares issue
outstanding
Additional paic-in capital
Retained earning
Accumulated other comprehensive incol
Net unrealized gain (loss) on availe-for-sale marketable securiti
Foreign currency translation adjustme

Total stockholdel' equity
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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As of December 31,

2011 2010
60,35 $ 71,12
51,07 16,12

111,43 87,25
98,29: 79,89¢

9,82¢ 4,77(
7,54¢ 9,26¢
4,86¢ 7,47

231,96 188,651
14,45¢ 11,01
43,28¢ 33,76

2,18¢ 2,90¢
69,36¢ 80,68
20,45 20,45

381,71 $ 337,47
10,89¢ $  6,28¢
18,33¢ 24,73
39,17 27,12
73,84( 56,90

142,241 115,05

9,547 5,78:
15,36 17,75
5,79¢ 3,221
172,95 141,80!
377 372

129,70 122,60°
77,02¢ 71,43

57 (36)
1,59z 1,29¢

208,75 195,67

381,71 $ 33747
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PEGASYSTEMS INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Year ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Revenue
Software licens $138,80° $ 119,83 $115,93¢
Maintenance 117,11( 83,87¢ 50,09¢
Professional service 160,75¢ 132,88. 97,98(
Total revenue 416,67" 336,59¢ 264,01
Cost of revenue
Cost of software licens 6,69: 4,30: 121
Cost of maintenanc 13,077 11,04: 6,20:
Cost of professional servic 145,02¢ 113,39( 84,61:
Total cost of revenu 164,79t 128,73 90,93%
Gross profit 251,87 207,86! 173,07¢
Selling and marketin 147,45 116,23( 74,37¢
Research and developmt 65,30¢ 55,19 38,86:
General and administratiy 28,19¢ 25,03« 18,017
Acquisitior-related cost 482 5,92¢ —
Restructuring cosl (62) 8,06¢ —
Total operating expens 241,38. 210,44! 131,25
Income (loss) from operatiol 10,49¢ (2,580 41,81¢
Foreign currency transaction (loss) g (935) (5,569) 2,08:
Interest income, ne 39¢ 1,13¢ 3,491
Other income, ne 85€ 814 22
Income (loss) before provision (benefit) for incotares 10,81 (6,19%) 47,41¢
Provision (benefit) for income tax 70& (30€) 15,20:
Net income (loss $ 10,10t $ (5,89) $ 32,21.
Net earnings (loss) per she
Basic $ 0.2 $ (0.1¢) $ 0.8¢
Diluted $ 0.2¢ $ (0.1¢) $ 0.8t
Weightec-average number of common shares outstar
Basic 37,49¢ 37,03 36,20¢
Diluted 39,40: 37,03 38,11
Cash dividends declared per sh $ 0.12 $ 0.12 $ 0.1

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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PEGASYSTEMS INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Balance at December 31, 2008
Repurchase of common sta
Issuance of common stock for sk-based compensation pla
Issuance of stock under Employee Stock Purchase
Exercise of common stock warral
Issuance of stock awar
Stocl-based compensation expel
Tax benefit from exercise or vesting of equity adgamet of deferred tax asset
deficiencies of $74
Cash dividends declared ($0.12 per sh
Comprehensive incom
Foreign currency translation adjustme
Net unrealized holding gain on investments avagé-for-sale, net of tax of $4
Net income
Total comprehensive incon
Balance at December 31, 20
Repurchase of common st
Issuance of common stock for sk-based compensation pla
Issuance of stock under Employee Stock Purchase
Issuance of stock awar
Stocl-based compensation expel
Value of stock options issued for acquisition oo@hant
Tax benefit from exercise or vesting of equity asgamet of deferred tax asset
deficiencies of $35
Cash dividends declared ($0.12 per sh
Comprehensive los
Foreign currency translation adjustme
Unrealized loss on securitie
Net unrealized holding loss on investments avag-for-sale, net of tax of $1
Less: reclassifications adjustment for gains inetlich net loss, net of tax of ¢
Net loss
Total comprehensive lo:
Balance at December 31, 20
Repurchase of common sta
Issuance of common stock for sk-based compensation pla
Issuance of stock under Employee Stock Purchase
Issuance of stock awar
Stocl-based compensation expel
Tax benefit from exercise or vesting of equity adgamet of deferred tax asset
deficiencies of $8:
Cash dividends declared ($0.12 per sh
Comprehensive incom:
Foreign currency translation adjustme
Unrealized gain on securitie
Net unrealized holding gain on investments avag-for-sale, net of tax of $
Net income
Total comprehensive incon
Balance at December 31, 20

Accumulated

Other Total
Additional Comprehensive Stockholders’
Paid-In Retained
Common Stock Capital Earnings Income Equity
Number
of Shares  Amount

3581 $ 356 $ 117,92t $ 53,93t $ 89t $ 173,11«
(677) (7) (12,07¢) (12,087
1,64¢ 17 (4,140 — — (4,123
15 — 33¢ — — 33t

7 — — — — —

18 — 454 454

_ = 4,21¢ — — 4,21¢

— — 14,67 — — 14,67

— — — (4,379 — (4,379

— — — — 1,31« 1,31«

— — — (523) (529

— — — 32,21: — 32,21:

$ 33,00:

36,81¢ $ 36 $ 121,38¢ $ 81,77¢ $ 1,68t $ 205,21¢
(295) 3) (8,28¢) (8,297)
69C 7 (4,720) — — (4,713)

22 — 59& — — 59&

15 — 42( — — 42
6,32¢ 6,32¢

— — SFILE — — 3,561¢

— — 3,36¢ 3,36¢
— — — (4,452 — (4,452

— — — — 14¢ 14¢
— — — — (339) (33¢)
— — — — (237) (237)
— — — (5,89)) — (5,89))
$ (6,317)

37,25( $ 372 $ 122,600 $ 71,43 $ 1,26 $ 195,67(
(13¢ (1) (4,867) (4,869
51z 6 (4,297) — — (4,287)

18 — 647 — — 647

8 — 35C — — 35C

— 8,67¢ — — 8,67¢

— — 6,57¢ — — 6,57t
— — — (4,510 — (4,510

— — — — 29¢ 29¢

— — — — 93 93

— — — 10,10¢ — 10,10¢

$ 10,497

3771 $ 37 $§ 12970 $ 77,02 $ 164 $ 20875

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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PEGASYSTEMS INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)

Operating activities
Net income (loss
Adjustment to reconcile net income (loss) to caslvided by operating activitie
Excess tax benefits from exercise or vesting oftggwards
Deferred income taxe
Depreciation and amortizatic
Amortization of investment
Stocl-based compensation expel
Foreign currency transaction Ic
Other
Change in operating assets and liabilit
Trade accounts receivat
Income taxes receivable and other current a
Accounts payable and accrued expel
Deferred revenu
Other lon¢-term assets and liabilitie
Cash provided by operating activiti
Investing activities
Purchases of marketable securi
Proceeds from maturities and called marketablerges.
Sale of marketable securiti
Payments for 2010 acquisition, net of cash acqt
Contingent consideration paid for a 2008 acquisi
Investment in property and equipmi
Cash provided by (used in) investing activit
Financing activities
Issuance of common stock for sk-based compensation pla
Excess tax benefits from exercise or vesting oftggwards
Dividend payments to sharehold:
Common stock repurchases for tax withholdings frsettlement of equity awar
Common stock repurchases under share repurchageprs
Cash used in financing activiti
Effect of exchange rate on cash and cash equi
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equis
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of

Cash and cash equivalents, end of \

Supplemental disclosure
Income taxes pai

Non-cash investing and financing activi
Dividends payabli

Year ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
$ 10,106 $ (5,89) $ 32,21
(6,65¢) (3,719 (15,417
(15,26¢) (1,574 1,41¢
17,07: 10,83¢ 2,801
84c 994 3,91(
9,02¢ 6,74¢ 4,67:
977 4,75: —
58 (95) 112
(18,509 (23,36%) 6,021
10,51¢ (1,217) (4,542)
9,041 4,51 16,31:
14,59t 23,92 63¢
7,99¢ 2,50: 1,44¢
39,81 18,41+ 49 58
(57,249 (73,619 (79,44
20,64¢ 34,42¢ 67,32
1,04¢ 161,26( —
— (109,22 —
— (250) —
(9,835) (5,74%) (6,049
(45,38%) 6,841 (18,169
2,62z 2,86¢ 4,80¢
6,65¢ 3,71¢ 15,41
(4,495) (4,441) (4,346)
(6,262) (6,982 (8,596)
(4,835) (8,40¢) (12,326)
(6,312 (13,25 (5,049)
1,111 (4,739 1,401
(10,779 7,27C 27,77
71,12; 63,85’ 36,08’
$ 6035 $§ 7112 $ 6385
$ 2566 $ 158 $ 7,02
$ 113 $ 1,116 $ 1,10¢

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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PEGASYSTEMS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION

(a) Business

The Company develops, markets, licenses, and sigppaftware to automate complex, changing busipessesses. The Company
provides implementation, consulting, training, aachnical support services to facilitate the usigsofoftware.

(b) Management estimates and reporting

The preparation of financial statements in confeymiith accounting principles generally acceptethia United States of America
("U.S.”) requires management to make estimategaaginents that affect the reported amounts of asse liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date effittencial statements and the reported amountsvehues and expenses during the periods
presented. Actual results could differ from thosgéneates. Accounts with reported amounts basedgmifisant estimates and judgments
include revenue, allowance for sales credit memefgrred income taxes, income taxes payable, iitEngssets, goodwill, accrued expen
deferred revenue, and stock-based compensation.

On June 29, 2011, the Company entered into a Eraargement for its new office headquarters in Gadgb, Massachusetts. The
Company expects to cease the use of its curreisesfin Cambridge, Massachusetts, in the secoriddh2012 and abandon certain leasehold
improvements and furniture and fixtures. Accordingh June 2011 the Company revised the remaingedull lives of these fixed assets and
recorded incremental depreciation expense of appairly $0.9 million during the year ended Decenfir2011, as a result of this change
in estimate. The Company expects to record appratein $0.4 million of additional depreciation exgerper quarter through mid-2012. See
Note 13“Commitments and Contingencies” for further diséasf the new lease terms and its impact on thanitial statements.

(c) Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include Regess Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries.iatiér-company accounts and
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

(d) Purchase price adjustments and reclassification

During the first quarter of 2011, the Company reeor adjustments to the purchase price allocatidts @icquisition of Chordiant. As
required by applicable business combination acéogmtiles, these adjustments were applied retrdispde Therefore, other current assets,
long-term other assets, goodwill, accrued expersebdeferred tax assets have been revised ascehiber 31, 2010 to reflect these
adjustments. These revisions did not have any itnrathe Company’s previously reported resultspdrations or cash flows. See Note 9
“Acquisition, Goodwill, and Other Intangible Asséter further discussion of these adjustments.

The Company combined certain captions within thesotidated balance sheet, consolidated stateméonfsecations and
consolidated statements of cash flows to conforthéccurrent period presentation. The combininthe$e captions did not have any impact
on total assets, total liabilities, net income ghpsotal cash provided by operating activitiesatal cash used in investing activities.
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PEGASYSTEMS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Revenue recognition

The Company’s revenue is derived primarily fromtwafe licenses, maintenance fees related to thep@oy’s software licenses, a
professional services. The Company'’s license amanggts, whether involving a perpetual license teria license, generally contain multiple
elements, including professional consulting sewvitaining, and software maintenance services.

Software revenue recognition requires judgmentuifing whether a software arrangement includesipialelements, and if so,
whether vendor-specific objective evidence (“VSO#&f'fair value exists for those elements. The anofiarrangement consideration
allocated to undelivered elements is based on 8@/ of fair value for those elements and recognizethose elements are delivered. Any
remaining portion of the total arrangement fedlzcated to the software license, the first deledeelement. Before we can recognize reve
the following four basic criteria must be met:

. Persuasive evidence of an arrangem—As evidence of the existence of an arrangementsgea contract signed by the custa
for software licenses and maintenance, and a statieofl work for professional services. In the evletcustomer is a reseller the
Company ensures a binding agreement exists betitiearseller and end user of the softw

. Delivery of produc—Software is delivered electronically or shipped digk media

. Fee is fixed or determinab—We assess whether a fee is fixed or determinalileeaoutset of the arrangement. In addition, we
assess whether contract modifications to an egisérm arrangement constitute a concession. Otwand license agreements do
not include a right of retur

. Collection of fee is probable-We assess the probability of collecting from eacst@mer at the outset of the arrangement bas
a number of factors, including the customer’s payniéstory, its current creditworthiness, econongaditions in the customer’s
industry and geographic location, and general ezdnconditions. If in our judgment collection ofee is not probable, revenue
recognized as cash is collected, provided all atbeditions for revenue recognition have been

Software license revenues

Perpetual software license fees are recognizeevanue when the software is delivered, any accepteguired by contract that is
not perfunctory is obtained, no significant obligas or contingencies exist related to the softwaileer than maintenance support, and all
other revenue recognition criteria are met.

Term software license fees are generally payable monthly basis under license agreements thataitpihave a three to five-year
term and may be renewed for additional terms attistomer’s option.

As a result of the Company’s focus on frequentsstdets targeted customers, the Company’s stratetgysell initial term licensing
agreements to those customers with the goal torgenfollow-on sales, and as a result of extendsanent terms, the Company recognizes
term license revenue over the term of the agreeasepayments become due or earlier if prepaid,igeodvall other criteria for revenue
recognition have been met.

Until 2005, the majority of the Company’s term lse arrangements were larger agreements with eedgrayment terms that did
not typically result in follow-on license agreementhe Company has a history of successfully ctiiggpayments under the original
payment terms for these arrangements, therefaee, th
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PEGASYSTEMS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

Company recognized the present value of the fuura license payments upon customer acceptancadpobthat no significant obligations
or contingencies exist related to the softwaregiothan maintenance support, and provided all athitaria for revenue recognition had been
met. A portion of the license fees payable undes¢hagreements (equal to the difference betweenttidicense payments and the
discounted present value of those payments) whalipideferred and recognized as installment neadge interest income (and is not part of
total revenue) over the license term. The Companipnger utilizes this business model for softwlarense transactions. As of December 31,
2011, the remaining balance of these installmestivables totaled approximately $1.3 million.

Subscription revenue primarily consists of licemaajntenance, and bundled services revenue re@mfpiz our license arrangeme
that include a right to unspecified future produethich is recognized ratably over the term ofghbscription period.

Maintenance revenues

First-year maintenance typically is sold with teéated software license and renewed on an annsa theereafter. Maintenance
revenue is deferred and recognized ratably ovetettme of the support period, which is generally gaar and subject to annual renewals.
Perpetual license maintenance obligations are basséparately stated renewal rates in the arramigietinat are substantive and therefore
represent VSOE of fair value. Term license arrargi@minclude separately stated maintenance feethar@ompany uses separate sales to
determine VSOE of fair value.

Professional services revenues

The Companys professional services revenue is comprised afffetraining, consulting services including sadte implementatio
reimbursable expenses, and sales of its Pega @madplatform offering (“Pega Cloud”). Consultirengces may be provided on a “stand-
alone” basis or bundled with a license and softwaaimtenance services.

Revenue from “stand-alone” training services ansadting services under time and materials corgrizatecognized as services are
performed. The Company has VSOE of fair value farteaining services and consulting services umides and materials contracts in North
America and Europe, other than Spain.

Consulting services may be provided on a fixedephiasis. The Company does not have VSOE of fairevir fixed-price services
or time and materials services in certain geogihegions. When these services are part of apteitlement arrangement, and the serv
are not essential to the functionality of the saft®y and when services including maintenance harenly undelivered element, the Company
recognizes the revenue from the total arrangenagalbly over the longer of the software maintengex@d or the service period. Revenue
from fixed-price services that are not bundled veitboftware license is generally recognized ratdbhng the service period, which is
typically less than four months.

Revenue from stand-alone sales of Pega Cloud agnéred ratably over the term of the service. Wingplementation services are
sold together with the Company’s Pega Cloud offgand these services have stand-alone value tugiemer, the Company accounts for
these services separately from its Pega CloudinffeBince these multiple-element arrangementsatrsoftware license sales, the Company
applies a selling price hierarchy. Under the sglfinice hierarchy, third-party evidence of sellprice (“TPE”) will be considered if VSOE
does not exist, and estimated selling price (“ES#HIl)be used if neither VSOE nor TPE is availalfienerally, the Company is not able to
determine TPE as its sales strategy is customizétetneeds of its customers and the Company’suptsednd services are dissimilar to
comparable products or services in the
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PEGASYSTEMS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

marketplace. In determining ESP, the Company apgignificant judgment as it weighs a variety aftéas, based on the facts and
circumstances of the arrangement. The Companyaifpiarrives at an ESP for a service that is ntit separately by considering company-
specific factors such as geographies, competiimddcape, and pricing practices used to estahlistiied pricing and discounting.

Warranties and Indemnification

The Company warrants to its customers that itsxeo#t products will conform to documented specifaa for a limited period. The
Company has not experienced significant claimgedlto software warranties beyond the scope of t@aémce support, which it is already
obligated to provide, and consequently it has stdtdished reserves for warranty obligations.

The Company’s agreements with customers genesdlyire it to indemnify the customer against clatheg the Companyg’ software
infringes third party patent, copyright, trademarlother proprietary rights. Such indemnificatidsligations are generally limited in a variety
of industry-standard respects, including the Comgigarght to replace an infringing product. As oé€mber 31, 2011, the Company had not
experienced any material losses related to theaminification obligations and no material claimgaeveutstanding. See Note 13
“Commitments and Contingencies” for a discussiothefsettlement of claims assumed in the acquisdafdChordiant related to certain
software that was sold by Chordiant.

Deferred revenue

Deferred software license revenue typically resfutisn contractual billings for which all of the teria to recognize revenue have not
been met. Deferred maintenance revenue repressisee license updates and product support castthat are typically billed in advance
and are recognized ratably over the support periddferred professional services revenue represelvisnced billings for consulting and
training services that are recognized as the ses\ace performed.

Allowance for doubtful accounts and allowance for ales credit memos

The Company records allowances for estimates essakdit memos for services rendered. The Compasgs these estimates on
historical analyses of sales credit memos and gsoms about future events and experience withotast disputes. If the Company
experienced actual results that were different thase used in determining the assumptions in tzdlog the allowance, adjustments to the
allowance would be reflected as changes to revenue.

The Company maintains an allowance for doubtfubaots for estimated losses resulting from the iitghif the Company’s
customers to make required payments. The Compasyiimates are based on the composition of the atsoeceivable aging, historical bad
debts, changes in payment patterns, customer watlitiness and current economic trends. If therfoia condition of the Company’s
customers were to deteriorate resulting in theibility to make required payments, additional psavis for doubtful accounts would be
required and would increase bad debt expense.

(b) Fair value of financial instruments

The principal financial instruments held by the @amy consist of cash equivalents, marketable g&sraccounts receivable, and
accounts payable. The carrying value of theseluinmstnts approximates their fair value due to thearsmaturities. See Note 4 “Marketable
Securities” and Note 6 “Fair Value Measurementsfimther discussion of financial instruments thed carried at fair value on a recurring
basis.
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PEGASYSTEMS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

(c) Derivative instruments

The Company uses forward foreign currency contracisanage its exposures to changes in foreigrerayrexchange rates
associated with its foreign currency denominatexbants receivable and cash. The forward foreigrecuy contracts utilized by the
Company are not designated as hedging instrumadtasa result, the Company records the fair vafitleese contracts at the end of each
reporting period in its consolidated balance shsaither current assets for unrealized gains acrdied expenses for unrealized losses, with
any fluctuations in the value of these contractegeized in other income net, in its consolidatatiesnent of operations. The fluctuations in
the value of these forward foreign currency congrpartially offset the gains and losses from thra@asurement or settlement of the foreign
currency denominated accounts receivable and cadibly the U.S. operating company, thus partlygating the volatility. Generally, the
Company enters into forward foreign currency cariravith terms of 60 days or less.

(d) Property and equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Diggieat and amortization are computed using thegitdine method over the
estimated useful lives of the assets, which arsetlgears for equipment and five years for furniamd fixtures. Leasehold improvements are
amortized over the lesser of the term of the lemghe useful life of the asset. Repairs and maartee costs are expensed as incurred.

The Company capitalizes and amortizes certain doests associated with computer software developgairchased for internal
use. The Company amortizes capitalized softwarts ggnerally over three to five years commencinghendate the software is placed into
service. During 2011, the Company did not capitatiny costs for computer software developed farival use. During 2010 and 2009, the
Company capitalized $0.7 million and $0.5 millidhcomputer software costs related to the Compainyfdementation of an accounting
system for internal use.

(e) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the residual purchase pricé jpaa business combination after all identifiededs and liabilities have been
recorded. Goodwill is not amortized, but prior k@ Company’s adoption of the Financial Accountitan8ards Board “FASB” Accounting
Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2011-08ntangibles-Goodwill and Other (Topic 350)” (“ASW21-08"), was tested annually in the fourth
quarter for impairment or between annual testsdfdators of potential impairment exist. The Compadopted ASU 2011-08 in the fourth
quarter of 2011, performed its assessment and wdedlit was not more likely than not that the failue of its single reporting unit was less
than its carrying value. In 2010 and 2009, the Camypcompared the carrying value of the reportinig torits fair value. Had the reporting
unit’s carrying value exceeded its fair value, @@mpany would have recorded an impairment loskdaktent that the carrying value of
goodwill exceeded its implied fair value. The Compgerformed its annual impairment evaluations0fh@and 2009 and determined that
goodwill was not impaired.

(f) Intangible Assets

All of the Company’s intangible assets are amodtiasing the straight-line method over their estedaiseful life. The Company
evaluates its intangible assets for impairment wkienevents or changes in circumstances indicatdtie carrying amount of such assets
may not be recoverable. Impairment is assessediyparing the undiscounted cash flows expected geberated by the intangible asset to
its carrying value. If impairment exists, the Compaalculates the impairment by comparing the ¢agryalue of the intangible asset to its
fair value as determined by discounted expectek flaws. The Company has not recorded any impaitrime2011, 2010, or 2009.
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(g) Research and development and software costs

Research and development costs are expensed adhdDapitalization of computer software develofiedesale begins upon the
establishment of technological feasibility, genlgrdemonstrated by a working model or an operatesion of the computer software
product. Such costs have not been material toatatechnological feasibility is established withighort timeframe from the software’s
general availability and, as a result, no costeewapitalized during 2011, 2010, or 2009.

(h) Stock-Based Compensation

The Company recognizes stock-based compensati@nsgmssociated with equity awards based on theafaie of these awards at
the grant date. Stock-based compensation is repegjmver the requisite service period, which isegelty the vesting period of the equity
award, and is adjusted each period for anticipfagditures. The Company recognizes stock-basedpeosation using the ratable method,
which treats each vesting tranche as if it weradividual grant. See Note 15 “Stock-based Comptmsafor discussion of the Company’s
key assumptions included in determining the falugaf its equity awards at grant date.

(i) Acquisition-related costs

Acquisitiontelated costs are expensed as incurred and indivele and incremental costs associated with areidmg or complete
acquisition. During 2011, the $0.5 million of acsjtibn-related costs were primarily legal fees agged with litigation assumed in our
acquisition of Chordiant Software, Inc. (“ChordignDuring 2010, the $5.9 million of acquisitionlated costs consisted of approximately
$3.1 million of due diligence costs and advisory &gal transaction fees, approximately $0.8 millid valuation and tax consulting fees,
$1.6 million of legal costs associated with theuasad litigation, and $0.4 million of integrationdaather expenses related to Chordiant. See
Note 9"Acquisition, Goodwill and Intangibles” for furtheliscussion of the acquisition.

() Restructuring costs

Restructuring costs include severance and relardft costs for the reduction of personnel duthmgsecond and third quarter of
2010 related to the Chordiant acquisition. Theyp atslude future lease payments and demising costxf estimated sublease income, for
the elimination of space within one facility. Seetdl12 “Accrued Restructuring Costs” for furthetadle

(k) Foreign currency translation

The translation of assets and liabilities for thajamty of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries isdaat period-end exchange rates,
while revenue and expense accounts are translated average exchange rates during the perioddcdions occurred. The resulting
translation adjustments are reflected in accumdlateer comprehensive income. Our India subsidiags the U.S. dollar as its functional
currency, therefore, its monetary assets and iiggsilare remeasured at current rates and its mumetary assets are recorded at historical
exchange rates. Realized and unrealized exchamge gdosses from transactions and remeasurendgrdtments are reflected in foreign
currency transaction (loss) gain, in the accompangonsolidated statements of operations.

() Accounting for Income Taxes

The Company recognizes deferred tax assets arilitigsbdue to temporary differences between thekband tax bases of recorded
assets and liabilities. Future realization of tleempany’s deferred tax assets ultimately
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depends on the existence of sufficient taxablermewithin the available carryback or carryforwamtipds. Sources of taxable income
include future reversals of existing taxable terappdifferences, future taxable income, taxabl®me in prior carryback years, and tax
planning strategies. The Company records a valuatiowance to reduce its deferred tax assets tmasunt it believes is more-likely-than-
not to be realized. Changes in the valuation allmeampacts income tax expense in the period afshahent. The Company’s deferred tax
valuation allowance requires significant judgmemd ancertainties, including assumptions about &itaxable income that are based on
historical and projected information. The Compa@gognizes excess tax benefits when they are rdatizeugh a reduction in income taxes
payable using the with and without stock option ot

The Company assesses its income tax positionsezmodds tax benefits based upon management’s eigalatthe facts,
circumstances, and information available at themépy date. For those tax positions where it igsarikely-than-not that a tax benefit will be
sustained, the Company records the largest amduiax dbenefit with a greater than 50 percent ltketid of being realized upon ultimate
settlement with a taxing authority having full knledge of all relevant information. For those incotave positions where it is not more-likely-
than-not that a tax benefit will be sustained,aolienefit is recognized in the financial stateraefihe Company classifies liabilities for
uncertain tax positions as non-current liabilitiedess the uncertainty is expected to be resohitdnwone year. The Company classifies
interest and penalties on uncertain tax positienaeome tax expense.

As a global company, the Company uses signifiazafgment to calculate and provide for income taresaich of the tax jurisdictions
in which it operates. In the ordinary course of business, there are transactions and calculatiotisrtaken whose ultimate tax outcome
cannot be certain. Some of these uncertainties ass consequence of transfer pricing for traimsectvith the Company’s subsidiaries and
nexus and tax credit estimates. In addition, theutation of acquired tax attributes and the assed limitations are complex. See Note 16
“Income Taxes” for further information.

3. NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

Disclosures About Offsetting Assets and Liabilitida December 2011, the Financial Accounting Starsl&wolard “FASB” issued
Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2011-1Bdlance Sheet (Topic 210): Disclosures About QffgeAssets and Liabilities;
which creates new disclosure requirements regattimgature of an entity’s rights of setoff andatetl arrangements associated with its
financial instruments and derivative instrumentstt@in disclosures of the amounts of certain imsemts subject to enforceable master ne
arrangements or similar agreements would be redjuimespective of whether the entity has electedftset those instruments in the
statement of financial position. This ASU is effeetfor the Company on January 1, 2013 with retectipe application required. The
adoption of this standard will not impact the Comga financial position or results of operationstlais accounting standard only requires
enhanced disclosure.

Testing Goodwill for Impairmentin September 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-08angibles-Goodwill and Other (Topic
350)” (“ASU 2011-08"), which allows an entity to first assess qualitatiactors to determine whether it is necessangettopm the two-step
guantitative goodwill impairment test. Under theesmdments in ASU 2011-08, an entity is not requitedalculate the fair value of a
reporting unit unless the entity determines, based qualitative assessment, that it is more likigdyn not that its fair value is less than its
carrying amount. The Company elected to adopt theigions of this ASU early as allowed by the FASBe adoption of this standard did
not have an impact on the Company’s consolidatehfiial statements.

Presentation of Comprehensive Incomén June 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-05pfmprehensive Income (Topic 220)
" (*ASU 2011-05"), and in December 2011 issued ASbl. 2011-12,
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“ Deferral of the Effective Date for Amendments ®Rinesentation of Reclassification of Items Oukafumulated Other Comprehensive
Income in Accounting Standards Update (Topic (“ASU 2011-12"). These standards (1) eliminatedp&on to present the components of
other comprehensive income as part of the stateofatitanges in stockholders’ equity; (2) require tonsecutive presentation of the
statement of net income and other comprehensivariecand (3) require an entity to present reclesgibn adjustments on the face of the
financial statements from other comprehensive iretomet income. The amendments in these ASUs tichamge the items that must be
reported in other comprehensive income or wheremn of other comprehensive income must be recladgié net income nor do the
amendments affect how earnings per share is céécuta presented. This ASU is required to be apgpk¢rospectively and is effective for
fiscal years and interim periods within those ydmginning after December 15, 2011, which is thenfany’s fiscal year 2012. The adoption
of this standard will not impact the Company’s fingl position or results of operations as thisoacting standard only requires enhanced
disclosure.

Disclosure of Supplementary Pro Forma Informatiomf Business Combinationsin December 2010, the FASB issued ASU
No. 201(-29, “ Disclosure of Supplementary Pro Forma InformationBusiness Combinations (Topic 885)Business
Combinations”(*ASU 2010-29"), to improve consistency in how g forma disclosures are calculated. AdditionaigU 2010-29
enhances the disclosure requirements and requesgsigtion of the nature and amount of any matem@hrecurring pro forma adjustments
directly attributable to a business combinationlUAZ)10-29 is effective for the Company in fiscahy@012 and should be applied
prospectively to business combinations for whiaghdhquisition date is after the effective date. atleption of this standard will not impact
the Company’s financial position or results of @giems as this accounting standard only requirbsmeced disclosure.

4. MARKETABLE SECURITIES

(in thousands) December 31, 2011
Unrealized Unrealized
Amortized
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Marketable securitiet
Municipal bonds $ 27,96¢ 74 2 $ 28,04
Corporate bond 15,05¢ 16 (34 15,04(
Government sponsored enterprise bc 8,001 2 (4) 7,99¢
Marketable securitie $ 51,02 9Z (40 $ 51,07¢
(in thousands) December 31, 2010
Unrealized Unrealized
Amortized
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Marketable securitiet
Government sponsored enterprise bc $ 5,601 1 9 $ 5,59.
Corporate bond 5,46¢ — (49 5,41¢
Commercial pape 2,99¢ — (D 2,99¢
Municipal bonds 2,114 — — 2,11¢
Marketable securitie $ 16,18 : 59 $ 16,12«

The Company considers debt securities with magsritif three months or less when purchased, todkeezguivalents. Interest is recorded
when earned. All of the Company’s investments &ssified as available-f@ale and are carried at fair value with unrealigaiths and losst
recorded as a component of accumulated other cdrapsévre income, net of related income taxes.
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As of December 31, 2011, remaining maturities ofketable debt securities ranged from February 20ovember 2014, with a
weighted-average remaining maturity of approximaifel months.

5. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

Beginning in the second quarter of 2011, the Compeses forward foreign currency contracts to marisgexposure to changes in
foreign currency exchange rates associated wifoiiesgn currency denominated accounts receivatidecash. The U.S. operating company
invoices most of its foreign customers in foreigmrencies, which results in cash and receivabl&sdtehe end of the reporting period
denominated in these foreign currencies. Sinc&Jtle operating company'’s functional currency isth8. dollar, the Company recognizes a
foreign currency transaction gain or (loss) onftreign currency denominated cash and accountsvedie held by the U.S. operating
company in its consolidated statements of operatigmen there are changes in the foreign currenclyaage rates versus the U.S. dollar. The
Company is primarily exposed to changes in theevalithe Euro and British pound relative to the .W@8lar. The forward foreign currency
contracts utilized by the Company are not desighatehedging instruments and as a result, the Caoymeaords the fair value of these
contracts at the end of each reporting periodsicdnsolidated balance sheet as other currensdsseinrealized gains and accrued expenses
for unrealized losses, with any fluctuations in Waéue of these contracts recognized in other iresamet, in its consolidated statement of
operations. However, the fluctuations in the valtithese forward foreign currency contracts pditiaffset the gains and losses from the
remeasurement or settlement of the foreign currelecyyminated accounts receivable and cash heldeby 1S. operating company, thus
partly mitigating the volatility. Generally, the @pany enters into forward foreign currency consaeith terms of 60 days or less.

During 2011, the Company entered into and settdeddrd foreign currency contracts to sell 28.5 imillEuros and 19.5 million
British pounds and to receive $71.4 million. ADEfcember 31, 2011, the Company did not have anyafiat foreign currency contracts
outstanding. During 2011, the change in the faiueaf the Company’s forward foreign currency cants recorded in other income, net, was
a net gain of $0.8 million.

6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is an exit price, representing the arhthet would be received from the sale of an agsphid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participantethas assumptions that market participants wouddmupricing an asset or liability. As a
basis for classifying the fair value measuremeatiyee-tier fair value hierarchy, which classifiles fair value measurements based on the
inputs used in measuring fair value, was estaldigtsefollows: (Level 1) observable inputs suchwisted prices in active markets for ident
assets or liabilities; (Level 2) significant ottedrservable inputs that are observable either djrectindirectly; and (Level 3) significant
unobservable inputs in which there is little ormarket data, which requires the Company to deviddopvn assumptions. This hierarchy
requires the Company to use observable market @bt available, and to minimize the use of unokaade inputs when determining fair
value. On a recurring basis, the Company recosdnirketable securities at fair value.

The Company’s investments classified within Levelf the fair value hierarchy are valued using qdaterket prices. The
Company’s investments classified within Level Ztof fair value hierarchy are valued based on matiting compiled by third party pricing
vendors, using observable market inputs such aseisttrates, yield curves, and credit risk.

56



Table of Contents

PEGASYSTEMS INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

The fair value hierarchy of the Company’s cash egjents and marketable securities at fair valesifollows:

(in thousands)
Money market funds

Marketable securitie:
Municipal bonds
Corporate bond
Government sponsored enterprise bc

Total marketable securitit

(in thousands)
Money market funds

Marketable securitiet
Government sponsored enterprise bc
Corporate bond
Commercial pape
Municipal bonds

Total marketable securiti

Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Nonrecurringi

Fair Value Measurements at

Reporting
Date Using
Quoted Prices Significant
in Active Other
Markets for Observable
Identical Assets Inputs
December 31, 201 (Level 1) (Level 2)
$ 3,06 $ 3,0€ $ =
$ 28,04( $ 6,11( $ 21,93
15,04( 15,04( —
7,99¢ 2,001 5,99¢
$ 51,07¢ $ 23,15 $ 27,92¢
Fair Value Measurements at
Reporting
Date Using
Quoted Prices Significant
in Active Other
Markets for Observable
Identical Assets Inputs
December 31, 201 (Level 1) (Level 2)
$ 14,34 $ 14,34 $ —
$ 5,59¢ $ = $ 5,59:
5,41¢ 5,41¢ —
2,99¢ — 2,99¢
2,114 — 2,114
$ 16,12/ $ 5,41¢ $ 10,70¢

Assets not recorded at fair value on a recurrirgishaguch as property and equipment, and intangisets are recognized at fair value
when they are impaired. During 2011, 2010, and 26@89Company did not recognize any nonrecurrifmgvielue measurements from
impairments. The Company recorded assets acqumektiabilities assumed related to its acquisitibiChordiant at fair value as described in
Note 9"Acquisition, Goodwill, and Other Intangible Asséts
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7. TRADE ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, NET OF ALLOWANCES

Unbilled trade accounts receivable relate to sess/garned under time and material arrangementatenaince and license arrangements
that had not been invoiced as of December 31, 28ti1December 31, 2010, respectively.

December 31, December 31,

(in thousands) 2011 2010
Trade accounts receivable $ 77,12 $ 65,37:
Unbilled accounts receivab 22,09¢ 15,68:

Total accounts receivab 99,21¢ 81,05
Allowance for sales credit mem (895) (1,027%)
Allowance for doubtful accoun (32) (132)

Total allowance (926) (1,159

$ 98,29 $ 79,89

The Company records an allowance for estimatestgfipial sales credit memos when the related reventecorded and reviews
this allowance periodically. The following refle¢tse activity of the allowance for sales credit nosrfor each of three years ended
December 31:

(in thousands) 2011 2010 2009

Balance at beginning of year $ 1,027 $ 54C $ 1,12¢
Provision for credit memc 2,871 3,05( 2,60(
Credit memos issue (3,009 (2,567) (3,18%)

$ 89! $ 1,02 $ 54

8. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

December 31, December 31,

(in thousands) 2011 2010
Leasehold improvements $ 12,77¢ $ 7,24z
Computer equipmet 8,951 8,55(
Furniture and fixture 3,49t 2,73¢
Computer software purchas 3,18¢ 3,07¢
Computer software developed for internal 721 721
Fixed assets in progre 451 62€
29,58: 22,95«
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortize (15,124 (11,944
Property and equipment, r $ 14,45 $ 11,01

Depreciation and amortization expense was apprdri;n&6.1 million, $4.3 million, and $2.8 milliorof the years ended December 31,
2011, 2010, and 2009, respectively.

58



Table of Contents

PEGASYSTEMS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

9. ACQUISITION, GOODWILL, AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSE TS

Chordiant Acquisition

On April 21, 2010, the Company acquired all of tlwtstanding shares of common stock of Chordial#ading provider of customer
relationship management (“CRM”") software and sasiwith a focus on improving customer experienbesugh decision technology. The
aggregate purchase price for Chordiant was appeteim$160.3 million, consisting of $156.8 milliamcash and the issuance of stock
options with a fair value of $3.5 million. The Coany issued approximately 241,000 stock optiongp&cement of outstanding Chordiant
stock options at the acquisition date. The majaftthe fair value of these stock options was réedras purchase price based on the portion
of the awards related to pre-combination servitds. compensation expense associated with the pattithe replacement awards related to
post-combination services totaled $0.2 million arad recognized as compensation expense over tteniem service period. The Company
has expensed all transaction costs, as descrilfédten2 “Significant Accounting Policies.” Thesest®were included in acquisition-related
costs in the accompanying consolidated statemempe@fations. The operations of Chordiant were ietLin the Compang’operating resul
from the date of acquisition.

During the third quarter of 2010, the Company pnélarily determined that it may utilize approximgt#146 million of acquired
Chordiant federal net operating losses (“NOLs”)jchtare subject to annual limitations through 2089 a result of this determination and
other tax related adjustments, the Company updetguirchase price allocation in the third quade2010 and recorded a $31.5 million
increase in net deferred tax assets, a $0.3 millemease in accrued federal income taxes, a decoé&2.4 million in acquired intangible
assets, and a $29.4 million decrease in goodwiltiigy the fourth quarter of 2010, the Company rdedra valuation adjustment on certain
acquired foreign NOLs, preliminarily determinednay utilize a total of $150.8 million of acquireth@diant federal and foreign NOLs, and
recorded additional assumed liabilities. As a rtestithese changes, the Company recorded a $1li@mriiicrease in net deferred tax assets, a
$3.4 million increase to accrued liabilities, an§ida6 million decrease to long-term liabilities, islinresulted in a $1.0 million net increase to
goodwill.

During the first quarter of 2011, the Company reeoradjustments to the purchase price allocatioaftect the Company’s final
determination of other accrued liabilities, acqditax assets and uncertain tax liabilities. Assalteof this determination, the Company
recorded a $1.8 million decrease to other accrabiities, a $0.4 million increase to net defertad assets, and a corresponding $2.2 million
decrease to goodwill. These purchase price adjustweere also reflected retrospectively as of DdmamB1, 2010 in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheet as required by the dastombination accounting rules.
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As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, as a resulteofitial purchase price allocation, the Company dgggroximately $18.1 million of
goodwill, which was primarily due to the expectgdergies of the combined entities and the workfangelace. The goodwill created by the
transaction is nondeductible for tax purposes. wrsary of the final purchase price allocation fax ttquisition of Chordiant was as follows:

(in thousands)
Total purchase consideratic

Cash $ 156,83:

Stock options 3,51¢
Total purchase considerati $ 160,35!
Allocation of the purchase consideratis
Cash $ 47,60:
Accounts receivable, net of allowar 14,23
Other asset 2,65¢
Property and equipme 753
Deferred tax assets, r 26,92°
Identifiable intangible asse 88,04¢
Goodwill 18,06(
Accounts payabl (5,303
Accrued liabilities (12,053
Deferred maintenance rever (17,863
Long-term liabilities (2,713

Net assets acquire $ 160,35

The valuation of the assumed deferred maintena@nue was based on the Company’s contractual comemi to provide postentrac
customer support to Chordiant customers. The flinesof this assumed liability was based on thienaséd cost plus a reasonable margin to
fulfill these service obligations. The majority thie deferred revenue was recognized in the 12 mdotlowing the acquisition.

The valuation of the acquired intangible asseishisrently subjective and relies on significant lis@rvable inputs. The Company use
income approach to value the acquired customeiegtlatangible assets, technology and trade naimevaluation for each of these
intangible assets was based on estimated projsatioexpected cash flows to be generated by thetsasiscounted to the present value at
discount rates commensurate with perceived risk. Viluation assumptions took into considerationGbmpany’s estimates of contract
renewal, technology attrition and revenue growtbjqmtions.

The acquired intangibles are being amortized owgeighted-average period of 8.4 years on a strdigbtbasis. The values for
specifically identifiable intangible assets, by orasset class, are as follows:

Amortization
period
(in thousands) (in years)
Customer related intangible ass $ 44,355 9
Technology 43,446 8
Trade namt 248 1
$ 88,049
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Pro forma Information

The following pro forma financial information prege the combined results of operations of the Campad Chordiant as if the
acquisition had occurred on January 1, 2009 afteng effect to certain pro forma adjustments. Pine forma adjustments reflected herein
include only those adjustments that are directiytaitable to the Chordiant acquisition, factuallsterminable, and expected to have a
continuing impact on the Company. These pro fordjastments include a reduction of historical Chandirevenue for fair value adjustme
related to acquired deferred revenue and eliminaifaleferred costs associated with revenue, amoetase in amortization expense to
eliminate historical amortization of Chordiant inggble assets and to record amortization expensiéa$88 million of acquired identifiable
intangibles, and a decrease in interest incomeraesudt of the cash paid for the acquisition. Theforma financial information for 2010
includes approximately $8.5 million of acquisitioglated costs, including transaction costs incumgthe Company and Chordiant. The pro
forma financial information does not reflect anyustinents for anticipated synergies resulting ftbmacquisition and is not necessarily
indicative of the operating results that would haewaially occurred had the transaction been consatetas of January 1, 2009.

Pro Forma
Year Ended
December 31,
2010 2009
Revenue $ 355,43 $ 323,47
Net (loss) incomi (21,890 5,49(
Net (loss) income per basic shi $ (0.59 $ 0.1¢F
Net (loss) income per diluted sh $ (0.59 $ 0.14

Goodwill and Intangibles

As discussed in Note 18 “Geographic Information Erajor Customers”, the Company operates in oneatjpey segment, business
process solutions. The Company has one reportiitgthe fair value of which is evaluated annuatlydetermine whether goodwill is
impaired.

The following table presents the changes in theysay amount of goodwill:

Recasted
2010
(in thousands) 2011 (1)
Balance as of January 1, $ 20,45 $ 2,39
Gooduwill acquired during the ye — 20,227
Purchase price adjustments to goodwill retrospeltigpplied — (2,167
Balance as of December ¢ $ 20,45 $ 20,45

(1) The purchase price adjustments related to the Girdrdcquisition identified during the first quartd 2011 were retrospectively appl
as of December 31, 201
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Intangible assets are recorded at cost and aretiaetbusing the straight-line method over theimeated useful life, which range from
four to nine years. The technology designs andammpete agreements are being amortized over thiginated useful lives of four and five
years, respectivel

Accumulated

Net Book
(in thousands Cost Amortization Value
As of December 31, 201
Customer related intangibl $ 44,35t $ (8,219 $ 36,14
Technology 43,44¢ (20,269 33,17%
Trade nam 24¢ (24¢) —
Technology design 49C (469 27
Non-compete agreemer 10C (76) 24
Intellectual propert 1,40( (1,400 —
Total $ 90,03¢ $ (20,670 $ 69,36¢
As of December 31, 2010
Customer related intangibl $ 44,35t $ (3,286 $ 41,06¢
Technology 43,44¢ (4,109 39,33¢
Trade nam 24¢ (165) 83
Technology design 49C (340 15C
Non-compete agreemer 10C (56) 44
Intellectual propert 1,40( (1,400 —
Total $ 90,03 $ (9,355 $ 80,68

For the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 arfy] a6trtization expense of acquired intangibles ielected in the Company’s
consolidated statements of operations as follows:

(in thousands) 2011 2010 2009
Amortization expense
Cost of software licens $ 6,28 $ 4231 $ 121
Selling and marketin 4,92¢ 3,28t —
General and administratiy 10z 18t 20
Total amortization expent $ 1131 $ 7,700 $ 141

As of December 31, 2011, future estimated amoitinatxpense is as follows:

Future estimatec

amortization

(in thousands’ expense
2012 $ 11,13}
2013 11,09t
2014 9,48¢
2015 8,68¢
2016 8,68¢
2017 and thereaft 20,27:
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10. ACCRUED EXPENSES

December 31, December 31,
(in thousands) 2011 2010
Other taxes $ 2,75¢ $ 2,971
Restructuring 62€ 3,671
Professional fee 1,14¢ 1,61°F
Income taxe: 1,95¢ 1,201
Professional services partners f 12C 1,49¢
Shor-term deferred rer 1,42¢ 1,27
Selfinsurance health and dental clai 1,931 1,63¢
Dividends payabli 1,132 1,11¢
Employee reimbursable expen: 897 57&
Other 6,34: 9,18(

$ 18,33 $ 24,73

11. DEFERRED REVENUE

December 31, December 31,

(in thousands) 2011 2010
Software license $ 15,00¢ $ 7,617
Maintenance 50,91¢ 43,59¢
Professional services and otl 7,91¢ 5,69:
Current deferred revent 73,84( 56,90:
Software licens: 13,53: 15,83:
Maintenance and professional servi 1,83t 1,91¢
Long-term deferred revent 15,36 17,75:

$ 89,20 $ 74,65

Deferred maintenance revenue includes the fairevafunaintenance obligations assumed in our adopnisdf Chordiant. See Note 9
“Acquisition, Goodwill, and Intangibles” for furth@iscussion of the acquired assets and assunigiitiés from the acquisition.

12. ACCRUED RESTRUCTURING COSTS

During 2010, in connection with the Company’s imt@mn plan of Chordiant, the Company recorded $&ilbon of severance and
related benefit costs for the reduction of appratily 50 personnel in redundant roles. These pastarere primarily in general and
administrative functions and their employment enbigdhe third quarter of 2010. The severance alade® benefit costs will be paid by the
end of the second quarter of 2012.

In connection with the Company’s evaluation ofcitenbined facilities, the Company approved a plaglitoinate space within one
facility. The Company ceased use of this spacendutie fourth quarter of 2010 and recognized $1lkom of restructuring expenses,
representing future lease payments and demisirtg,atet of estimated sublease income for this spaue lease expires at the end of 2013.
During the first quarter of 2011, the Company imedran additional $0.1 million of exit costs rethte the elimination of this space. During
third quarter of 2011, as a result of signing desake for the vacated space, the Company revisedtimate of exit costs and recorded a $0.2
million reduction of expense.
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A summary of the restructuring activity during 20drid 2010 is as follows:

(in thousands) Personnel Facilities Total
Balance as of April 21, 2010 $ — $ — $ —
Restructuring cost 6,50 1,56: 8,06
Cash payment (3,749 (69) (3,819
Other (1) — 62: 625
Balance as of December 31, 2( $ 2,752 $ 2,117 $ 4,86¢
Restructuring cost — (62 (62
Cash payment (2,509) (1,259 (3,769
Balance as of December 31, 2( $ 243 $ 80C $ 1,04:%

(1) Reflects the liability initially recorded foné acquired above market operating lease ternmjatsition, which was subsequently
restructured.

As of
December 31 As of
December 31
(in thousands) 2011 2010
Reported as
Accrued expense $ 62t $ 3,67
Other lon¢-term liabilities 417 1,19¢

$ 104 8 4,86¢

13. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Commitments

On June 29, 2011, the Company entered into a Eraargement for the Company’s new office headqrsimeCambridge,
Massachusetts. The lease arrangement commencedlydn 2011 and terminates on December 31, 2028esuto the Company’s option to
extend for two additional five-year periods. Then@any’s lease for its existing offices in Cambridge, Ma$sisetts is scheduled to expire
May 31, 2013. While the Company will continue tg/ g monthly rent through the remaining term o txisting lease, the Company exp
to recognize lease exit costs for the remainingdgamyments when it ceases use of this space, vhéaipected to occur in the second half of
2012. The new lease arrangement provides the Compistma rent-free period for the remaining ternttod existing lease, for the same
amount of space covered by the existing lease f(thee rental payments due under the new leask®dta8 million. The Company also
leases space for its other offices under non-cabebperating leases that expire at various dateagh 2020.

As of December 31, 2011, the Company’s future mimmrental payments required under operating leaghson-cancelable terms
in excess of one year were as follows:

(in thousands) Operating
For the calendar yea Leases

2012 $ 10,80:

2013 9,87¢

2014 8,69¢

2015 8,36¢

2016 8,38¢

2017 & Thereafte 54,667

$ 100,79:
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Rent expense under operating leases is recognizadtraight-line basis to account for schedulad irecereases and landlord tenant
allowances. In connection with the Company’s Iaséts new office headquarters, the Company hiamdlord tenant allowance totaling
approximately $8.4 million. The excess of expenger aurrent payments is recorded as deferred rehirecluded in accrued expenses and
other long-term liabilities. As of December 31, 20d@leferred rent of approximately $1.4 million wasluded in accrued expenses and
approximately $5.1 million was included in othendpterm liabilities in the accompanying consolidbbalance sheet. Total rent expense
under operating leases was approximately $11.4omjl$8.8 million and $5.3 million for the yearsded December 31, 2011, December 31,
2010 and 2009, respectively.

As of December 31, 2011, the Company did not hayeuaconditional purchase obligations.

Contingencies
Yue vs. Chordiant Software, Inc.

On January 2, 2008, Chordiant and certain of fisefs and one other employee were named in a @mgiled in the United States
District Court for the Northern District of Califoia (the “Court”) by Dongxiao Yue under the captidangxiao Yue (“Plaintiff”)v. Chordian
Software, Inc. et al. Case No. CV 08-0019 (N.D..)Cdlhe complaint alleged that Chordiant’s MarkgtiDirector (“CMD”) software product
infringed copyrights in certain software marketgd\etbula LLC. On May 14, 2010, a jury awarded Biaintiff approximately $1.4 million,
which the Company deposited with the Court in Nolken2010. This judgment was approved by the Cauugust 3, 2010, following the
conclusion of various post-trial motions filed hetparties.

On August 17, 2010, the Plaintiff filed an additbcomplaint with the Court against a number of @ient customers and partners,
alleging that their use of CMD infringed the samgyrights at issue in the complaint filed againsbf@iant. In accordance with the terms of
Chordiant’s contracts with these customers anchpest the Company agreed to indemnify and defeesktbustomers and partners in this
matter. On November 1, 2010, the Company filed amstiwith the Court seeking to dismiss the claimthis complaint.

On April 8, 2011, the Company and the Plaintiffexgt to a settlement and mutual release of all slaigainst Chordiant and its custon
and partners that existed at the date of acquisifibe Company recorded its best estimate, andegulest settlement, of this assumed liab
as part of the purchase price allocation. In AppiL1, the Company paid the settlement amount.

The Company is a party in various other contradiisgutes, litigation and potential claims arisinghe ordinary course of business. The
Company does not believe that the resolution afehmatters will have a material adverse effectofinancial position or results of
operations.

14. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(a) Preferred stock

The Company has authorized 1,000,000 shares ddrpeefstock, which may be issued from time to timene or more series. The Board
of Directors has the authority to issue the shafgseferred stock in one or more series, to estalthe number of shares to be included in
each series, and to fix the designation, poweefgpences and rights of the shares of each sertetha qualifications, limitations or
restrictions thereof, without any further vote otian by the stockholders. The issuance of prefiesteck could decrease the amount of
earnings and assets available for distributionaiddrs of common stock, and may have the effedetdying, deferring or defeating a change
in control of the Company. The Company had notddsany shares of preferred stock through Decembe2@L 1.
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(b) Common stock

The Company has 70,000,000 authorized shares ahoonstock, $0.01 par value per share, of which1¥,(68 shares were issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2011.

Since 2004, the Company’s Board of Directors hgsaped stock repurchase programs that have audibti'e Company to repurchase
in the aggregate up to $86.3 million of its comnstock. Purchases under these programs have beenandbe open market.

The following table is a summary of the Compangpurchase activity under all of the Company’s repase programs for the years
ended December 31:

(Dollars in thousands) 2011 2010 2009

Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount
Prior year authorizations at January 1, $ 13,237 $ 15,77¢ $ 12,86:
Authorizations 5,59( 5,75( 15,00(
Repurchases pa 137,42¢ (4,815)  294,05¢ (8,272) 673,06t (11,94
Repurchases unsettl 1,68¢ (49 53¢ (20 3,89¢ (139
Authorized dollars remaining as of December $ 13,96 $ 13,23 $ 15,77

(c) Dividends

On May 30, 2006, the Company’s Board of Direct@praved an ongoing quarterly cash dividend of $@@&3share, beginning with the
second quarter ended June 30, 2006. AccordingtyCtdmpany declared $0.12 per share, for the yealesdeDecember 31, 2011, 2010 and
2009, and paid cash dividends of $4.5 million, $#ildion, and $4.3 million, for the years ended Bewber 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009,
respectively.

(d) Warrants summary

In August 2009, the Company issued 7,264 shardgs obmmon stock in connection with the exercisevafrants originally issued as p
of the consideration for its acquisition of 1mimd2002. These warrants were exercised by formekitdders of 1mind. As of December 31,
2011, there were outstanding warrants to purcha# 3hares of the Company’s common stock withxancése price of $0.85 per share.
These warrants expire in 2012.

15. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

The majority of the Company'’s stock-based compémsatrrangements vest over either a four or fivarwesting schedule and the
Company'’s stock options have a ten-year term. Tdrmgany recognizes stock-based compensation usingtable method, which treats
each vesting tranche as if it were an individuahgr

The Company periodically grants stock options asdricted stock units (“RSUs”) for a fixed numbéisbares to employees and non-
employee Directors. The exercise price for stodioog is greater than or equal to the fair marledti® of the shares at the grant date. RSUs
deliver to the recipient a right to receive a sfiedinumber of shares of the Company’s common stipadn vesting. Unlike stock options,
there is no cost to the employee at share issudheeCompany values its RSUs at the fair valuégsoé@mmon stock on the grant
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date, which is the closing price of its common kton the grant date, less the present value ofategalividends, as the employee is not
entitled to dividends during the requisite senpegiod. Upon vesting of the RSUs, the Company waltié shares of common stock in an
amount sufficient to cover the minimum statutony wathholding obligations and issues shares of@samon stock for the remaining amount.

Employees may elect to receive 50% of their tairgegntive compensation under the Company’s Corpdratentive Compensation Plan
(the “CICP”) in the form of RSUs instead of cadtelected by an employee, the equity amount is ldgualue on the date of grant to 50% of
his or her target incentive opportunity, basedrenémployees base salary. The number of RSUs granted is detednby dividing 50% of tr
employee’s target incentive opportunity by the fatue of a RSU on the grant date. If electedatard vests 100% on the CICP payout date
of the following year for all participants. Vestirgconditioned upon the performance conditionthefCICP and on continued employmen
threshold funding does not occur, the equity gvéltitbe cancelled. The Company recognizes the aatamt stock-based compensation
expense over the requisite service period beginaimtipe grant date and ending on the vest date.

The Company grants options that allow for the setént of vested stock options on a net share fasissettled stock options”), instead
of settlement with a cash payment (“cash settledksbptions”). With net settled stock options, émployee does not surrender any cash or
shares upon exercise. Rather, the Company withltleédsumber of shares to cover the option exemise and the minimum statutory tax
withholding obligations from the shares that wootderwise be issued upon exercise. The settleniesisted stock options on a net share
basis results in fewer shares issued by the Company

Share-Based Compensation Plans:

(a) 1994 Long-term Incentive Plan

In 1994, the Company adopted a 1994 Long-Term ligeRlan (as amended in 2003, the “1994 Planprtwvide employees, Directors
and consultants with opportunities to purchasekstimough incentive stock options and non-qualifiéack options. In addition to options,
participants under the 1994 Plan were eligiblest®ive stock appreciation rights, restricted stu long-term performance awards. As of
December 31, 2011, options to purchase an aggrefafgproximately 200,000 shares of common stodlewetstanding under the 1994
Plan. The Company does not intend to issue anytiaddi options or make any other awards under #81Plan in the future.

(b) 1996 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan

In 1996, the Company adopted a 1996 Non-EmployeecRir Stock Option Plan (the “Director Plan”), whiprovided for the grant to
non-employee Directors of the Company of optiongurchase shares of its common stock. All shartsoaaed for issue under this plan
have been awarded. Beginning in July 2006, indiegranting fully vested options, the Company gsasttares of its common stock to its non-
employee directors under the 2004 Long-term Ingerf@lan, as described below. As of December 311 2)idtions to purchase an aggregate
of approximately 70,000 shares of common stock wetstanding under the Director Plan.

(c) Amended and Restated 2004 Long-Term IncentianP

In 2004, the Company adopted a 2004 Long-Term ligeRlan (the “2004 Plan”) to provide employeem#mployee Directors and
consultants with opportunities to purchase stootutgh incentive stock options and ngualified stock options. In addition to optiondgédle
participants under the 2004 Plan may be grantezk sto
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purchase rights and other stock-based awardslyr20a1, the Company’s stockholders approved tlgaBgstems Inc. Amended and
Restated 2004 Long-term Incentive Plan (the “Redtab04 Plan™)which provided for an additional 5,000,000 authedizhares available 1
grant under the plan and extended the term ofldretp 2021. Beginning in June 2006, each memb#reoCompany’s Board of Directors
(except the Company’s Chairman and Chief Execuiiffecer) is entitled to receive on an annual basisimber of shares of common stock,
which as of March 2010 was equal to $70,000, divide the fair market value of its common stock loa grant date. As of December 31,
2011, approximately 2,952,000 shares were suljemtitstanding options and stock-based awards uhddrestated 2004 Plan.

(d) 2006 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In 2006, the Company adopted a 2006 Employee Rackhase Plan (the “2006 ESPP”) pursuant to wiierCompany’s employees are
entitled to purchase up to an aggregate of 500658@0es of common stock at a price equal to 85%eofdir market value of the Company’s
common stock on either the commencement date opletion date for offerings under the plan, whichagdess, or such higher price as the
Company'’s Board of Directors may establish frometito time. Until the Company’s Board of Directoet@mines otherwise, the Board has
set the purchase price at 95% of the fair marklketevan the completion date of the offering periad.a result, the 2006 Stock Purchase Plan
is noneompensatory and is tax qualified. Therefore, a@dafember 31, 2011, no compensation expense ratatdthres issued under the
had been recognized. As of December 31, 2011, appately 97,000 shares had been issued thereunder.

Shares reserve

As of December 31, 2011, there were approximatgl§4000 shares remaining for issuance for futqrétg grants under the Compasy’
stock plans, consisting of approximately 5,611,808res under the Restated 2004 Plan and approkm@i® 000 shares under the 2006
ESPP. There were no shares available for futurégyegrants under the 1994 Plan or the Director Plan

Equity grants, assumptions and activity

During 2011, the Company issued approximately S¥Bghares to its employees under the Company’sdi@sed compensation plans
and approximately 8,000 shares to the non-emplome@abers of its Board of Directors.

The following table presents the stock-based comsgu@m expense included in the Company’s cons@ilatatements of operations for
the years ended December 31:

2011 2010 2009
(in thousands)
Stocl-based compensation expen
Cost of service $ 2,73i $ 1,82¢ $ 1,09¢
Operating expenst 6,29 4,92 3,57
Total stocl-based compensation before 9,02¢ 6,74t 4,67:
Income tax benef (2,859 (2,185 (1,68¢)

Stock Options

The Company estimates the fair value of stock ogtigsing a Black-Scholes option valuation model Keuts used to estimate the fair
value of stock options include the exercise pricthe award, the expected term
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of the option, the expected volatility of the Compa common stock over the option’s expected taéhm risk-free interest rate over the
option’s expected term, and the Company’s expeatedial dividend yield. The amount of stock-basedmensation recognized during a
period is based on the value of the awards thatlireately expected to vest. Forfeitures are estitd at the time of grant and revised, if
necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfestdiffer from those estimates. Ultimately, thex@any recognizes the actual expense over
the vesting period only for the shares that velseé Weighted-average grant-date fair value for stptions granted in 2011, 2010, and 2009
was $11.91, $12.22, and $10.15, respectively.

The weighted-average assumptions used in the B3atloles option valuation model are as follows fieryears ended December 31.:

2011 2010 2009
Expected volatility (1) 45% 41% 41%
Expected term in years ( 5.1 5.1 6.1
Risk-free interest rate (¢ 1.1&% 1.65% 2.52%
Expected annual dividend yield ( 0.5¢% 0.71% 0.81%

(1) The expected volatility for each grant is detered based on the average of historical weeklyepchanges of the Company’s common
stock over a period of time which approximatesdkpected option tern

(2) The expected option term for each grant isrdateed based on the historical exercise behaviengbloyees and post-vesting
employment termination behavic

(3) The risk-free interest rate is based on thilyaé zero-coupon U.S. Treasury securities for aguethat is commensurate with the
expected option term at the time of gre

(4) The expected annual dividend yield is basetherweighted-average of the dividend yield assumngtused for options granted during
the applicable period. The expected annual dividethsed on the expected dividend of $0.12 peespar year ($0.03 per share, per
quarter times 4 quarters) divided by the averageksprice.

The Company elected to adopt the alternative tiansmethod (“short cut method”) in calculating ithieistorical pool of windfall tax
benefits in regards to its share-based compensation

The following table summarizes the combined stqufiom activity under the Company’s stock optionngdor the years ended
December 31, 2011:

Weighted-
average Aggregate
Weighted- remaining intrinsic value (in
Shares (in average contractual
thousands) exercise price term (in years) thousands)
Options outstanding as of January 1, 2011 3,00z $ 12.5
Granted 34z 31.1C
Exercisec (669) 9.3:
Forfeited/Cancelle: (149 15.6:
Options outstanding as of December 31, 2 2,53 $ 15.4¢
Vested and expected to vest as of December 31, 2,27¢ $ 14.4¢ 5.1¢ $ 35,51
Exercisable as of December 31, 2! 1,727 $ 10.6¢€ 4.0¢€ $ 32,82¢
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The aggregate intrinsic value of stock options eised (i.e., the difference between the marketgpaicexercise and the price paid by the
employee at exercise) in 2011, 2010, and 2009 @A« $nillion, $23.8 million, and $42.8 million, yeexctively. The aggregate intrinsic value
of stock options outstanding and exercisable d3egember 31, 2011 is based on the difference bettieeclosing price of the Company’s
stock of $29.40 on December 30, 2011 and the eseeqice of the applicable stock options.

As of December 31, 2011, the Company had unrecedriibck-based compensation expense related tmttested portion of stock
options of approximately $3.6 million that is expeetto be recognized as expense over a weightedge@eriod of approximately 2.3 years.

RSUs

The weighted-average grant-date fair value for R@tasted in 2011, 2010, and 2009 was $30.87, $3ara0$27.29, respectively. The
following table summarizes the combined RSU agtifdr periodic grants and the CICP under the Redt8004 Plan for the year ended
December 31, 2011:

Weighted-
Average Aggregate
Shares Grant-Date Intrinsic Value
(in thousands) Fair Value (in thousands)

Nonvested at January 1, 2C 57C $ 26.4f
Granted 36& 30.87
Vested (187 25.87
Forfeited (59 28.21%
Nonvested at December 31, 2C 69( $ 28.8: $ 20,38:
Expected to vest at December 31, 2 49 $ 29.2( $ 14,63

The RSUs associated with periodic grants vest fivelyears with 20% vesting after one year andrémeaining 80% vesting in eqL
quarterly installments over the remaining four gedpproximately 47,000 RSUs granted in conneactigh the 2011 CICP are expected to
vest 100% in March 2012.

The fair value of RSUs vested in 2011, 2010, ar@b20as $6.4 million, $4.5 million, and $3.0 milliorespectively. The aggregate
intrinsic value of RSUs outstanding and expectedesst as of December 31, 2011 is based on thengli@sice of the Company’s stock of
$29.40 on December 30, 2011.

As of December 31, 2011, the Company had approgimn&8.6 million of unrecognized stodlased compensation expense relate
all unvested RSUs that is expected to be recogrizgexkpense over a weighted-average period of gippately 2.4 years.

16. INCOME TAXES

The components of income (loss) before provisianédiit) for income taxes are as follows for thergeended December 31:

(in thousands) 2011 2010 2009

Domestic $ 1,862 $ (13,699 $ 42,518

Foreign 8,95 7,49! 4,90:
Total $ 10,81 $ (6,199 $ 47,41
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The components of the provision (benefit) for ineotaxes are as follows for the years ended DeceBiber

(in thousands) 2011
Current:
Federal $ 11,69¢
State 1,77¢
Foreign 2,50:
Total current provisiol 15,97
Deferred:
Federal (23,979
State (2,204
Foreign 913
Total deferred (benefit) provisic (15,269
Total provision (benefit $ 70t

The effective income tax rate differed from thegiary federal income tax rate due to the following

2011
Statutory federal income tax rate 35.(%
Valuation allowanct 3.C
Transaction cosl —
State income taxes, net of federal benefit andtadits (4.€)
Permanent difference A4
Domestic production activitie (13.6)
Federal research and experimentation crt (5.3
Tax effects of foreign activitie 1.7
Tax-exempt incomq 0.3
Provision to return adjustmer 2.5
Non-deductible compensatic 3.C
Tax exposure resen (19.7)
Other (0.6)
Effective income tax rat 6.1%
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2010 2009
$ (376) $ 10,78
292 1,447
1,357 1,56¢
1,26¢ 13,79(
(4,622) 89¢
2,48¢ 671
562 (157)
(1,574) 1,41°
$ (306) $ 15,20:
2010 2009
35.0% 35.0%
(37.2) 0.5
(10.7) —
7.€ 1.8
(7.8) 0.8
— (1.8)
5. (0.4)
14.1 (1.1)
1. (1.8
1.7 0.1
2.2) —
0.2 (1.7)
E 0.7
4.% 32.%
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Deferred income taxes reflect the tax attributebtan effects of temporary differences betweenctreying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes ane thmounts used for income tax purposes. Significamponents of net deferred tax assets and

liabilities are as follows:

(in thousands) 2011 Recasted 2010 (.
Deferred tax asset
Net operating loss carryforwar $ 62,91¢ $ 63,80¢
Accruals and reserve 14,95 9,10¢
Software revenu 7,02¢ 1,332
Depreciatior 3,63t 2,652
Tax credit carryforward 3,96¢ 4,991
Other 5 67
Total deferred tax asse 92,49 81,95(
Less valuation allowanct (13,05) (12,739
Net deferred tax asse $ 79,44( $ 69,21
Deferred tax liabilities
Software revenu $ — $ (429
Intangibles (26,329 (30,249
Total deferred tax liabilitie (26,329 (30,679
Net deferred income tax $ 53,11 $ 38,53
Reported as
Current deferred tax ass $ 9,82¢ $ 4,77(
Long-term deferred income tax ass 43,28¢ 33,76¢
Total deferred income tax $ 53,11: $ 38,53¢

(1) The purchase price adjustments related to the Girdrdcquisition identified during the first quartd 2011 were retrospectively appl
as of December 31, 2010. See No*Acquisition, Goodwill, and Other Intangible As<” for further discussion of these adjustme

In 2010, the Company recognized approximately $hillon of federal net operating losses (“NOLs")daapproximately $6 million of
foreign NOLs from the Chordiant acquisition. Then@many determined that it may utilize approximatly0.8 million of acquired Chordie
federal and foreign NOLSs after application of apahlile tax limitations impacting the annual useheflOLs. A valuation allowance is
recorded on the deferred tax assets in excesg N@L that is recoverable as a result of thesdditioins. The Company also recorded

approximately $2.5 million of deferred tax asseiated to acquired Chordiant state NOLSs.

As of December 31, 2011, the Company had approgim&t154 million of federal NOLs, of which $125 toh are available for use
subject to annual limitations through 2029, an®$8illion of foreign NOLs that have an unlimitedrigaver period. In 2011, the Company
adjusted in purchase accounting the amount of dafdax asset it had for state NOLs by approxima®él8 million. As of December 31,

2011 the Company has $1.5 million of deferred tssearelated to state NOLs.

The Company records a valuation allowance for defetax assets when it is more-likely-than-not thatCompany will not realize the
entire benefit of the assets. This determinatiguires significant judgment, including assumptiabsut future taxable income that are based
on historical and projected information. The $0i8liom increase in the valuation allowance in 20&lates to a valuation allowance recorded
against certain
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state tax credits generated during the year artdinarapital losses that the Company will not blie &b utilize. The $14.4 million increase in
the valuation allowance during 2010 primarily rethto a $12 million valuation allowance recordediast acquired Chordiant federal and
state NOLs, which the Company determined it will be able to utilize due to various statutory latitins. In addition, the consolidation of
Chordiant’'s operations had a significant impacttmCompany’s consolidated state apportionmenbfactvhich reduced the Company’s
ability to realize state research credits. As altedf this change, the Company recorded a $2.BamiValuation allowance against state
research credits in 2010.

As of December 31, 2011, the Company had avails®lé million of state tax research and experiménat' R&E”) credits and $0.3
million of investment tax credits expiring in thears 2013 through 2026.

Our India subsidiary is a development center iauea designated as a Special Economic Zone (“SBE#U),is entitled to a tax holiday in
India. The tax holiday reduces or eliminates incdaxein that country and expires in 2022. For tharg ended December 31, 2011, 2010, anc
2009, the effect of the income tax holiday waseiuce the overall income tax provision by approetya$0.3 million, $0.4 million, and $0
million, respectively.

Undistributed earnings of the Company’s foreignsidilaries amounted to approximately $31.3 millismdDecember 31, 2011. The
Company has not provided any additional federaitate income taxes or foreign withholding taxestenundistributed earnings as such
earnings have been indefinitely reinvested in th&ress.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending baksof the total amounts of gross unrecognized ¢amefits is as follows:

(in thousands) 2011 2010 2009

Balance as of January 1, $ 20,26¢ $ 4,44; ¢ 6,207
Additions based on tax positions related to theeniryeal 7,231 54 12¢
Additions for tax positions of prior yea 3 16 50
Additions for acquired uncertain tax bene — 16,67( —
Reductions for tax positions of prior yei (2,189 (91€) (1,93%)
Balance as of December : $ 25,31 $ 20,26 $ 4,44

As of December 31, 2011, the Company had approgim&®25.3 million of total unrecognized tax bergfivf which $18.2 million
would decrease the Compas\gffective tax rate if recognized. However, apprately $11.1 million of these unrecognized taxédfén relate
to acquired NOLs and research tax credits, whietsabject to limitations on use. The Company exptett the changes in the unrecognized
benefits within the next twelve months will be ampgmately $0.2 million, which would reduce the Caang'’s effective tax rate if realized.

For the years ended December 31, 2011 and 200€dimpany recognized a reduction of interest expehapproximately $0.4
million and $0.5 million, respectively. For the yeaded December 31, 2010, the Company recogniterkst expense of approximately
$44,000. For the years ended December 31, 201D, 20d 2009, the Company did not recognize anyifgignt penalties. As of
December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company had acepmdximately $0.6 million and $1.4 million, resfieely, for interest and penalties.

The Company files income tax returns in the U.$. iarforeign jurisdictions. Generally, the Compasyo longer subject to U.S.
federal, state, or local, or foreign income taxreiwations by tax authorities for the years befdd®& With few exceptions, the statute of
limitations remains open in all other jurisdictidias the tax years 2008 to the present.
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17. NET EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE

Basic net earnings (loss) per share is computed)ube weighted-average number of common sharssamaling during the period.
Diluted net earnings per share is computed usiagvkighted-average number of common shares ouistaddring the period, plus the
dilutive effect of outstanding options, warrantsl&SUs, using the treasury stock method and theageemarket price of our common stock
during the applicable period. Certain shares rdladesome of our outstanding stock options, was;samd RSUs were excluded from the
computation of diluted earnings per share becahesewere antidilutive in the periods presented,dould be dilutive in the future.

Year Ended December 31,

(in thousands, except per share amounts) 2011 2010 2009
Basic
Net income (loss $ 10,10¢ $ (5,897 $ 32,21:
Weighte-average common shares outstant 37,49 37,03 36,20
Net earnings (loss) per share, bz $ 0.2 $ (0.1¢ $ 0.8¢
Diluted
Net income (loss $ 10,10¢ $ (5,89) $ 32,21.
Weightec-average common shares outstanc 37,49¢ 37,03: 36,20¢
Weightec-average effect of dilutive securitie
Stock options 1,60¢ — 1,29
RSUs 29¢ — 601
Warrants 3 — 7
Effect of assumed exercise of stock options, wasrand RSU: 1,90¢ — 1,90t
Weighte-average common shares outstanding, assuming di 39,40« 37,03: 38,11:
Net earnings (loss) per share, dilu $ 0.2¢ $ 0.16) $ 0.8¢
Outstanding options, warrants and RSUs excludéchpact would be
antidilutive 32 3,77¢ 362

18. GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION AND MAJOR CUSTOMERS

Operating segments are defined as componentseritarprise about which separate financial inforomais available that is
evaluated regularly by the chief operating decisi@aker (“CODM”") in deciding how to allocate resoescand in assessing performance.

The Company develops and licenses its softwardignkiand provides professional services, maintesaend training related to its
software. The Company derives substantially aitoofevenue from the sale and support of one gadigimilar products and services—
software that provides business process solutiottsei enterprise applications market. The Compa@@®M is its Chief Executive Officer.
To assess performance, the Company’s CODM primegiliews financial information on a consolidatedibaTherefore, the Company has
determined it operates in one segment—businesggsamlutions.
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PEGASYSTEMS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

The Company'’s international revenue is from sadesustomers based outside of the U.S. The Compariyedi its operating revenue
from the following geographic areas for the yeardesl December 31:

(Dollars in thousands) 2011 2010 2009

uU.S. $ 216,36 52% $ 200,18 5% $ 174,97 66%

United Kingdom 94,33¢ 23% 59,57 18% 46,41¢ 18%

Europe, othe 64,19\ 15% 42,53( 13% 27,12 10%

Other 41,770 10% 34,318 1% 15,49« 6%
$ 416,67°  10(% $ 33659  10(% $ 264,010  10(%

Long-lived assets related to the Company’s U.S.iat&inational operations as of December 31 weffelksvs:

(Dollars in thousands) 2011 2010

U.S. $ 9,62 67% $ 8,61 78%

India 2,391 16% 2,12C 1%

International, othe 2,44: 17% 274 3%
$ 14,45¢ 100% $ 11,01 _100%

There were no customers accounting for more théf d0the Company’s total revenue in 2011, 2010, 200D or trade receivables, net,
as of December 31, 2010. There was one customeatbhaunted for more than 10% of the Company’sstradeivables, net, as of
December 31, 2011, as listed below. The Compaimya€ial services, healthcare and insurance custoasea group represent a significant
amount of the Company’s revenues and receivableseder, the Company determined this concentratiomadt have a material impact on
its allowances for doubtful accounts and salesicneemos as of December 31, 2011.

(Dollars in thousands) 2011 2010
Trade receivables, net of allowances $98,29: $79,89¢
Customer A 14% —

Marketable securities are another financial insentithat potentially subject the Company to a cotre¢ion of credit risk. See Note 4
“Marketable Securities” and Note 6 “Fair Value Megsnents” for further discussion.

19. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

The Company sponsors a 401(k) defined contribugtinement plan for qualifying employees pursuanwhich the Company mak
discretionary matching profit sharing contributio@®mpany contributions under the plan totaled axiprately $2.5 million in 2011,
approximately $2.0 million in 2010, and $1.6 milli;» 2009. In addition, the Company has definedridoution plans for qualifying
international employees and contributions expensetér those plans totaled approximately $2.1 milllo2011, $1.2 million in 2010, and

approximately $1.0 million in 2009.
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PEGASYSTEMS INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

20. SELECTED QUARTERLY INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Revenue

Gross profit

Income (loss) from operatiol

Income (loss) before provision (benefit) for incotares
Net income (loss

Net earnings (loss) per share, bt

Net earnings (loss) per share, dilu

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Revenue

Gross profit

Income (loss) from operatiol

Income (loss) before provision (benefit) for incotares
Net income (loss

Net earnings (loss) per share, basic and dil

2011
1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter
$ 102,36 $ 103,51 $ 95,50 $ 115,29
62,34« 63,12: 53,69: 72,72
5,564 3,23¢ (2,00€) 3,702
6,69¢ 3,331 (2,457) 3,23¢
4,731 2,275 4,95¢ (1,85%)
$ 0.1 % 0.06 % 012 $ (0.05)
$ 01:  $ 006 % 0.1: (0.05)
2010
1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter
$ 75,08 $ 82,24 $ 90,01 $ 89,25
48,64¢ 50,98¢ 55,02¢ 53,20¢
8,56 (9,140 1,94: (3,945
6,29¢ (11,510 4,20¢ (5,189
3,851 (8,18¢) 3,13¢ (4,699
$ 0.1¢ $  (0.22) $ 0.0¢ $  (0.19
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ITEM 9. Changes In and Disagreements with Accountants on &ounting and Financial Disclosure

None.
ITEM 9A. Controls and Procedures

(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedwwe

Our management, with the participation of our Clirécutive Officer, or CEO, and Chief Financial icéf, or CFO, evaluated the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and prooesi(as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(@@uthe Securities Exchange Act) as of
December 31, 2011. In designing and evaluatingdmalosure controls and procedures, our managereeoginized that any controls and
procedures, no matter how well designed and opkraten provide only reasonable assurance of actyeiieir objectives, and our
management necessarily applied its judgment iruawialg the cost-benefit relationship of possiblatomls and procedures. Based on this
evaluation, our CEO and CFO concluded that oulalsce controls and procedures were effective &egember 31, 2011.

(b) Management’s Report on Internal Control over fancial Reporting.

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting, as such term is
defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) underSeeurities Exchange Act. Under the supervisionwaitit the participation of our
management, including our CEO and CFO, we condwateglaluation of the effectiveness of our intenmaitrol over financial reporting
based on the framework internal Control—Integrated Framewoigsued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrise Treadway
Commission (“COSQO").

Our internal control over financial reporting indks policies and procedures that pertain to theter@nce of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleghsactions and dispositions of assets, provid®nadde assurances that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation ofi¢iahstatements in accordance with U.S. genesaltepted accounting principles, and that
receipts and expenditures are being made in accoedaith authorizations of our management and Borsgcand provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely deteafamauthorized acquisitions, use or dispositioowfassets that could have a material
effect on our financial statements.

Our management assessed the effectiveness oftetmahcontrol over financial reporting as of Deten31, 2011. Based on this
evaluation, our management concluded that we magdaeffective internal control over financial refiog as of December 31, 2011, based
on criteria ininternal Control—Integrated Framework issued by @@SO.

Deloitte & Touche LLP, our independent registerablie accounting firm which also audited our comdated financial statements, has
issued an attestation report on our internal cbwtrer financial reporting, which is included below
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Pgstasns Inc.
Cambridge, Massachusetts

We have audited the internal control over finangglorting of Pegasystems Inc. and subsidiaries“@ompany”) as of
December 31, 2011, based on criteria establishtdemal Control—Integrated Framewoiksued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The Camijsamanagement is responsible for maintainingatiffe internal control over
financial reporting and for its assessment of fifiecéveness of internal control over financial ogfing, included in the accompanying
Management’s Report on Internal Control over FimgrReporting. Our responsibility is to expresso@mion on the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadwdof the Public Company Accounting OversightriBq@nited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &amdbtain reasonable assurance about whetheatigianternal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respe®is: audit included obtaining an understanding térimal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness etasting and evaluating the design and operatifegéfeness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedsre®& considered necessary in the circumstancefeéliéve that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed by, or under the supenvidi the company’s principal
executive and principal financial officers, or pmrs performing similar functions, and effected g tompany’s board of directors,
management, and other personnel to provide realasturance regarding the reliability of financ&dorting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atmare with generally accepted accounting princigdesompany’s internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies andcgdures that (1) pertain to the maintenance ofrdscihat, in reasonable detail, accurately
and fairly reflect the transactions and disposgiofithe assets of the company; (2) provide redsersssurance that transactions are recordec
as necessary to permit preparation of financiaéstants in accordance with generally accepted atcmuprinciples, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made ordg@ordance with authorizations of management anedtdirs of the company; and
(3) provide reasonable assurance regarding preveatitimely detection of unauthorized acquisitiose, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on tteméial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internaltcolover financial reporting, including the possti of collusion or improper
management override of controls, material misstatémdue to error or fraud may not be preventatktected on a timely basis. Also,
projections of any evaluation of the effectivenekthe internal control over financial reportingftdure periods are subject to the risk that the
controls may become inadequate because of chamgesditions, or that the degree of compliance Withpolicies or procedures may
deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all maleespects, effective internal control over fingl reporting as of December 31,
2011, based on the criteria establishebhtarnal Control—Integrated Frameworksued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrike
Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the
consolidated financial statements as of and foy#se ended December 31, 2011 of the Company ancepart dated February 29, 2012
expressed an unqualified opinion on those finarste@tkements.

/sIDELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Boston, Massachuse!
February 29, 201
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(c) Changes in Internal Control over Financial Repting.

There have been no changes in our internal coowrel financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13¢fland 15d-15(f) under the
Securities Exchange Act) during the quarter endeceihber 31, 2011 that have materially affectedrereasonably likely to materially
affect, our internal control over financial repodi

ITEM 9B.  Other Information

None.

PART IlI

ITEM 10.  Directors, Executive Officers, and Corporate Goverance

Except as set forth below, the information requipgadhis Item is contained in our proxy statememtdur 2012 annual stockholders
meeting (the “2012 proxy statement”) under the legatElection of Directors,” and is incorporatedréim by reference. Information relating
to certain filings on Forms 3, 4, and 5 is contdimeour 2012 proxy statement under the headingti®e 16(a) Beneficial Ownership
Reporting Compliance,” and is incorporated hergimeference. Information required by this item manst to Items 407 (c) (3), 407(d) (4),
and 407(d) (5) of Regulation S-K relating to aniaadmmittee financial expert, the identificatiohtbe audit committee of our Board of
Directors and procedures of security holders tomanend nominees to our Board of Directors is coetdin the 2012 proxy statement under
the heading “Corporate Governance” and is incotedraerein by reference.

We have adopted a written code of conduct thati@eppd our Board of Directors and all of our em@ey, including our principal
executive officer, principal financial officer, pdipal accounting officer, or persons performimitar functions. A copy of our code of
conduct can be found on our website, www.pega.c@e intend to satisfy the disclosure requirementer Item 5.05 of Form 8-K and
under the applicable the NASDAQ Global Select Markiées by posting such information on our webgitaccordance with such
requirements.

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS
The names of our executive officers and certaiormftion about them are set forth below as of Fatyrd, 2012:

Alan Trefler,age 55, a founder of Pegasystems, serves as Ctaetifive Officer and Chairman and has been a Diresihce we
organized in 1983. Prior to 1983, he managed areldc funds transfer product for TMI Systems Gugtion, a software and services
company. Mr. Trefler holds a B.A. degree in Econmsrand Computer Science from Dartmouth College.

Craig Dynes age 56, joined Pegasystems in September 2006iatFnancial Officer and Senior Vice President. Mynes also served
as the Company’s principal accounting officer frllmvember 2007 until May 2008. From 2004 to 2006, BPiynes served as Chief Financial
Officer at Demandware, a venture-backed entergo$tvare firm. From 2003 to 2004, Mr. Dynes serasdPresident and CEO of Narad
Networks, a manufacturer of equipment for the céddievision industry. From 1997 to 2002, Mr. Dyisesved as Chief Financial Officer
SilverStream Software, Inc., an application develept software company. Prior to SilverStream, Myn€&s held senior financial positions at
Sybase Inc. and Powersoft Corp. Mr. Dynes is awgrtedof the Richard Ivey School of Business Adntiaton, the University of Western
Ontario and is a Canadian Chartered Accountant.
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Efstathios Kouninis age 50 joined Pegasystems in April 2008 as Vice PresidéRinance. In May 2008, the Board of Directors
appointed Mr. Kouninis as the Company’s Chief Aatting Officer. From February 2006 to April 2008, Nkouninis served as Chief
Financial Officer and Treasurer of Tasker Prod@isporation, a publicly traded manufacturer of mitrobial chemicals. From November
2004 to February 2006, Mr. Kouninis served on ttedf ®f the Division of Corporation Finance of tbe S. Securities and Exchange
Commission. Mr. Kouninis holds a Post Baccalaurgatsccounting, a M.S. in taxation from Bentley &gle, and a B.S. from the University
of Massachusetts.

Douglas Kra,age 49 joined Pegasystems in November 2004 as Vice Prasidéslobal Services. From 2002 to 2004, Mr. Keaved as
Vice President at eLoyalty Corp., a consulting campspecializing in customer relationship managénigom 2000 to 2001, Mr. Kra serv
as President of Zefer Corp., an internet consufiing. Prior to Zefer, Mr. Kra spent ten years anibridge Technology Partners Inc. in a
variety of senior roles. He holds a B.A. in Comp&eience from Brandeis University and an M.B.Afimance from the New York
University Stern School of Business.

Michael Pyle, age 57, joined Pegasystems in 1985 and has served as S&o@President of Product Development since Auge80.
Including his positions with Pegasystems, Mr. Pyjarofessional background encompasses almost tiaess of software development and
managerial experience throughout Europe and theNdk.SPyle completed his B.C.S. specializing in Quiter Science and Systems
Programming at the Civil Service College in London.

Leon Treflerage 51, joined Pegasystems in April 1998 as an émicBxecutive for Strategic Business DevelopmeinicéSthen he has
held various senior sales management positionsathe Company and in Channel Sales. In 2002 umeleed the commercialization of
PRPC. From April 2007 to January 2010, Mr. Treflerved as Vice President of Sales, North Americhimdanuary 2010, Mr. Trefler was
promoted to Senior Vice President of Sales. Mrfl@rénolds a B.A. degree from Dartmouth College.

Alan Trefler and Leon Trefler are brothers. Theer@o other family relationships among any of owgaaitive officers or Directors.

ITEM 11.  Executive Compensatior

The information required by this item is contairedhe 2012 proxy statement under the headingsetthar Compensation”,
“Compensation Discussion and Analysis”, and “Exaeu€ompensation” and is incorporated herein bgnegice.
ITEM 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Ovners and Management and Related Stockholder Matter

Information required by this item with respect tock ownership of certain beneficial owners and aggment is contained in the 2012
proxy statement under the heading “Security OwniprshCertain Beneficial Owners and Management” enidcorporated herein by
reference.
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Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table provides certain informationtlvrespect to our equity compensation plans incetis of December 31, 2011:

(In thousands, except per share

amounts) (2) B () O

Number of shares o

V\gf/igggeg' Common stock
Number of shares of exercise Remaining available
common stock to be price per share o
issued upon exercise For future issuance
of outstanding outstanding (excluding those in
stock options and vesting of RSUs ( stock options (4) Column (a)) (5)
Equity compensation plans
approved by stockholders ( 3,14¢ $ 15.1: 6,014
Equity compensation plans not
approved by stockholders ( 77 $ 26.1z —

1)

(@)

Our equity compensation plans include the Aneehaind Restated 1994 Long-Term Incentive Plan“{t®84 Plan”), the 1996 Non-
Employee Director Stock Option Plan (the “Dired®an”), the Amended and Restated 2004 Long-Terreritiee Plan (the “Restated
2004 Plan™), the 2006 Employee Stock Purchase (han‘2006 ESPP”). Our stockholders previously appd each of these plans and
all amendments that were subject to stockholderayaih In addition to the issuance of stock optigche 1994 Plan allowed for the
issuance of stock appreciation rights, restrictedks and long-term performance awards. The Compaeg not intend to issue any
additional options or make any other awards unae1894 Plan or the Director Plan in the futureaddition to the issuance of stock
options, the Restated 2004 Plan allows for theaisse of stock purchase rights and other stock-baseadds, including RSUs. See Note
15 “Stock-Based Compensation” included in the ntdgbe accompanying audited consolidated finarstatements for further
information and description of our equity compeisaplans.

These stock options were assumed in connegtithnour acquisition of Chordiant and were origlgaranted under the Chordiant
Software, Inc. 2005 Equity Incentive Plan (the “@0®an”), the Chordiant Software, Inc. 2000 Nongtaty Equity Incentive Plan (the
“2000 Plan”), the Chordiant Software, Inc. Amended Restated 1999 Non-Employee Director Stock @eian (the “1999 Director
Plan™), and the Prime Response Group, Inc. 1998kSbptions/Stock Issuance Plan (the “1998 PrimepBese Plan”) (collectively, the
“Chordiant Plans”). No additional awards were owyrba granted under the Chordiant Plans followirggdhate of acquisition. These
plans were not approved by our stockholders sineg were adopted at the date of acquisition. Imeotion with our acquisition of
Chordiant, all outstanding equity awards issueckutige Chordiant Plans with an exercise price 0d&®r lower were assumed by us
and converted into the right to receive 0.13 shafé®egasystems common stock for every one shatdafdiant common stock
covered by such awards. All other outstanding gcpitards issued under the Chordiant Plans werestiadc

The 2005 Plan was approved by Chordiant’s stoclkdreldnd provided for the grant of incentive stoplians, nonstatutory stock
options, stock purchase awards, RSAs, RSUs and fattms of equity compensation. Awards granted urige 2005 Plan generally
expire four to ten years after the grant date arteplly become exercisable over a period of twiodio years, with either yearly or
monthly vesting. The 2000 Plan provided for thentjif nonstatutory stock options, restricted stanll stock bonuses to employees.
Generally, awards under the 2000 Plan vest overiaghof four years in equal monthly installmenigw25% of the shares vesting after
one year, and the remainder vesting in equal mypirtstallments over the remaining three years. I9@9 Director Plan provided
directors to be issued a single grant at each yeamnual meeting of the stockholders equal to abeurof shares of restricted stock ec
to $100,000 divided by the fair market value of &liant's common stock on the date of the annualtimgeThese shares of restricted
stock generally vest on the earlier of the nextr@lamt annual meeting or twelve months from theddtgrant. The 1998 Prime
Response Plan provided for the grant of stock aptioommon stock and stock bonuses to employeasemployee directors, and
consultants or other independent advisors who geal/service to Prime Response. Awards granted uhiggplan had a maximum
expiration of ten years.
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(3) The number of shares of common stock issued epercise of vested stock options and vestingSi®will be less than 3,222,000
because of the “net settlement” feature of moshes$e stock options and RSUs. This feature endéidesmployee to satisfy the cost to
exercise (in the case of stock options) and, ifiagple, taxes due (in the case of stock optiorsR8Us) by surrendering shares to the
Company based on the fair value of the shareseatxtbrcise date (in the case of stock optionsgsting date (in the case of RSUs),
instead of selling all of the shares on the operketao satisfy these obligations. The settleménested stock options and vested R:
on a net share basis will result in fewer sharasead by the Company. During 2011, stock optionR8U holders net settled stock
options and RSUs representing the right to purchaséal of 704,000 shares, of which only 426,0@denssued to the stock option and
RSU holders and the balance of the shares wererslered to the Company to pay for the exercise @z the applicable taxe

(4) The weighted-average exercise price does Retitdo account the shares issuable upon vestiogtstanding RSUs, which have no
exercise price

(5) Includes approximately 403,000 shares remainingahla for issuance as of December 31, 2011 uriteeR006 ESPF
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ITEM 13.  Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, an®irector Independence

The information required by this item is containedhe 2012 proxy statement under the headingsté@eRelationships and Related
Transactions” and “Determination of Independencaet & incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 14.  Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this item is contairiedhe 2012 proxy statement under the heading fJrddent Registered Public
Accounting Firm Fees and Services” and is incorygal&erein by reference.

PART IV

ITEM 15.  Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedule
(a) The following are filed as part of this AnndRgport on Form 10-K:
(1) Financial Statements

The following consolidated financial statementsiastuded in Item 8:

Page
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,&0d 201( 44
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the yeaded December 31, 2011, 2010, and 2 45
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity @adhprehensive Income (Loss) for the years endexmber 31, 2011, 2010,
and 200¢ 46
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the yeaaled December 31, 2011, 2010, and = 47
(b) Exhibits

The exhibits listed in the Exhibit Index immedigtereceding such exhibits are filed as part of &nsual Report on Form 10-K.
(c) Financial Statement Schedules

All financial statement schedules are omitted bseahe required information is not present or mesent in sufficient amounts to require
submission of the schedule or because the infoomddireflected in the consolidated financial stegats or notes thereto.
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d)f the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regiaht has duly caused this
Annual Report on Form 10-K to be signed on its beH&by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

PEGASYSTEMS INC

B /s/ CRAIG DYNES
Y:

Craig Dynes
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial officer)
(duly authorized officer)

Date: February 29, 2012

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Examge Act of 1934, this Annual Report on Form 10-K &s been signed below on
February 29, 2012 by the following persons on beHabf the Registrant and in the capacities indicated

Signature Title.
/s/ ALAN TREFLER Chief Executive Officer and Chairman
Alan Trefler (principal executive officer
/s/ CRAIG DYNES Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
Craig Dynes (principal financial officer’
/s/ EFSTATHIOS KOUNINIS Vice President of Finance and Chief Accounting €fi
Efstathios Kouninis (principal accounting officel
/s/ RICHARD JONES ] . .
Richard Jones Vice Chairman and Directc
/s/ PETER GYENES .
Peter Gyenes Director
/s/ STEVEN KAPLAN _
Steven Kaplan Director
/sl JAMES O’'HALLORAN _
James O’Halloran Director
/s/ WILLIAM WYMAN _
William Wyman Director
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Exhibit No.

2.1

3.3

3.4

4.1

10.1++

10.2++

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7++

10.8++

10.9++

10.10

10.11++

10.12

10.13++

EXHIBIT INDEX

Description

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of Marct2@40, by and among Pegasystems Inc., Maple Leaigition Corp.
and Chordiant Software, Inc. (Filed as Exhibit @ 1he Registrant’s March 15, 2010 Form 8-K anaiporated herein by
reference.

Restated Articles of Organization, of the Regidtréifiled as exhibit 99.2 to the Registrant’s JAn2005 Form 8-K and
incorporated herein by referenc

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Pegasystems Ided(& Exhibit 99.3 to the Registrant’s April 1080Form 8-K and
incorporated herein by referenc

Specimen Certificate Representing the Common Stédled as exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s RegtsraStatement on
Form ¢-1 (Registration No. 3:-03807) or an amendment thereto and incorporatesirhby reference.

Amended and Restated 1994 Long-Term Incentive Pialed in the Registrant’s Proxy Statement for2®3 annual
stockholders meeting and incorporated herein greetce.

1996 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan. (@ile the Registrant’s Proxy Statement for its 2@8@ual stockholders
meeting and incorporated herein by referen

Lease Agreement dated February 26, 1993 betwedRdbistrant and Riverside Office Park Joint Vent(ifded as exhibit
10.13 to the Registrant’s Registration Statemerftanmn S-1 (Registration No. 333-03807) or an amesrdrthereto and
incorporated herein by referenc

Amendment Number 1 to Lease Agreement dated August994 between the Registrant and Riverside ©ffiark Joint
Venture. (Filed as exhibit 10.14 to the RegistmRegistration Statement on Form S-1 (Registrdtion333-03807) or an
amendment thereto and incorporated herein by ne¢er}

Amendment Number 8 to Lease Agreement dated Jyl2@12 between the Registrant and NOP Riverfror@ L{Filed as
exhibit 10.23 to the Registré s 2002 Form 1-K and incorporated herein by referenc

Letter Amendment to Lease Agreement dated JulB302 between the Registrant and NOP Riverfront L(E@ed as
exhibit 10.24 to the Registré s 2002 Form 1-K and incorporated herein by referenc

Amended and Restated 2004 Long-Term Incentive leiated May 18, 2011 (Filed as Appendix A within Begistrant’s
2011 Proxy Statement, filed May 23, 2011 and inocafed herein by referenc:

Form of Employee Stock Option Agreement, as amendedecember 15, 2009. (Filed as Exhibit 10.8 téoRfegistrant’s
2009 Form 1-K and incorporated herein by referenc

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement, as amermeBecember 15, 2009. (Filed as Exhibit 10.9 toRegistrant’s 2009
Form 1(-K and incorporated herein by referenc

Form of Non-Employee Director Stock Option Agreeméhiled as exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Sepier 30, 2004
Form 1(-Q and incorporated herein by referen:

Offer Letter between the Registrant and Dougl&gd. dated October 19, 2004. (Filed as Exhibit 1a®the Registrant’s
2004 Form 1-K and incorporated herein by referenc

Form of Director Indemnification Agreement. (Filad Exhibit 99.1 to the Registrant’s April 11, 208&rm 8-K and
incorporated herein by referenc

2006 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amendedoondrg 14, 2008. (Filed as exhibit 10.15 to the iRegnt's 2007 Forn
1C-K and incorporated herein by referenc
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Exhibit No.

10.14++

10.15++

10.16

10.17++

10.18

10.19++

10.20++

10.21++

10.22++

10.23

10.24++

10.25++

10.26

10.27

10.28++

EXHIBIT INDEX—(CONTINUED)

Description

Compensation program for members of the Regissd@dard of Directors, effective May 30, 2006. (Dlethin Registrant’s
June 5, 2006 Form-K and incorporated herein by referenc

Offer Letter between the Registrant and Craig An®&ydated September 7, 2006. (Filed as Exhibit@dtle Registrant’s
September 7, 2006 Forn-K and incorporated herein by referenc

Amendment Number 10 to Lease Agreement dated Jyl2@6 between the Registrant and NOP Riverfrau@.L(Filed as
exhibit 10.1 to the Registre’s September 30, 2006 Form-Q and incorporated herein by referen:

Amendment to Stock Option Agreement between thaédiagt and Richard H. Jones dated December 2%.2B0ed as
Exhibit 99.1 to the Registre’s January 4, 2007 Forn-K and incorporated herein by referenc

Amendment Number 11 to Lease Agreement dated Asnaf 11, 2008 between the Registrant and NOP RiverfLC.
(Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registr's June 30, 2008 Form -Q and incorporated herein by referen:

Director Indemnification Agreement dated as of Ma8¢ 2009 by and between Pegasystems Inc. and Ggdaes. (Filed as
Exhibit 99.1 to the Registre’s March 11, 2009 Forrr-K and incorporated herein by referenc

Director Indemnification Agreement dated as of Me26, 2009 by and between Pegasystems Inc. and Coaiway. (Filed
as Exhibit 99.1 to the Registr’s April 1, 2009 Form -K and incorporated herein by referenc

2010 Section 16 Officer/FLT Member Corporate InsesnCompensation Plan. (Filed as Exhibit 99.1 ®Registrant’s
February 17, 2010 Forn-K and incorporated herein by referenc

2010 Section Executive Officers Base Salaries aardét Bonus Payments. (Filed as Exhibit 99.2 tdRbegistrant’s
February 17, 2010 Forn-K and incorporated herein by referenc

Form of Tender and Voting Agreement by and amorgpBgstems Inc., Maple Leaf Acquisition Corp. argitidividuals
listed on the signatures pages thereto, dated slsuath 14, 2010 (Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Regi#t’'s March 15, 2010
Form ¢-K and incorporated herein by referenc

2011 Section 16 Officer/FLT Member Corporate InsesnCompensation Plan. (Filed as Exhibit 99.1 ®Registrant’s
March 2, 2011 Form-K and incorporated herein by referenc

2011 Section Executive Officers Base Salaries aardét Bonus Payments. (Filed as Exhibit 99.2 tdRbegistrant’s
March 2, 2011 Form-K and incorporated herein by referenc

Lease Agreement, dated June 29, 2011 between GliRatk One, LLC and Pegasystems Inc. for premis@s@ Charles
Park (Filed as Exhibit 99.1 to the Regist’s Form -K/A filed on July 6, 2011 and incorporated hereynréference.

Lease Agreement, dated June 29, 2011 between GliRatk Two, LLC and Pegasystems Inc. for premis€na Rogers
Street. (Filed as Exhibit 99.1 to the Regist’'s Form K/A filed on July 6, 2011 and incorporated herejnréference.

2012 Section 16 Officer/FLT Member Corporate InesnCompensation Plan. (Filed as Exhibit 99.1 ®Registrant’s
February 22, 2012 Forn-K and incorporated herein by referenc
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Exhibit No. Description

10.29++ 2012 Section Executive Officers Base Salaries aardgéit Bonus Payments. (Filed as Exhibit 99.2 tdRbgistrant’s
February 22, 2012 Forn-K and incorporated herein by referenc

+21.1 Subsidiaries of the Registra

+23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accourking—Deloitte & Touche LLP

+31.1 Certification pursuant to Exchange Act Rules-14 and 15-14 of the Chief Executive Office

+31.2 Certification pursuant to Exchange Act Rules-14 and 15-14 of the Chief Financial Office

+32 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 135thef Chief Executive Officer and the Chief FinahC#ficer.

101.INS** XBRL Instance documen

101.SCH** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docume

101.CAL** XBRL Taxonomy Calculation Linkbase Docume

101.DEF** XBRL Taxonomy Definition Linkbase Documel

101.LAB** XBRL Taxonomy Label Linkbase Docume

101.PRE** XBRL Taxonomy Presentation Linkbase Docum:

++ Management contracts and compensatory plan orgemaents required to be filed pursuant to Item 16{lForm 1(-K.
+  Filed herewitt

**  Submitted electronically herewi

Attached as Exhibit 101 to this report are thedielhg formatted in XBRL (Extensible Business RepaytLanguage): (i) Consolidated
Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2011 and Dec&hp2®10, (ii) Consolidated Statements of Openatior the years ended
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, (iii) Consolidi&mtements of Cash Flows for the year ended Dieeefil, 2011, 2010 and 2009,
and (iv) Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Pursuant to Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, the XBRlated information in Exhibit 101 to this Annualget on Form 10-K is deemed
not filed or part of a registration statement argmectus for purposes of Sections 11 or 12 of doei$ies Act of 1933 or Section 18 of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and otherwisenat subject to liability.

87



Exhibit 21.1

SUBSIDIARIES OF PEGASYSTEMS INC.

Name of Subsidiar State or Jurisdiction of Entity
Chordiant Software Europe Limite United Kingdom
Chordiant Software International E Netherland:

Chordiant Software International Limitt

United Kingdom

Pegasystems Al Switzerland
Pegasystems Bermuda Limit Bermuda
Pegasystems B Netherland
Pegasystems Canada | Canade
Pegasystems France, S.A.R France
Pegasystems Gmb Germany
Pegasystems Investment | Massachuseti
Pegasystems Japan K. Japar

Pegasystems Limite

United Kingdom

Pegasystems Mauritit Mauritius
Pegasystems Private Limit Singapore
Pegasystems Proprietary Limit Australia
Pegasystems Rus LL Russia
Pegasystems Software (Beijing) Co., Limi China
Pegasystems Sp. Zi Poland
Pegasystems Spain, S Spain
Pegasystems Worldwide Ir Massachuseti
Pegasystems Worldwide India Private Limi India



Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference iniRegjion Statement Nos. 333-09305, 333-53746, 88337, 333-104788, 33B16660
333-135596, 333-166287, 333-166544 and 333-17681oom S-8 of our reports dated February 29, 2@i#ting to the financial statements
of Pegasystems Inc. and the effectiveness of Pefgasyg Inc.’s internal control over financial refioyt appearing in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K of Pegasystems Inc. for the year endezkBéer 31, 2011.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
February 29, 2012



Exhibit 31.1
I, Alan Trefler, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Pegasystems Inc

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does notatominy untrue statement of a material fact or donftate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the
period covered by this repo

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13e&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and ha

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoresiused such disclosure controls and procedoes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtbsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrite period in which this report is being prepa

b) designed such internal control over financigloming, or caused such internal control over fiahreporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramgzgdeng the reliability of financial reporting attie preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentiisineport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyédport based on such
evaluation; an

d) disclosed in this report any change in the tegig's internal control over financial reportirftat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tfas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer antdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of registrant’s board of directors p@rsons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weadses in the design or operation of internal comver financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regidf’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpanhcial information; an

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelmeanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: February 29, 2012

/ s/ ALAN TREFLER
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)




Exhibit 31.2
I, Craig Dynes, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Pegasystems Inc

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does notatominy untrue statement of a material fact or donftate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the
period covered by this repo

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13e&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and ha

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoresiused such disclosure controls and procedoes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtbsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrite period in which this report is being prepa

b) designed such internal control over financigloming, or caused such internal control over fiahreporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramgzgdeng the reliability of financial reporting attie preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentiisineport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyédport based on such
evaluation; an

d) disclosed in this report any change in the tegig's internal control over financial reportirftat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tfas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer antdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of registrant’s board of directors p@rsons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weadses in the design or operation of internal comver financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regidf’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpanhcial information; an

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelmeanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: February 29, 2012

/ s/ CRAIG DYNES
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officel
(principal financial officer)




Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Pegasystéms(the Company) on Form 10-K for the year enDedember 31, 2011 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ord#te hereof (the “Report”), Alan Trefler, Chairmemd Chief Executive Officer of
Pegasystems Inc., and Craig Dynes, Chief Fina@ffader and Senior Vice President of Pegasysteros &ach certifies, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Seefi6rof the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc

(2) The information contained in the Report faplgsents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition and results of operations of
the Company

/ s/ ALAN TREFLER
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)

Dated: February 29, 2012

/ s/ CRAIG DYNES
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officel
(principal financial officer)

Dated: February 29, 20:



